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Selected extracts from the TELUS Corporate Security Policy (Version 3.4) 
 

7.1.3.2 Where feasible all classified information must be clearly marked TELUS RESTRICTED or TELUS 
CONFIDENTIAL. Where there is any doubt as to the appropriate handling or dissemination of information which does 
not bear a security classification, the originator (information owner) of the information must be consulted. The 
originating department or the information owner is responsible to assign a classification to the information produced. 
Lack of a security classification does not mean that the information is not TELUS RESTRICTED or TELUS 
CONFIDENTIAL. 
 

7.1.3.3 The distribution of information that carries a classification should be restricted by the information owner, and 
adhered to by personnel. An example is if a document is not to be distributed to other employees by electronic means 
(such as e-mail) or photocopy, this should be identified. Where uncertainty exists, consult with the information owner. 
 

7.1.3.4 Information that is marked TELUS RESTRICTED or TELUS CONFIDENTIAL must be kept out of view when not 
being worked on, and, all times when the desk is left unattended, such as coffee breaks and lunch. This can be 
accomplished on workstations by using screen savers with password protection. If the information is in hardcopy 
format, it must be locked in a desk or cabinet. 
 

7.1.3.5 At the end of working hours, all classified information must be locked away in a desk, filing cabinet or safe. A 
clean desk policy should be used for all information whether classified or not.  
 

7.1.4.2 Information that is classified TELUS RESTRICTED or TELUS CONFIDENTIAL must be shredded or disposed of 
in an equivalent method. It is not to be put into the garbage or recycle bin. 
 



Report of Independent Registered Public 

Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of

TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of TELUS International 

(Cda) Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, the related consolidated 

statements of income and other comprehensive income, changes in owners’ equity, and cash flows, for the 

year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our 

opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

Company as of December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then

ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting 

firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are 

required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities 

laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were 

we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we 

are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such 

procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 

statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Licensed Public Accountants

February 21, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.

Deloitte LLP

Bay Adelaide East

8 Adelaide Street West

Suite 200

Toronto ON  M5H 0A9

Canada

Tel: 416-601-6150

Fax: 416-601-6151

www.deloitte.ca
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
 
  

Years ended December 31 (millions)       Note     2019  2018 

OPERATING REVENUES          
Revenues arising from contracts with customers – service       $ 1,019.6   $ 834.6  
Other operating income     15   14.6    12.6  

       1,034.2    847.2  

OPERATING EXPENSES          
Goods and services purchased        182.9    174.9  
Employee benefits expense       5   630.4    522.5  
Depreciation       12   73.1    31.3  
Amortization of intangible assets     13   19.1    18.2  

        905.5    746.9  

OPERATING INCOME        128.7    100.3  
Interest expense       6   36.3    23.2  
Foreign exchange      6     (2.6)   8.1  

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES        95.0    69.0  
Income taxes       7   26.0    21.9  

NET INCOME        69.0    47.1  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       8     

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to income          

Change in unrealized fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  4(h)  0.1    (0.7) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment arising from translating financial statements 

of foreign operations      (3.3)   (9.9) 

       (3.2)   (10.6) 

Item never subsequently reclassified to income          
Employee defined benefit plan re-measurements       (2.7)   0.5  

       (5.9)   (10.1) 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       $ 63.1   $ 37.0  
          
NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE      17(b)     
Basic        $  1.64   $  1.12  
Diluted       $  1.63   $  1.12  
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As at December 31 (millions)  Note   2019  2018 

ASSETS      

Current assets      

Cash and temporary investments, net   $ 79.5  $ 65.6  
Accounts receivable   20(b)   176.6   137.1  
Due from affiliated companies 19(a)   30.2   21.4  
Income and other taxes receivable    10.9   1.2  
Prepaid expenses    27.9   23.9  
Current derivative assets 4(g)   3.3   0.4  
    328.4   249.6  

Non-current assets      

Property, plant and equipment, net   12   301.0   115.2  
Intangible assets, net   13   89.7   104.8  
Goodwill, net  13   418.4   421.2  
Deferred income taxes 7(b)   4.7   2.6  
Other long-term assets 20(b)   26.8   15.7  
    840.6   659.5  

   $ 1169.0  $ 909.1  

      
LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ EQUITY      
Current liabilities      

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   20(b)  $ 152.2  $ 115.7  
Due to affiliated companies 19(a)   26.0   20.3  
Income and other taxes payable    40.6   30.5  
Advance billings and customer deposits      4.0   13.5  
Provisions 15   10.3   6.5  
Current maturities of long-term debt   16   42.8   6.0  
    275.9   192.5  

Non-current liabilities      

Provisions   15   160.5   210.0  
Long-term debt   16   477.7   302.0  
Other long-term liabilities      4.2   4.1  
Derivative liabilities    3.2   0.9  
Deferred income taxes 7(b)   1.7   2.9  
    647.3   519.9  

Liabilities    923.2   712.4  

Owners’ equity       

Common equity    17   245.8   196.7  

   $ 1,169.0  $ 909.1  

 Contingent Liabilities                                                                                                                          18 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
 
Approved by the Directors: 

 
 

/signed/  /signed/ 
 

Josh Blair  Jeffrey Puritt   
Chair, Board of Directors     President & Chief Executive Officer     
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  Share capital 

   Common Shares  
Retained 
earnings 
(deficit) 

Accumulated other 
comprehensive 

income 

 

($ in millions) Note  
Number 
of shares 

Share 
capital  Total 

Balance as at January 1, 2018   40,000,000  $ 223.9   $ (155.4) $ 31.3  $ 99.8  

Net income   —   —    47.1   —   47.1  

Other comprehensive income   —   —    —   (10.1)  (10.1) 

Class A Common Shares – Issued 17  929,110   25.7    —   —   25.7  

Class B Common Shares – Issued 17  500,290   13.9    —   —   13.9  

Class D Common Shares – Issued 17  722,021   20.0    —   —   20.0  

Share option awards   —  0.3    —   —   0.3  

Balance as at December 31, 2018   42,151,421  $ 283.8   $ (108.3) $ 21.2  $ 196.7  

Balance as at January 1, 2019  

As previously reported  
 

 42,151,421  $ 283.8   $ (108.3) $ 21.2  $ 196.7  

IFRS 16, Leases transitional amount 2(a)  —  —   (14.7) 0.1  (14.6) 

As adjusted  42,151,421  283.8   (123.0) 21.3  182.1   

Net income   —                —   69.0   —   69.0  

Other comprehensive income   —   —    —   (5.9)  (5.9) 

Share option awards   —   0.6    —   —   0.6  

Balance as at December 31, 2019   42,151,421  $ 284.4   $ (54.0) $ 15.4  $ 245.8  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Years ended December 31 (millions)  Note  2019  2018 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES      
Net income    $ 69.0   $ 47.1  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:      

 Depreciation and amortization    92.2    49.5  
Interest expense 6  36.3   23.2  
 Income taxes  7  26.0   21.9  
 Share-based compensation expense, net of payments made  9   1.8    4.1  
Reversal of written put option 15  (13.5)   (12.6) 
 Change in market value of derivatives and other adjustments    0.7    4.3  

Cash provided by operating activities before net change in non-cash working capital, interest 
paid, and income taxes paid  

 
 

212.5   137.5  

Net change in non-cash operating working capital  20(c)   (28.2)   (13.9) 
Interest paid   (14.7)   (15.3) 
Income taxes paid, net   (28.0)  (14.8) 

Cash provided by operating activities    141.6    93.5  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES      
Cash payments for capital assets  20(c)   (52.7)   (47.5) 
Cash payments for acquisitions, net   —   (115.4) 
Payment to acquire non-controlling interest in subsidiary 15  (50.8)  —  
Cash used by investing activities   (103.5)  (162.9) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES  20(d)      
Shares issued 17   —    18.9  
Repayment of short-term borrowings, net    —    (4.6) 
Long-term debt issued 16   72.0    75.0  
Repayment of long-term debt 16   (96.0)   (38.6) 

Cash provided (used) by financing activities    (24.0)   50.7  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and temporary investments     (0.2)   (1.1) 

CASH POSITION      
Increase (decrease) in cash and temporary investments, net    13.9    (19.8) 
Cash and temporary investments, net, beginning of period    65.6    85.4  

Cash and temporary investments, net, end of period   $ 79.5   $ 65.6  
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 December 31, 2019 
 

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. is a global provider of 
customer experience and digital business services. 

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. was incorporated 
under the Business Corporations Act (British 
Columbia) on January 2, 2016, and is a subsidiary of 
TELUS Corporation. TELUS International (Cda) Inc. 
maintains its registered office at 510 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia. 

The terms we, us, our or ourselves are used to 
refer to TELUS International (Cda) Inc. and, where the 
context of the narrative permits or requires, its 
subsidiaries.  

 

1 consolidated financial statements 

(a) Basis of presentation 
Our consolidated financial statements are 

expressed in United States dollars. The generally 
accepted accounting principles that we use are 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IFRS-IASB). 

Generally accepted accounting principles require 
that we disclose the accounting policies we have 
selected in those instances where we have been 
obligated to choose from among various generally 
accepted accounting principle-compliant accounting 
policies. In certain other instances, including where no 
selection among policies is allowed, we are also required 
to disclose how we have applied certain accounting policies. In our assessment, all of our required accounting policy 
disclosures are not equally significant for us, as set out in the accompanying table; their relative significance to us will 
evolve over time as we do.  

These consolidated financial statements for each of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, were 
authorized by our Board of Directors for issue on February 19, 2020. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  Page 

General application  

1. Consolidated financial statements 6 

2. Accounting policy developments 12 

3. Capital structure financial policies 13 

4. Financial instruments 14 

Consolidated results of operations focused  

5. Employee benefits expense 19 

6. Financing costs 19 

7. Income taxes 19 

8. Other comprehensive income 22 

9. Share-based compensation 22 

10. Employee future benefits 25 

11. Restructuring and other costs 25 

Consolidated financial position focused  

12. Property, plant and equipment 26 

13. Intangible assets and goodwill 27 

14. Leases 28 

15. Provisions 28 

16. Long-term debt 29 

17. Share capital 31 

18. Contingent liabilities 32 

Other  

19. Related party transactions 33 

20. Additional financial information 34 



TELUS CONFIDENTIAL 
 

notes to consolidated financial statements (US$)                                  

 

 

   December 31, 2019 | 7 

(b) Consolidation 
Our consolidated financial statements include our 
accounts and the accounts of all of our subsidiaries. 
The principal ones are: TELUS International (U.S.) 
Corp.; CallPoint New Europe EAD; CallPoint New 
Europe S.R.L.; Transactel (Barbados) Inc.; 
Transactel S.A.; Transactel El Salvador S.A. DE C.V.; 
TELUS International Philippines Inc; Voxpro Limited 
and Xavient Digital LLC. 

Our financing arrangements and those of our 
subsidiaries do not impose restrictions on inter-
corporate dividends, but external dividends are 
restricted based upon total net debt to earnings 
before interest, income taxes, depreciation and 

amortization (EBITDA*) ratios, all as defined by our 
financing arrangements. 

On a continuing basis, we review our corporate 
organization and effect changes as appropriate so as 
to enhance the value of TELUS International (Cda) 
Inc. This process can, and does, affect which of our 
subsidiaries are considered principal subsidiaries at 
any particular point in time. 

(c) Use of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates, 
assumptions and judgments that affect: the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements; the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements; and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

                                                      
* EBITDA does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS-IASB and is therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by 
other issuers; we define EBITDA as operating revenues less goods and services purchased and employee benefits expense. EBITDA is a key measure 
that management uses to evaluate the performance of our business and it is also utilized in measuring compliance with certain debt covenants. 

 Accounting policy requiring a more 
significant choice among policies and/or 

a more significant application of judgment 

Accounting policy Yes No 

General application   

(a) Basis of presentation  X 

(b) Consolidation  X 

(c) Use of estimates and judgments X  

(d) Financial instruments – 
recognition and measurement 

 X 

(e) Hedge accounting  X 

Results of operations focused   

(f) Revenue recognition X  

(g) Depreciation, amortization and 
impairment 

X  

(h) Translation of foreign currencies  X 

(i) Income and other taxes X  

(j) Share-based compensation  X 

(k) Employee future benefit plans  X 

Financial position focused   

(l) Cash and temporary 
investments, net 

 X 

(m) Property, plant and equipment; 
intangible assets 

X  

(n) Leases  X 
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Estimates 
Examples of the significant estimates and assumptions that we make and their relative significance and degree of 
difficulty are as follows:  
  
 
 

    

 

 · The recoverability of goodwill (see 
Note 13(b) for discussion of key 
assumptions) 

 

 

 

· Determination of the amount and 
composition of income and other tax 
assets and liabilities, including the 
amount of unrecognized tax benefits 

 

 

· The estimated useful lives of assets (see 
(g) following) 

 

 

 · The recoverability of tangible and 
intangible assets subject to amortization 

 

· Determination of the allowance for 
doubtful accounts 

 

 
Judgments 
Examples of our significant judgments, apart from those involving estimation, include the following:  
· Assessments about whether line items are sufficiently material to warrant separate presentation in the primary 

financial statements and, if not, whether they are sufficiently material to warrant separate presentation in the financial 
statement notes. In the normal course, we make changes to our assessments regarding presentation materiality so 
that they reflect current economic conditions. Due consideration is given to the view that it is reasonable to expect 
differing opinions of what is, and is not, material. 

· In respect of revenue-generating transactions, generally we must make judgments that affect the timing of the 
recognition of revenue as it relates to assessing when we have satisfied our performance obligations to our 
customers, either at a point in time or over a period of time.  

· Determination of our functional currency and the functional currency of each subsidiary involves significant judgment. 
The determination of functional currency affects the carrying value of non-current assets included in the statement of 
financial position and, as a consequence, the amortization of those assets, as well as the exchange gains and 
losses recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of equity.  

· The decision to depreciate and amortize any property, plant, equipment and intangible assets that are subject to 
amortization on a straight-line basis, as we believe that this method reflects the consumption of resources related to 
the economic lifespan of those assets better than an accelerated method and is more representative of the 
economic substance of the underlying use of those assets.  

· In connection with the annual impairment testing of goodwill, there are instances where we must exercise judgment 
in the determination of our cash generating units. A significant judgment that we make is that each geographic area 
in which we operate is insufficiently distinct, making it impractical to objectively distinguish the cash flows of each 
region. As such, each region is not an individual cash generating unit. 

· In respect of claims and lawsuits, as discussed further in Note 18(b), the determination of whether an item is a 
contingent liability or whether an outflow of resources is probable and thus needs to be accounted for as a provision. 

(d) Financial instruments – recognition and measurement  
In respect of the recognition and measurement of financial instruments, we have adopted the following policies: 
· Derivatives that are part of an established and documented cash flow hedging relationship are accounted for as held 

for hedging. We believe that classification as held for hedging results in a better matching of the change in the fair 
value of the derivative financial instrument with the risk exposure being hedged. 

  Derivatives that are not part of a documented cash flow hedging relationship are accounted for as held for 
trading and thus are measured at fair value through net income. 

L
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· Transaction costs, other than in respect of items held for trading, are added to the initial fair value of the acquired 
financial asset or financial liability. We have selected this method as we believe that it results in a better matching of 
the transaction costs with the periods in which we benefit from the transaction costs. 

(e) Hedge accounting 

Hedge accounting  
The purpose of hedge accounting, in respect of our designated hedging relationships, is to ensure that counterbalancing 
gains and losses are recognized in the same periods. We have chosen to apply hedge accounting as we believe this is 
more representative of the economic substance of the underlying transactions. 

In order to apply hedge accounting, a high correlation (which indicates effectiveness) is required in the offsetting 
changes in the risk-associated values of the financial instruments (the hedging items) used to establish the designated 
hedging relationships and all, or a part, of the asset, liability or transaction having an identified risk exposure that we have 
taken steps to modify (the hedged items). We assess the anticipated effectiveness of designated hedging relationships 
at inception and their actual effectiveness for each reporting period thereafter. We consider a designated hedging 
relationship to be effective if the following critical terms match between the hedging item and the hedged item: the 
notional amount of the hedging item and the principal amount of the hedged item; maturity dates; payment dates; and 
interest rate index (if, and as, applicable). Any ineffectiveness, such as would result from a difference between the 
notional amount of the hedging item and the principal amount of the hedged item, or from a previously effective 
designated hedging relationship becoming ineffective, is reflected in the consolidated statement of income and other 
comprehensive income as Financing costs if in respect of long-term debt, as Goods and services purchased if in respect 
of future purchase commitments or as Employee benefits expense if in respect of share-based compensation.  

Hedging assets and liabilities  
In the application of hedge accounting, an amount (the hedge value) is recorded in the consolidated statement of 
financial position in respect of the fair value of the hedging items. The net difference, if any, between the amounts 
recognized in the determination of net income and the amounts necessary to reflect the fair value of the designated cash 
flow hedging items recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position is recognized as a component of Other 
comprehensive income, as set out in Note 8.  

In the application of hedge accounting to the finance costs arising from interest paid on our long-term debt, the 
amount recognized in the determination of net income is the amount that counterbalances the difference between 
interest calculated at a variable interest rate, and the fixed interest rate as per our credit facility (Note 16(b)). 

(f) Revenue recognition 

General 
Our solutions involve delivery of multiple services and products that occur at different points in time and/or over different 
periods of time; as referred to in (c), this is a significant judgment for us. As appropriate, these arrangements contain 
multiple performance obligations and the transaction price is measured and allocated among the performance 
obligations based upon their relative fair values (derived using Company-specific objective evidence). Our relevant 
revenue recognition policies are then applied to the performance obligations. 

Multiple contracts with a single customer are normally accounted for as separate arrangements. In instances where 
multiple contracts are entered into with a customer in a short period of time, the contracts are reviewed as a group to 
ensure that, as with multiple performance obligation arrangements, their relative fair values are appropriate.  

Our revenues are recorded net of any value-added and/or sales taxes billed to the customer concurrent with a 
revenue-generating transaction. 

When we receive no identifiable, separable benefit for consideration given to a customer (e.g. discounts and 
rebates), the consideration is recorded as a reduction of revenue rather than as an expense. 

We recognize revenues on an accrual basis and include an estimate of revenues earned but unbilled.  Advance 
billings are recorded when billing occurs prior to provision of the associated services; such advance billings are 
recognized as revenue in the period in which the services are provided.  

(g) Depreciation, amortization and impairment 
 

Depreciation and amortization  
Property, plant, and equipment including right of use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as determined by a continuing program of asset life studies. Depreciation includes amortization of assets under 
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finance leases and amortization of leasehold improvements. Leasehold improvements are normally amortized over the 
lesser of their expected average service life or the term of the lease. Intangible assets with finite lives (intangible assets 
subject to amortization) are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are reviewed at least 
annually and adjusted as appropriate. As referred to in (c), the use of a straight-line basis of depreciation and amortization 
is a significant judgment for us. 

 Estimated useful lives for the majority of our property, plant and equipment and right of use lease assets subject to 
depreciation are as follows:  

 

     Estimated useful lives 

Computer hardware and network assets     3 to 5 years 

Buildings and leasehold improvements    20 years 

Furniture and equipment    3 to 7 years 

Right-of-use lease assets    3 to 20 years 
  

Estimated useful lives for the majority of our intangible assets subject to amortization are as follows: 

     Estimated useful lives 

Customer contracts and related customer relationships     4 to 10 years 

Software    3 to 5 years 

Impairment – general  
Impairment testing compares the carrying values of the assets or cash generating units being tested with their 
recoverable amounts (the recoverable amount being the greater of an asset’s value in use or its fair value less costs to 
sell); as referred to in (c), this is a significant estimate for us. Impairment losses are immediately recognized, to the extent 
that the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Should the recoverable amounts for impaired assets 
subsequently increase, the impairment losses previously recognized (other than in respect of goodwill) may be reversed 
to the extent that the reversal is not a result of “unwinding the discount” and that the resulting carrying values do not 
exceed the carrying values that would have been the result if no impairment losses had been previously recognized. 

Impairment – property, plant and equipment; intangible assets subject to amortization  
The continuing program of asset life studies considers such items as the timing of technological obsolescence, 
competitive pressures and future infrastructure utilization plans; these considerations could also indicate that the carrying 
value of an asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of an asset were not considered recoverable, an 
impairment loss would be recorded.  

Impairment – goodwill  
The carrying value of goodwill is periodically tested for impairment. The frequency of the impairment testing is generally 
the reciprocal of the stability of the relevant events and circumstances, but goodwill must, at a minimum, be tested 
annually; we have selected October 1 as our annual test date.  

We assess our goodwill by comparing the recoverable amounts of our business to its carrying value. To the extent 
that the carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the excess amount would be recorded as a reduction in the 
carrying value of goodwill and any remainder would be recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the assets on a 
pro-rated basis. 

(h) Translation of foreign currencies 
Trade transactions completed in foreign currencies are translated into United States dollars at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the time of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into United States dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the statement of financial position date, with any resulting gain 
or loss recorded in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income as a component of Financing 
costs, as set out in Note 6.  

We have foreign subsidiaries that do not have the United States dollar as their functional currency. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses arising from the translation of these foreign subsidiaries’ accounts into United States dollars are 
reported as a component of other comprehensive income, as set out in Note 8.  

(i) Income and other taxes 
We follow the liability method of accounting for income taxes; as referred to in (c), this is a significant estimate for us. 
Under this method, current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable for the current year. 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the tax and accounting 
bases of assets and liabilities, and also for the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to future years for tax 
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purposes that are more likely than not to be realized. The amounts recognized in respect of deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities are based upon the expected timing of the reversal of temporary differences or usage of tax losses and 
application of the substantively enacted tax rates at the time of reversal or usage.  

We account for any changes in substantively enacted income tax rates affecting deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities in full in the period in which the changes are substantively enacted. We account for changes in the estimates of 
tax balances for prior years as estimate revisions in the period in which the changes in estimates arise; we have selected 
this approach as its emphasis on the statement of financial position is more consistent with the liability method of 
accounting for income taxes.  

Our operations are complex and the related domestic and foreign tax interpretations, regulations, legislation and 
jurisprudence are continually changing. As a result, there are usually some tax matters in question that result in uncertain 
tax positions. We recognize the income tax benefit of an uncertain tax position when it is more likely than not that the 
ultimate determination of the tax treatment of the position will result in that benefit being realized; however, this does not 
mean that tax authorities cannot challenge these positions. We accrue an amount for interest charges on current tax 
liabilities that have not been funded, which would include interest and penalties arising from uncertain tax positions. We 
include such charges in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income as a component of 
income tax expense. 

(j) Share-based compensation 
 

General 
When share-based compensation vests in its entirety at one future point in time (cliff vesting), we recognize the expense 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. When share-based compensation vests in tranches (graded vesting), we 
recognize the expense using the accelerated expense attribution method. An estimate of forfeitures during the vesting 
period is made at the date of grant of such share based compensation; this estimate is adjusted to reflect actual 
expense. Share-based compensation awards are denominated in Canadian dollars and U.S. dollars, as noted in Note 9. 

Restricted stock units 
In respect of restricted stock units without market performance conditions, as set out in Note 9(a), we accrue a liability 
equal to the product of the number of vesting restricted stock units multiplied by the fair market value of the 
corresponding Common Shares at the end of the reporting period. The expense for restricted stock units that do not 
ultimately vest is reversed against the expense that was previously recorded in their respect. 

Phantom restricted stock units, which are cash-settled, as set out in Note 9(a), are accounted for as liability 
instruments.  

Share option awards 
A fair value for share option awards is determined at the date of grant and that fair value is recognized in the financial 
statements. Proceeds arising from the exercise of share option awards are credited to share capital, as are the 
recognized grant-date fair values of the exercised share option awards. 

Phantom share option awards, which are cash-settled, as set out in Note 9(b), are accounted for as liability 
instruments.  

(k) Employee future benefit plans 
 

Defined benefit plans 
We participate in defined benefit pension plans that share risks between TELUS Corporation and its subsidiaries as well 
as unfunded, non-contributory retirement plans of TELUS International (Cda) Inc. and its subsidiaries. TELUS 
Corporation’s policy is to charge us our participant-based net defined benefit pension cost, as measured in accordance 
with IAS 19, Employee Benefits.  
 

Employee Benefits 
The cost of pensions and other retirement benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the accrued 
benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimates of salary escalation and the retirement ages of 
employees. In the determination of net income, net interest for each plan, which is the product of the plan’s surplus 
(deficit) multiplied by the discount rate, is included as a component of Financing costs, as set out in Note 6.  

On an annual basis, at a minimum, the defined benefit plan key assumptions are assessed and revised as 
appropriate. When the defined benefit plan key assumptions fluctuate significantly relative to their immediately preceding 
year-end values, actuarial gains (losses) arising from such significant fluctuations are recognized in other comprehensive 
income.  
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(l) Cash and temporary investments, net 
Cash and temporary investments, which may include investments in money market instruments that are purchased three 
months or less from maturity, are presented net of outstanding items, including cheques written but not cleared by 
the related banks as at the statement of financial position date. Cash and temporary investments, net, are classified 
as a liability in the statement of financial position when the total amount of all cheques written but not cleared by the 
related banks exceeds the amount of cash and temporary investments. When cash and temporary investments, net, 
are classified as a liability, they may also include overdraft amounts drawn on our bilateral bank facilities, which revolve 
daily.  

(m) Property, plant and equipment; intangible assets  
 

General 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are recorded at historical cost, which for self-constructed property, 
plant and equipment includes materials, direct labour and applicable overhead costs. For internally developed internal-
use software, the historical cost recorded includes materials, direct labour and direct labour-related costs. Where 
property, plant and equipment construction projects are of a sufficient size and duration, an amount is capitalized for the 
cost of funds used to finance construction. The rate for calculating the capitalized financing cost is based on our weighted 
average cost of borrowing experienced during the reporting period.  

When we sell property, plant and/or equipment, the net book value is netted against the sale proceeds and the 
difference is included in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income as Other operating 
income. 

(n) Leases 
See Note 2 for significant changes to IFRS-IASB which were implemented in 2019. Prior to fiscal 2019, leases were 
classified as finance or operating, depending upon terms and conditions of the contract. 
 
 

2 accounting policy developments 
(a) Initial application of standards, interpretations and amendments to standards and interpretations in the 

reporting period 
In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board released IFRS 16, Leases, which is required to be 
applied for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019, and which supersedes IAS 17, Leases. The standard 
removes the lessees’ classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases and, for IFRS-IASB, 
introducing a single lessee accounting model. 

The most significant effect of the new standard is the lessee’s recognition of the initial present value of 
unavoidable future lease payments as right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial 
position, including those for most leases that would previously have been accounted for as operating leases. Both 
leases with durations of 12 months or less and leases for low-value assets may be exempted.  

The measurement of the total lease expense over the term of a lease will be unaffected by the new standard. 
However, the new standard will result in an acceleration of the timing of lease expense recognition for leases that 
would previously have been accounted for as operating leases; the International Accounting Standards Board 
expects that this effect may be muted by a lessee having a portfolio of leases with varying maturities and lengths of 
term, and we expect that we will be similarly affected. The presentation on the statement of income and other 
comprehensive income required by the new standard will result in the presentation of most non-executory lease 
expenses as depreciation of right-of-use lease assets and financing costs arising from lease liabilities, rather than as 
a part of goods and services purchased (executory lease expenses will remain a part of goods and services 
purchased); reported operating income would thus be higher under the new standard. 

Relative to the results of applying the previous standard, although actual cash flows will be unaffected, the 
lessee’s statement of cash flows will reflect increases in cash flows from operating activities offset equally by 
decreases in cash flows from financing activities. This is the result of the presentation of the payments of the 
“principal” component of leases, which were previously accounted for as operating leases, as a cash flow use within 
financing activities under the new standard.  

We have applied the standard retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of the initial application of the new 
standard recognized at the date of initial application, January 1, 2019, subject to permitted and elected practical 
expedients; such method of application does not result in the retrospective adjustment of amounts reported for 
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periods prior to fiscal 2019. The nature of the transition method selected is such that the lease population as at 
January 1, 2019, and the discount rates determined contemporaneously, is the basis for the cumulative effects 
recorded as of that date. 

Implementation 
As a transitional practical expedient permitted by the new standard, we have not reassessed whether contracts are, or 
contained, leases as at January 1, 2019, applying the criteria of the new standard; as at January 1, 2019, only contracts 
that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17, Leases, and IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, are a part of the transition to the new standard. Only contracts entered into (or changed) after 
December 31, 2018, will be assessed for being, or containing, leases applying the criteria of the new standard. 

IFRS 16, Leases, has the following impact on the fiscal 2019 opening amounts: 

As at January 1, 2019 (millions)  
As currently 

reported  
IFRS 16 
effects  Pro forma 

Non-current assets       
 Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 115.2   $ 138.4   $ 253.6   
 Deferred income taxes  $ 2.6   $ 1.3   $ 3.9   

Current liabilities       
 Current maturities of long-term debt  $ 6.0   $ 26.7   $ 32.7   

Non-current liabilities       
 Long-term debt  $ 302.0   $ 127.6   $ 429.6   

Owners’ equity       
 Retained earnings  $ (108.3)  $ (14.7)  $ (123.0)  
 Accumulated other comprehensive income  $ 21.2   $ 0.1   $ 21.3   

 

 

The difference between the total of the minimum lease payments set out in Note 14 of our audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the additions to long-term debt arises because of 
the effect of discounting the minimum lease payments (approximately half of the difference) and because the 
minimum lease payments set out in Note 14 of our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, include payments for leases that have commencement dates subsequent to December 31, 
2018 (approximately half of the difference).  

The new standard requires a number of incremental recurring disclosures, as well as setting out how those 
disclosures are to be made; we have made these disclosures, or incorporated them by cross-reference from other 
notes to the financial statements, in Note 12. 

(b) Standards, interpretations and amendments to standards not yet effective and not yet applied 
In October 2018, the International Accounting Standards Board amended IFRS 3, Business Combinations, seeking 
to clarify whether an acquisition transaction results in the acquisition of an asset or the acquisition of a business. The 
amendments are effective for acquisition transactions on or after January 1, 2020, although earlier application is 
permitted. The amended standard has a narrower definition of a business, which could result in the recognition of 
fewer business combinations than under the current standard; the implication of this is that amounts which may have 
been recognized as goodwill in a business combination under the current standard may now be recognized as 
allocations to net identifiable assets acquired under the amended standard (with an associated effect in an entity’s 
results of operations that would differ from the effect of goodwill having been recognized). We expect that we will 
apply the standard prospectively from January 1, 2020. The effects, if any, of the amended standard on our financial 
performance and disclosure will be dependent on the facts and circumstances of any future acquisition transactions. 

·  

3 capital structure financial policies 
Our objective when managing capital is to maintain a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost and availability of 
capital at acceptable risk levels. 

In the management of capital and in its definition, we include common equity (excluding accumulated other 
comprehensive income), long-term debt (including long-term credit facilities and any hedging assets or liabilities 
associated with long-term debt items, net of amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income) and cash 
and temporary investments. 

We manage our capital structure and make adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of our business. In order to maintain or adjust our capital structure, we may issue new shares, issue new 
debt and/or issue new debt to replace existing debt with different characteristics. 
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During 2019, our financial objectives, which are reviewed annually, were unchanged from 2018. We believe that our 
financial objectives are supportive of our long-term strategy. 

We monitor capital utilizing the financial covenants prescribed in our credit facility (Note 16(b)). 
 

4 financial instruments 

(a) Risks – overview 
Our financial instruments, and the nature of certain risks to which they may be subject are as set out in the following table. 
 

  Risks 

 
Accounting 

classification 

    Market risks 

Financial instrument Credit  Liquidity  Currency  Interest rate  Other price 

Measured at amortized cost           

Accounts receivable AC 1 X    X     

Accounts payable AC 1   X  X     

Provisions (including restructuring accounts payable) AC 1   X  X    X 

Long-term debt AC 1   X    X   

Measured at fair value           

Cash and temporary investments FVTPL 2 X    X  X   

Foreign exchange derivatives3 FVTPL/FVOCI 2 X  X  X     

Interest rate derivatives3 FVTPL/FVOCI 2 X  X    X   

Share-based compensation derivatives3 FVTPL/FVOCI 2 X  X  X    X 
 

1 For accounting recognition and measurement purposes, classified as amortized cost (AC). 
2 For accounting recognition and measurement purposes, classified as fair value through net income (FVTPL). Unrealized changes in the fair values of financial 

instruments are included in net income unless the instrument is part of a cash flow hedging relationship. The effective portion of unrealized changes in the fair 
values of financial instruments held for hedging are included in other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

3 Use of derivative financial instruments is subject to a policy which requires that no derivative transaction is to be entered into for the purpose of establishing a 
speculative or leveraged position (the corollary being that all derivative transactions are to be entered into for risk management purposes only) and sets 
criteria for the creditworthiness of the transaction counterparties. 

(b) Credit risk 
Excluding credit risk, if any, arising from interest rate swaps and currency swaps settled on a gross basis, the best 
representation of our maximum exposure (excluding income tax effects) to credit risk, which is a worst-case scenario and 
does not reflect results we expect, is as set out in the following table:  

 

As at December 31 (millions)     2019 2018 

Cash and temporary investments, net     $ 79.5   $ 65.6  
Accounts receivable      176.6    137.1  
Due from affiliated companies      30.2    21.4  
Derivative assets      3.3    0.4  

     $ 289.6   $ 224.5  

Cash and temporary investments  
Credit risk associated with cash and temporary investments is managed by ensuring that these financial assets are 
placed with: governments; major financial institutions that have been accorded strong investment grade ratings by a 
primary rating agency; and/or other creditworthy counterparties. An ongoing review is performed to evaluate changes in 
the status of counterparties.  

Accounts receivable  
Credit risk associated with accounts receivable is managed through a program of credit evaluations of customers and 
limiting the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary.  

 The following table presents an analysis of the age of customer accounts receivable for which an allowance has not 
been made as at the dates of the consolidated statements of financial position. As at December 31, 2019, the weighted 
average age of customer accounts receivable was 21 days (December 31, 2018 – 24 days). Any late payment charges 
are levied at a negotiated rate on outstanding non-current customer account balances.  
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As at December 31 (millions)   Note  2019 2018 

Customer accounts receivable       
Less than 30 days past billing date     $ 97.4   $ 60.5  
30-60 days past billing date      3.0    13.6  
61-90 days past billing date      2.3    4.3  
More than 90 days past billing date      5.3    1.0  

     $ 108.0   $ 79.4  

Customer accounts receivable    20(b)  $ 109.8   $ 82.3  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   20(b)   (1.8)   (2.9) 

Customer Receivable, Net     $ 108.0   $ 79.4  

We maintain allowances for lifetime expected credit losses related to doubtful accounts. Current economic conditions 
(including forward-looking macroeconomic data), historical information (including credit agency reports, if available), 
reasons for the accounts being past due and service from which the customer accounts receivable arose are all 
considered when determining whether to make allowances for past-due accounts. The same factors are considered 
when determining whether to write off amounts charged to the allowance for doubtful accounts against the customer 
accounts receivable. The doubtful accounts expense is calculated on a specific-identification basis for customer accounts 
receivable over a specific balance threshold and on a statistically derived allowance basis for the remainder. No 
customer accounts receivable are written off directly to the doubtful accounts expense. 

The following table presents a summary of the activity related to our allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 

Years ended December 31 (millions)     2019  2018 

Balance, beginning of period   $ 2.9  $ 0.3  
Additions (recovery), net (doubtful accounts expense)       (1.1)  2.6  

Balance, end of period   $ 1.8  $ 2.9  
 

Derivative assets (and derivative liabilities)  
Counterparties to our foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives are major financial institutions that have been accorded 
investment grade ratings by a primary credit rating agency. The total dollar amount of credit exposure under contracts with 
any one financial institution is limited and counterparties’ credit ratings are monitored. We do not give or receive collateral on 
swap agreements and hedging items due to our credit rating and those of our counterparties. While we are exposed to the 
risk of potential credit losses due to the possible non-performance of our counterparties, we consider this risk remote. Our 
derivative liabilities do not have credit risk-related contingent features. 

(c) Liquidity risk 
As a component of our capital structure financial policies, discussed further in Note 3, we manage liquidity risk by:  
· maintaining bilateral bank facilities and a syndicated credit facility (Note 16(b));  

· continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows; and  
· managing maturity profiles of financial assets and financial liabilities.  

 

Our debt maturities in future years are as disclosed in Note 16(d).  
We closely match the contractual maturities of our derivative financial liabilities with those of the risk exposures they 

are being used to manage.  
The expected maturities of our undiscounted financial liabilities do not differ significantly from the contractual 

maturities, other than as noted below. The contractual maturities of our undiscounted financial liabilities, including interest 
thereon (where applicable), are as set out in the following tables: 
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 Non-derivative  Derivative  

  Composite long-term debt    

As at December 31, 2019 
(millions) 

Non-
interest 
bearing 
financial 
liabilities 

 Due to 
affiliated 

companies 

(Note 19(a)) 

 Long-term debt, 
excluding 
leases 1 

(Note 16) 

 
Leases     

(Notes 2(a),  

14) 

 
Currency swap agreement 
amounts to be exchanged  

Interest rate 
swap 

agreement 

 

    (Receive)  Pay   Total 

2020 $ 209.0   $  26.0    $  16.8    $  48.8    $  (391.2)  $  388.0    $  —   $ 297.4  
2021   166.4      —      16.6      44.7      —      —      —     227.7   
2022   —      —     328.8      35.1      —      —      3.2     367.1   
2023   —      —            32.2      —     —      —     32.2   
2024   —      —      —      20.2      —      —      —     20.2   
2025-2029   —      —      —      39.7      —      —      —    39.7  
Thereafter   —      —      —      14.7      —      —      —     14.7   

Total $  375.4    $  26.0    $  362.2     $  235.4    $  (391.2)  $  388.0    $  3.2   $ 999.0  

    Total (Note 16(d)) $  597.6          
 

1 Future cash outflows in respect of associated interest and like carrying costs for amounts drawn under our credit facilities (if any) have been calculated based 
upon the rates in effect at December 31, 2019. 

 

 Non-derivative  Derivative  

  Composite long-term debt    

As at December 31, 2018 
(millions) 

Non-interest 
bearing 
financial 
liabilities 

 
Due to 

affiliated 
companies 
(Note 19(a)) 

 
Long-term debt, 

excluding 
leases 1 

(Note 16) 

 Leases              
(Notes 2(a), 

14) 

 
Currency swap agreement 
amounts to be exchanged  Interest rate 

swap 
agreement 

 

    (Receive)  Pay  Total 

2019 $  166.2    $  20.3    $  19.0    $  —    $  (67.1)  $  66.7    $  —   $  205.1   
2020   7.0      —      18.8      —      —      —      —     25.8   
2021   210.0      —      18.6      —      —      —      —     228.6   
2022   —      —      300.7      —      —     —      0.9     301.6   

Total $  383.2    $  20.3    $  357.1     $  —    $  (67.1)  $  66.7    $  0.9   $  761.1   
 

1 Future cash outflows in respect of associated interest and like carrying costs for amounts drawn under our credit facilities (if any) have been calculated based 
upon the rates in effect at December 31, 2018.  

(d) Currency risk 
Our functional currency is the United States dollar, but certain routine revenues and operating costs are 
denominated in Canadian dollars and capital asset acquisitions are sourced internationally. The European euro and 
the Canadian dollar are the foreign currencies to which we currently have the largest exposure.  

Our foreign exchange risk management includes the use of foreign currency forward contracts to fix the 
exchange rates on short-term Philippine peso denominated transactions and commitments, as well as Euro to 
United States dollar foreign exchange hedges entered into in December 2019. 

(e) Interest rate risk 
Changes in market interest rates will cause fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows of temporary 
investments, short term obligations and long-term debt.  

 When we have temporary investments, they have short maturities and fixed interest rates and as a result, their 
fair value will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates; absent monetization prior to maturity, the related 
future cash flows will not change due to changes in market interest rates. 

As short-term obligations arising from bilateral bank facilities, which typically have variable interest rates, are 
rarely outstanding for periods that exceed one calendar week, interest rate risk associated with this item is not 
material.  

 Amounts drawn on our long-term credit facility (Note 16(b)) will be affected by changes in market interest rates 
in a manner similar to debts with short maturities in that the fair value is not materially affected by changes in 
market interest rates, but the associated cash flows representing interest payments are. 

We manage our exposure to changes in market interest rates with the use of interest rate swaps to fix the 
interest rates on the variable rate portion of our credit facility. 
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(f) Market risk 
Net income and other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, could have varied if the 
United States dollar: Canadian dollar exchange rate, United States dollar: Euro exchange rate, United States dollar: 
Philippine Peso exchange rate, market interest rates, and the TELUS Corporation and TELUS International (Cda) Inc. 
Common Share prices varied by reasonably possible amounts from their actual statement of financial position date 
amounts.  

The sensitivity analysis of our exposure to currency risk at the reporting date has been determined based upon a 
hypothetical change taking place at the relevant statement of financial position date. The Euro, Canadian dollar and 
Philippine Peso denominated balances as at the statement of financial position dates have been used in the calculations.  

The sensitivity analysis of our exposure to interest rate risk at the reporting date has been determined using the 
hypothetical change taking place at the beginning of the relevant fiscal year and being held constant through to the 
statement of financial position date. The relevant statement of financial position date principal has been used in the 
calculations. 

The sensitivity analysis of our exposure to other price risk arising from share-based compensation at the reporting 
date has been determined based upon a hypothetical change taking place at the relevant statement of financial position 
date. The relevant notional number of Common Shares at the statement of financial position date has been used in the 
calculations. 

Years ended December 31 

(increase (decrease) in millions) 

Net income  

Other comprehensive 

income  Comprehensive income 

2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018 

Reasonably possible changes in market risks 1            

 10% change in US$: Cdn.$ exchange rate            

  United States Dollar appreciates $ (0.4)  $ (0.1)  $ —   $ —   $ (0.4)  $ (0.1) 

  United States Dollar depreciates $ 0.4   $ 0.1   $ —   $ —   $ 0.4   $ 0.1  

 10% change in US$: Euro exchange rate            

  United States Dollar appreciates $ (2.7)  $ (1.8)  $ —   $ 7.1   $ (2.7)  $ 5.3  

  United States Dollar depreciates $ 2.7   $ 1.8   $ —   $ (7.1)  $ 2.7   $ (5.3) 

 10% change in US$: Peso exchange rate            

  United States Dollar appreciates $ (0.3)  $ 1.6   $ —   $ —   $ (0.3)  $ 1.6  

  United States Dollar depreciates $ 0.3   $ (1.6)  $ —   $ —   $ 0.3   $ (1.6) 

 25 basis point change in market interest rate            

  Rate increases $ (0.8)  $ (0.8)  $ 0.7   $ 1.0   $ (0.1)  $ 0.2 

  Rate decreases $ 0.8   $ 0.8   $ (0.7)  $ (1.0)  $ 0.1   $ (0.2) 

 25% 2 change in common share price 3            

  Price increases $ (2.4)  $ (2.6)  $ —   $ —   $ (2.4)  $ (2.6) 

  Price decreases $ 2.4   $ 2.6   $ —   $ —   $ 2.4   $ 2.6  

1 These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in net income and/or other comprehensive income generally cannot be 
extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the change in net income and/or other comprehensive income may not be linear. In this 
table, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the amount of net income and/or other comprehensive income is calculated without changing any 
other factors; in reality, changes in one factor may result in changes in another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities.  

The sensitivity analysis assumes that we would realize the changes in exchange rates; in reality, the competitive marketplace in which we operate would 
have an effect on this assumption.  

No consideration has been made for a difference in the notional number of Common Shares associated with share-based compensation awards made 
during the reporting period that may have arisen due to a difference in the common share price. 

2 To facilitate ongoing comparison of sensitivities, a constant variance of approximate magnitude has been used.  
3 The hypothetical effects of changes in the price of our Common Shares and those of TELUS Corporation are restricted to those which would arise from our 

share-based compensation awards that are accounted for as liability instruments. 

(g) Fair values 
 

General  
The carrying values of cash and temporary investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and certain provisions 
approximate their fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values 
are determined directly by reference to quoted market prices in active markets.  

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments we use to manage our exposure to currency risks are estimated 
based upon quoted market prices in active markets for the same or similar financial instruments or on the current rates 
offered to us for financial instruments of the same maturity, as well as discounted future cash flows determined using 
current rates for similar financial instruments subject to similar risks and maturities (such fair value estimates being largely 
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based on the Euro: U.S. dollar and Philippine peso: U.S. dollar forward exchange rates as at the statement of financial 
position dates).  

Derivative  
The derivative financial instruments that we measure at fair value on a recurring basis subsequent to initial recognition 
are as set out in the following table; all such items use significant other observable inputs (Level 2) for measuring fair 
value at the reporting date.  
 

   2019  2018 

As at December 31 (millions) Designation  

Maximum 
maturity 

date  
Notional 
amount  

Fair value 
and carrying 

value  
Price or 

rate  

Maximum 
maturity 

date  
Notional 
amount  

Fair value 
and carrying 

value  
Price or 

rate 

Current assets 1                  
Derivatives used to manage                  

Currency risks arising from 
Philippine peso 
denominated purchases HFT3  2020  $ 28.0  

 

$ 0.8  

 

USD:1.00 
PHP:52.16 

 

2019  $ 67.1  

 
 
$ 0.4  

 

USD:1.00 
PHP:53.43 

Currency risks arising from 
Euro denominated 
purchases HFH2  2020  $ 363.2  

 

$ 2.5  

 

USD:1.00 
EUR:0.89 

 

  $ —   

 
 
$ —  

 

— 

       $ 3.3         $ 0.4    

Non-current liabilities1                  
Derivatives used to manage                  

Interest rate risk associated 
with non-fixed rate credit 
facility amounts drawn  HFH2 

 

2022 

 

$ 106.5  

 

$ 3.2  

 

2.64% 

 

2022  

 

$ 112.5   $ 0.9  

 

2.64% 

       $ 3.2         $ 0.9    
 

1 Notional amounts of derivative financial assets and liabilities are not set off. 
2 Designated as held for hedging (HFH) upon initial recognition (cash flow hedging item); hedge accounting is applied. 

Unless otherwise noted, hedge ratio is 1:1 and is established by assessing the degree of matching between the notional amounts of hedging items and the 
notional amounts of the associated hedged items.  

3 Foreign currency hedges for Philippine Pesos are designated as held for trading (HFT) upon initial recognition; hedge accounting is not applied.  

Non-derivative  
Our long-term debt, which is measured at amortized cost, approximates the fair value thereof due to the short-term 
nature of the applicable rates of interest charged.  

(h) Recognition of derivative gains and losses 
The following table sets out the gains and losses, excluding income tax effects, arising from derivative instruments that 
are classified as cash flow hedging items and their location within the Consolidated statements of income and other 
comprehensive income.  

Credit risk associated with such derivative instruments, as discussed further in (a), would be the primary source of 
hedge ineffectiveness. There was no ineffective portion of derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedging items 
for the periods presented. 

 

 
Amount of gain (loss) 
recognized in other 

comprehensive income 
(effective portion) 

 
Gain (loss) reclassified from other comprehensive 

income to income (effective portion) 

Years ended December 31 (millions)  

   Amount 

2019  2018  Location  2019  2018 
Derivatives used to manage interest rate risk          
 Associated with non-fixed rate credit facility amounts drawn $ (2.7)  $ (0.9)   Interest expense $ 0.4   $ (0.3)  

   (2.7)   (0.9)       0.4    (0.3)   
Derivatives used to manage currency risks         
 Arising from Euro-denominated business acquisition    2.4    —       —      —   

 $  (0.3)   $  (0.9)      $  0.4   $  (0.3)  

 
The following table sets out the gains and losses (excluding income tax effects) arising from derivative instruments that 
are classified as held for trading and that are not designated as being in a hedging relationship, and their location within 
the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income. 
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     Gain (Loss) recognized in 
income on derivatives      

Years ended December 31 (millions) Location    Note  2019  2018 

Derivatives used to manage currency risks Financing costs   6 $ 0.3 $ (0.8) 
 

5 employee benefits expense 
 

Years ended December 31 (millions)     Note  2019 2018 

Employee benefits expense           
Wages and salaries     $ 609.5  $ 510.1  
Benefits     5.2  2.7  
Share-based compensation    9 13.2  5.8  
Pensions – defined contribution    10 2.2  0.8  
Restructuring costs    11 0.3  3.1  

     $ 630.4  $ 522.5  
 

6 financing costs 
 

Years ended December 31 (millions)     Note  2019 2018 

Interest expense           
Interest on long-term debt      $          13.9  $         13.4  
Interest on lease liabilities      13.2  —  
Interest on short-term borrowings and other       0.8   1.9  
Interest accretion on provisions    15  8.4   7.9  

      36.3   23.2  

          

Foreign exchange       
Derivatives used to manage currency risks    4(h) (0.3)  0.8  
Foreign exchange (gain) loss                  (2.3)             7.3  

     $ (2.6) $ 8.1  
 

7 income taxes 
(a) Expense composition and rate reconciliation 
 
  

Years ended December 31 (millions)      2019 2018 

Current income tax expense          
For current reporting period    $ 25.9  $ 19.8  
Adjustments recognized in the current period for income tax of prior periods     2.1   1.3  

     28.0   21.1  

Deferred income tax expense (recovery)      
Arising from the origination and reversal of temporary differences     3.1   (0.1) 
Adjustments recognized in the current period for income tax of prior periods     (5.1)  0.9  

     (2.0)  0.8  

    $         26.0  $        21.9 
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Our income tax expense and effective income tax rate differs from that calculated by applying the applicable statutory 
rates for the following reasons: 
 

Years ended December 31 (millions)  2019  2018 

Income taxes computed at applicable statutory rates  $ 26.8   28.2%  $ 20.3   29.4% 
Foreign accrual property income  9.1  9.5 7.9  11.5 
Adjustments recognized in the current period for income tax of prior periods  (3.0) (3.1) 2.2  3.2 
Foreign tax differential  (16.3) (17.2) (15.3) (22.2) 
Withholding and other taxes  6.8  7.1 5.1  7.3  
Losses not recognized  2.0  2.1      0.7  1.1  
Other non-deductible items  0.6  0.7 1.0   1.5 

Income tax expense per consolidated statements of income and 
other comprehensive income 

 
$ 26.0  27.3% $ 21.9  31.8% 

(b) Temporary differences 
We must make significant estimates in respect of the composition of our deferred income taxes. Our operations are 
complex and the related income tax interpretations, regulations, legislation and jurisprudence are continually changing. 
As a result, there are usually some income tax matters in question.  
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Temporary differences comprising the net deferred income tax asset and the amounts of deferred income taxes 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of 
changes in owners’ equity are estimated as follows: 

 

(millions)  Note  

Property, plant 
and equipment 
and intangible 
assets subject 
to amortization  

Net pension 
and share-

based 
compensation 

amounts  

Debt and 
equity issue 

costs  
Provisions 
and other 

 
 
 

Non-capital 
loss carried 

forward 

 
 
 
 
 

Leases  

Net deferred 
income tax 

asset 
(liability) 

As at January 1, 2018    $ (3.1)  $ 0.9   $ 0.6   $  1.8  — —  $        0.2  
Additions from acquisition      (38.5)                —    —       39.0  — —            0.5 
Deferred income tax (expense) recovery recognized in                

Net income     (0.9)   1.1    (0.3)   (0.7) — —   (0.8) 
Other comprehensive income                —               —              —  0.2  — —  0.2  
Other                  —              —             —  (0.4) — —  (0.4) 

As at December 31, 2018     (42.5)   2.0    0.3    39.9  — —   (0.3) 

As at January 1, 2019     (42.5)   2.0    0.3    39.9  — —   (0.3) 

     IFRS 16, Leases transitional amount   2(a)                —                —   —                       —  —         1.3       1.3  

As Adjusted    (42.5)               2.0      0.3       39.9  —         1.3       1.0  
Deferred income tax (expense) recovery recognized in                

Net income     1.0     0.6    (0.4)   (1.9) 2.7 —   2.0   
As at December 31, 2019    $ (41.5)  $ 2.6   $ (0.1)  $ 38.0  $      2.7         $      1.3   $        3.0 

Presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as: 

 
 

 
     

 
 

   
 

Deferred income tax asset                                                                                       $ 2.6  
Deferred income tax liability                                                                                      (2.9) 

As at December 31, 2018                                                                         $ (0.3) 

Deferred income tax asset                                                                          $ 4.7  

Deferred income tax liability                                                                          (1.7) 
As at December 31, 2019                                                                           $ 3.0  

 

Temporary differences arise from the carrying value of the investments in subsidiaries exceeding their tax base, for 
which no deferred income tax liabilities have been recognized because the parent is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of the difference and it is probable that it will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In our specific instance, this is 
relevant to our investments in our non-Canadian subsidiaries. We are not required to recognize such deferred income 
tax liabilities, as we are in a position to control the timing and manner of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
(c) Other  
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company incurred tax losses of $10.4 million for which no deferred tax 
asset is recognized (2018 - $5.3 million). Of this amount, $8.0 million can be carried forward indefinitely and       
$2.4 million expires in 2024.  
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8 other comprehensive income  

   
Items that may subsequently 

be reclassified to income  

Item never 
reclassified to 

income   

  

     Cumulative 
foreign 

currency 
translation 
adjustment 

  Employee 
defined 

benefit plan 
re-measure

-ments 

    

(millions)    

Change in 
unrealized 
fair value of 
derivatives     

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income  

Other 
comprehensive 

income 

Accumulated balance as at January 1, 2018    $ (0.1)  $ 31.4    $ —   $ 31.3    
Other comprehensive income (loss)              
 Amount arising     (0.9)   (9.9)               0.5   (10.3)   (10.3) 
 Income taxes                 0.2   —     —    0.2                0.2 

 Net     (0.7)   (9.9)    0.5    (10.1)   (10.1) 

Accumulated balance as at December 31, 2018     (0.8)   21.5     0.5              21.2    

     Opening balance adjustment for IFRS 16    —       0.1     —                0.1     
      As adjusted             (0.8)              21.6    0.5             21.3    
Other comprehensive income (loss)                                                      
 Amount arising     0.1    (3.3)    (2.7)   (5.9)    (5.9) 

 Net     0.1    (3.3)    (2.7)   (5.9)    (5.9) 

Accumulated balance as at December 31, 2019    $ (0.7)  $ 18.3    $ (2.2)  $ (15.4)    

 

9 share-based compensation 

(a) Restricted stock units  
 

General 
We use two classes of restricted stock units as a form of retention and incentive compensation: one class is nominally 
equal in value to one TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Common Share, the second class is nominally equal in value to one 
TELUS Corporation Common Share. All of our restricted stock units are cash-settled by the Company and are accounted 
for as liabilities. The vesting method of restricted stock units, which is determined on or before the date of grant, is cliff 
vesting. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the income tax benefit arising from restricted stock unit share-based 
compensation was $2.9 million (2018 - $1.3 million). 

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Phantom restricted stock units.  
Each phantom restricted stock unit is nominally equal in value to one TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Common Share. 
The restricted stock units generally become payable when vesting is completed and typically vests over a period of 30 
months (the requisite service period). As the TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Common Shares are not currently a 
dividend-paying share, the grant-date fair value of restricted stock units equals the fair market value of the corresponding 
TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Common Shares at the grant date.  
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The following table presents a summary of the activity related to TELUS International (Cda) Inc. phantom restricted 
stock units. 

 
 U.S.$ denominated  Canadian $ denominated 
 Number of restricted 

stock units 
 

Grant-date fair 
value 

 Number of restricted 
stock units 

 

Grant-date fair 
value 

    
 Non-vested  Vested   Non-vested  Vested  

Outstanding, January 1, 2018  93,169   —  $ 24.83   —   32,299  $ 21.36  
Granted 79,186  —  $ 28.37   —   —  $ —  
Forfeited (8,806)               —  $ 25.86   —   —  $ —  
Exercised                — —  —    —   —  $ —  

Outstanding, December 31, 2018  163,549   —  $ 26.45   —   32,299  $ 21.36  
Granted 103,429  —  $ 27.82   —   —  $ —  
Forfeited (16,105) —  $ 26.59   —   —  $ —  
Exercised       (81,280) —  $ 24.85   —        (32,299)  $ 21.36  

Outstanding, December 31, 2019 169,593  —  $ 28.05  —   — $ —  

 
TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Phantom performance stock units.  
Each phantom performance stock unit is nominally equal in value to one TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Common Share. 
The performance stock units generally become payable when vesting is completed and typically vest over a period of 30 
months (the requisite service period). These units generally have a variable payout (0%-100%) depending upon our 
financial performance and quality-of-service performance conditions. As the TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Common 
Shares are not currently a dividend-paying share, the grant-date fair value of performance stock units equals the fair 
market value of the corresponding TELUS International (Cda) Inc. Common Shares at the grant date.  

The following table presents a summary of the activity related to TELUS International (Cda) Inc. phantom performance 
stock units. 
 

Years ended December 31 2019  2018 
 Number of restricted 

stock units 
 

Grant-date fair 
value 

 Number of restricted 
stock units 

 

Grant-date fair 
value 

    
U.S.$ denominated Non-vested  Vested   Non-vested  Vested  

Outstanding, beginning of period 382,299  —  $ 25.24  271,975   —  $ 24.35  
Granted 94,763  —  $ 38.09  110,324  —  $ 27.63  
Forfeited (2,500)               —  $ 27.81   —   —  $ —  
Exercised (177,103)               —  $ 21.90   —   —  $ —  

Outstanding, end of period 297,459  —  $ 31.30  382,299  —  $ 25.24  

 
Phantom TELUS Corporation restricted stock units.  
Each restricted stock unit is nominally equal in value to one TELUS Corporation Common Share and is nominally entitled 
to the dividends that would arise thereon if it were an issued and outstanding TELUS Corporation Common Share. The 
notional dividends are recorded as additional issuances of restricted stock units during the life of the restricted stock unit. 
Due to the notional dividend mechanism, the grant-date fair value of restricted stock units equals the fair market value of 
the corresponding TELUS Corporation Common Shares at the grant date. The restricted stock units generally become 
payable when vesting is completed and typically vests over a period of 30 months (the requisite service period). These 
restricted stock units generally have a variable payout (0%-100%) depending upon our financial performance and 
non-market quality-of-service performance conditions. The grant-date fair value of our restricted stock units affected by 
the financial performance and non-market quality-of-service performance conditions equals the fair market value of the 
corresponding TELUS Corporation Common Shares at the grant date.  
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The following table presents a summary of the activity related to TELUS Corporation restricted stock units. 
 

Years ended December 31 2019  2018 
 Phantom TELUS Corporation 

restricted stock units 
 Weighted 

average 
grant-date fair 

value 

 Phantom TELUS Corporation 
restricted stock units 

 

Weighted 
average grant-
date fair value 

    
                                                                            

Canadian $ denominated Non-vested  Vested   Non-vested  Vested  

Outstanding, beginning of period 131,564 —  $ 44.94  141,553  —  $ 42.98  
Granted 47,171 —  $ 42.75         41,520 —  $ 45.09  
Issued 
      In lieu of dividends 4,607  —  $ 53.98  (49,024)   49,024  $ 39.85  
Exercised (56,531)               —  $ 42.52   —   (49,024) $ 39.85  
Forfeited —   —  —   (2,485)   —  $ 40.06  

Outstanding, end of period 126,811  —  $ 45.53  131,564  —  $ 44.94  
 

(b) Share option awards 
We use equity share option awards (equity-settled) and phantom share option awards (cash-settled) as a form of retention 
and incentive compensation. Employees may receive equity share option awards to purchase Common Shares at a price 
equal to, or a multiple of, the fair market value at the time of grant. Share option awards granted under the plan may be 
exercised over specific periods not to exceed ten years from the time of grant, however equity settled awards may not be 
exercised and settled prior to the completion of an initial public offering, or other liquidity event, by TELUS International 
(Cda) Inc. Phantom share option awards can be exercised 50% upon vesting and the 50% prior to the completion of an 
initial public offering, or other liquidity event.  We apply the fair value method of accounting for share-based compensation 
awards.  

Equity share option awards are expected to have a three to five year vesting period (the requisite service period); 
equity share option awards granted in fiscal 2017 had a four-year vesting period and equity share options granted in 
fiscal 2018 have a three-year vesting period. The vesting method of equity share option awards, which is determined on 
or before the date of grant, is cliff-vesting. Equity share option awards have a variable payout (0%-100%) depending 
upon our financial performance and non-market quality-of-service performance conditions. 

Phantom share option awards are accounted for as liability instruments and the associated liability is cash-settled. 
Some phantom share option awards vest immediately upon award and reflect notional exercise prices equal to the fair 
market value at the date of grant, but are not fully exercisable until certain non-vesting conditions have been met. Phantom 
share option awards which do not immediately vest, do so over periods of four years. Phantom share options reflect 
notional exercise prices equal to, or a multiple of, the fair market value at the date of grant and have a variable payout (0%-
100%) depending upon our financial performance and non-market quality-of-service performance conditions. 

The risk-free interest rate used in determining the fair value of the share option awards is based on a Government of 
Canada yield curve that is current at the time of grant. The expected lives of the share option awards are based on 
management’s best estimate of certain non-vesting conditions being achieved. Similarly, expected volatility considers the 
historical volatility in the observable prices of our peers’ shares. The dividend yield is the annualized dividend current at 
the time of grant divided by the share option award exercise price. Dividends are not paid on unexercised share option 
awards and are not subject to vesting. 

The following table presents a summary of the activity related to our share option plan. 
 U.S.$ denominated  Canadian $ denominated 
 Number of restricted 

stock units 
 

Grant-date fair 
value1 

 Number of restricted 
stock units 

 

Grant-date fair 
value2 

    
 Non-vested  Vested   Non-vested  Vested  

Outstanding, January 1, 2018  747,454   —  $ 30.12   —   53,822  $ 21.36  
Granted 111,281  —  $ 27.81   —   —   —  

Outstanding, December 31, 2018  858,735   —  $ 29.83   —   53,822  $ 21.36  
Granted 136,078  —  $ 38.09   —   —   —  

Outstanding, December 31, 2019 994,813  —  $ 31.11  —   53,822  $ 21.36  

1 For options outstanding at the end of the period, the exercise prices ranged from $15.94 to $40.26. The weighted-average remaining expected life was 7.7 
years. 

2 For options outstanding at the end of the period, the exercise prices is Canadian $21.36. The weighted-average remaining expected life was 6.5 years. 
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10 employee future benefits 
We have a number of registered retirement and defined contribution plans providing pension and other retirement and 
post-employment benefits to our employees. We have a small number of Canadian-sited employees who participate in 
defined benefit plans, and such plans share risks between TELUS Corporation and its subsidiaries (see Note 19(a)). 
Disclosure about these defined benefit plans, as a whole, is made in the publicly-available TELUS Corporation 
consolidated financial statements.  

Defined contribution pension plans  
We offer two defined contribution pension plans, which are contributory, and these are the pension plans that we 
sponsor and are available to our employees. Employees, annually, can generally choose to contribute to the plans at a 
rate of between 3% and 6% of their pensionable earnings. Generally, we match 100% of the contributions of employees 
up to 5% of their pensionable earnings and 80% of employee contributions greater than that. Membership in a defined 
contribution pension plan is generally voluntary until an employee’s third-year service anniversary. In the event that 
annual contributions exceed allowable maximums, excess amounts are in certain cases contributed to a non-registered 
supplementary defined contribution pension plan. Our total defined contribution pension plan costs recognized in 
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $0.3 million (December 31, 2018 - $0.3 million). 

Other retirement benefit plans  
In addition to the aforementioned plans, we have non-registered, non-contributory supplementary retirement benefit 
plans, which have the effect of maintaining the earned pension benefit once the allowable maximums in the registered 
plans are attained. As is common with non-registered plans of this nature, these plans are typically funded only as 
benefits are paid. Our total retirement benefit plan pension plan costs recognized in comprehensive income for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 was $1.9 million (December 31, 2018 - $0.8 million). As at December 31, 2019, we had 
recorded an obligation of $8.8 million (December 31, 2018 - $3.7 million) in respect of these plans in Provisions in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

11 restructuring and other costs 

(a) Details of restructuring and other costs 
With the objective of reducing ongoing costs, we incur associated incremental restructuring costs outside of the normal 
course of business, as discussed further in (b) following. We may also incur atypical charges when undertaking major or 
transformational changes to our business or operating models. We also include incremental external costs incurred in 
connection with business acquisitions in other costs. 

Restructuring and other costs are presented in the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive 
income as set out in the following table: 

 

 Restructuring (b)  Other (c)  Total 

Years ending December 31  (millions) 2019  2018  2019  2018  2019  2018 

Goods and services purchased $ 3.0   $ 0.1   $ 2.8   $ 0.5   $ 5.8   $ 0.6  
Employee benefits expense  0.3    3.1    —    —    0.3    3.1  

 $ 3.3   $ 3.2   $ 2.8   $ 0.5   $ 6.1   $ 3.7  

(b) Restructuring cost 
Employee related restructuring costs include amounts in respect of restructuring activities. In 2019, restructuring activities 
consisted of ongoing and incremental efficiency initiatives, including personnel-related costs and rationalization of real 
estate. These initiatives were intended to improve our long-term operating productivity and competitiveness. 

(c) Other 
Atypical business integration expenditures that would be considered neither restructuring costs nor part of the fair value 
of the net assets acquired have been included in other costs. 
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12 property, plant and equipment 
 

 Owners Assets  

Right-of-
use lease 

assets 
(Note 2a)   

 
(millions)                                                         Note  

Computer 
hardware 

and network 
assets 

Buildings and 
leasehold 

improvements 

Furniture 
and 

equipment  
Assets under 
construction Total  Buildings  Total 

At cost             
As at January 1, 2018 $ 31.5   $ 60.4   $ 95.7   $ 13.9  $ 201.5   $ —   $  201.5  
Additions  1.9    3.8    8.9    27.7   42.3               —              42.3  
Additions from Acquisition  —     1.7    0.8             —  2.5               —              2.5  
Dispositions retirements and other  —     (1.1)   (5.5)           (0.3)  (6.9)              —   (6.9) 
Assets under construction put into service  3.9     5.4    9.0          (18.3)  —               —   —  
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (0.1)   (1.2)           (2.0)              —  (3.3)              —   (3.3) 
As at December 31, 2018  37.2    69.0    106.9    23.0   236.1               —   236.1  

IFRS 16, Leases transitional amount  —    —    —    —   —    138.4    138.4  
As at January 1, 2019, as adjusted  37.2    69.0    106.9    23.0   236.1    138.4    374.5  
Additions  0.9    1.8    8.2    47.1    58.0    68.2    126.2  
Dispositions retirements and other  (15.8)   (12.7)   17.8    (4.6)  (15.3)   (2.3)   (17.6) 
Assets under construction put into service  10.4    19.9    23.1    (53.4)  —               —   —  
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (0.4)   (0.2)           (0.8)   (0.9)  (2.3)   (1.8)   (4.1) 
As at December 31, 2019 $ 32.3   $ 77.8   $ 155.2   $ 11.2  $ 276.5   $ 202.5   $ 479.0  

Accumulated depreciation             

As at January 1, 2018  16.0    26.6    55.4    —    98.0               —              98.0  

Depreciation  2.9    7.0    21.4    —    31.3               —              31.3  

Dispositions retirements and other  —     (1.1)  (5.1)   —    (6.2)              —   (6.2) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  —     (1.1)   (1.1)   —    (2.2)              —     (2.2) 
As at December 31, 2018  18.9    31.4    70.6    —   120.9    —    120.9  

Depreciation  6.2    10.0    22.0    —   38.2    34.9    73.1  

Dispositions retirements and other    (9.2)   (13.5)   7.1    —    (15.6)   (0.3)   (15.9) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments    0.3    (0.1)           (0.2)   —    —    (0.1)   (0.1) 

As at December 31, 2019 $ 16.2   $ 27.8   $ 99.5   $ —  $ 143.5   $ 34.5   $ 178.0 

Net Book Value             

As at December 31, 2018 $ 18.3   $ 37.6   $ 36.3   $ 23.0  $ 115.2   $          —  $ 115.2 

As at December 31, 2019 $ 16.1   $ 50.0   $ 55.7   $ 11.2  $ 133.0   $ 168.0   $ 301.0 

      

  

 

  



TELUS CONFIDENTIAL 
 

notes to consolidated financial statements (US$)                                  

 

 

   December 31, 2019 | 27 

13 intangible assets and goodwill 

(a) Intangible assets and goodwill, net 
  Intangible assets subject to amortization     

(millions)  Note 

Customer 
contracts and 

related 
customer 

relationships Software  

Assets 
under 

construction  

Total 
intangible 

assets  Goodwill  

Total 
intangible 

assets and 
goodwill 

At cost             
As at January 1, 2018  $ 32.6   $ 25.1   $ 0.3   $ 58.0   $ 228.8   $ 286.8  
Additions    —     1.3     6.9    8.2     —    8.2  
Additions from acquisition   80.2              0.8   0.3    81.3    195.7    277.0  
Dispositions, retirements, and other   (2.9)   (0.6)   —     (3.5)    —     (3.5) 
Assets under construction put into service   —    1.0    (1.0)    —     —     —  
Foreign currency translation adjustments   (1.3)    (0.3)    —    (1.6)   (3.3)   (4.9) 
As at December 31, 2018   108.6    27.3    6.5    142.4    421.2    563.6  
Additions   —    0.6     4.2    4.8    —    4.8  
Dispositions, retirements, and other   (0.1)    (1.5)    —    (1.6)   —    (1.6) 
Assets under construction put into service   —    7.0    (7.0)    —     —     —  
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (0.5)   (0.2)    —    (0.7)    (2.8)    (3.5) 

As at December 31, 2019  $ 108.0   $ 33.2   $ 3.7   $ 144.9   $ 418.4   $ 563.3  

Accumulated amortization             
As at January 1, 2018  $ 5.1   $ 17.9   $ —   $ 23.0   $ —   $ 23.0  
Amortization   14.7    3.5    —    18.2    —    18.2  
Dispositions, retirements, and other   (2.9)   (0.5)   —    (3.4)   —    (3.4) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments            (0.1)            (0.1)   —              (0.2)   —    (0.2) 
As at December 31, 2018   16.8    20.8    —    37.6    —    37.6  
Amortization   14.9    4.2    —    19.1    —    19.1  
Dispositions, retirements, and other   —    (1.3)   —    (1.3)   —    (1.3) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments   (0.2)   —    —    (0.2)   —    (0.2) 

As at December 31, 2019  $ 31.5   $ 23.7   $ —   $ 55.2   $ —   $ 55.2  

Net book value             

As at December 31, 2018  $ 91.8   $ 6.5   $ 6.5   $ 104.8   $ 421.2   $ 526.0  

As at December 31, 2019  $   76.5   $ 9.5   $ 3.7   $ 89.7   $ 418.4   $ 508.1  

(b) Impairment testing of goodwill 
 

General 
As referred to in Note 1(g), the carrying values of goodwill are periodically tested for impairment and, as referred to in 
Note 1(c), this test represents a significant estimate for us as well as requiring significant judgments to be made.  
 

The recoverable amounts of the business have been determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation. There is a material degree of uncertainty with respect to the estimates of the recoverable amounts, given the 
necessity of making key economic assumptions about the future.  

We validate our recoverable amount calculation results through a market-comparable approach and an analytical 
review of industry facts and facts that are specific to us. That is, we estimate the recoverable amount using multiples of 
operating performance of comparable entities and precedent transactions in that industry.  

Annual impairment testing  
For purposes of testing goodwill for impairment (as noted in Note 1(c)) each geographic area in which we operate is 
insufficiently distinct, making it impractical to objectively distinguish the cash flows of each region and as such, is not 
considered to be an individual cash generating unit. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, we did not recognize an impairment charge related to our goodwill (2018 - 

$NIL). The recoverable amount that was used in our goodwill impairment testing was based on the fair value of our 

common shares, as represented by the fair value of TELUS International Cda phantom RSUs granted (See Note 9(a)).  
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(c) Business acquisition – subsequent to reporting period  
 

Competence Call Center 
On December 4, 2019, we announced that we had entered into an agreement to acquire 100% of Competence Call 
Center for approximately $1.0 billion (€905.3 million), less debt assumed and subject to customary closing conditions, 
including regulatory approvals. Competence Call Center, is a provider of higher-value-added business services with a 
focus on customer relationship management and content moderation. Subsequently, the requisite regulatory approvals 
were obtained and the transaction closed on January 31, 2020. 

As of February 19, 2020, our initial estimate of acquisition-date fair values are set out as following:  
Preliminary estimate1 of acquisition-date fair values (millions)      

Assets     Liabilities and consideration    

Intangible assets   $        574.0  Net debt   $      120.0 

Goodwill   605.3   Deferred income taxes   189.4    

Tangible assets   4.5      309.4    

     Consideration    

     Cash 2   874.4    

   $     1,183.8     $   1,183.8 

1 As is customary in a business acquisition transaction, until the time of acquisition of control, we do not have full access to the books and records of 
the acquired business. Upon having sufficient time to review the books and records of the acquired business, as well as obtaining new and 
additional information about the related facts and circumstances as of the acquisition date, we will adjust the provisional amounts for identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed and thus finalize our purchase price allocation. 

2 Concurrent with this business acquisition, for both the purchase of shares and to advance funds to repay third-party debt, we drew an incremental 
$714.0 million on our credit facility (as described further in Note 16(e)) and issued shares to non-controlling interests for cash consideration of 
approximately $158.7 million. 
 

14 leases 
See Note 2(a) for details of significant changes to IFRS-IASB which have been applied effective January 1, 2019. 

We have the right-of-use buildings under leases. We use these real estate leases for office purposes.  
Judgments about lease terms are determinative of the measurement of right-of-use lease assets and their associated 
lease liabilities. Our judgment of lease terms for leased real estate includes periods covered by options to extend the 
lease terms, as we are reasonably certain to extend such leases.  

Maturity analyses of lease liabilities are set out in Note 4(c) and Note 16(d); the period interest expense in respect thereof 
is set out in Note 6. The additions to, the depreciation charges for, and the carrying amount of, right-of-use lease assets are 
set out in Note 12. The payments are set out in Note 20(d). We have not currently elected to exclude low-value and short-
term leases from lease accounting.  
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15 provisions 
 

(millions)   Note  
Employee 

related  
Written put 

options  Other  Total 

As at January 1, 2018     $ 5.1   $ 64.9   $ —   $ 70.0  
Additions      0.2            —    —     0.2  
Use     —             —    (10.0)   (10.0)  
Reversal     —    (12.6)   —    (12.6)  
Additions from acquisition      2.0   145.5    16.5    164.0   
Interest effect      —    7.9    —    7.9  
Foreign currency translation adjustments       —    (3.0)   —    (3.0) 

As at December 31, 2018      7.3    202.7    6.5    216.5  
Additions      6.7    0.1    10.2     17.0   
Use      (0.6)   (50.1)   (5.2)   (55.9) 
Reversal      —    (12.2)   (1.3)    (13.5) 
Interest effect      —    8.3    0.1    8.4  
Foreign currency translation adjustments      0.1    (1.8)   —    (1.7) 

As at December 31, 2019     $ 13.5   $ 147.0   $ 10.3   $ 170.8  

Current      —    —    10.3    10.3  
Non-current      13.5    147.0    —    160.5  

As at December 31, 2019     $ 13.5   $ 147.0   $ 10.3   $ 170.8  

Employee related  
The employee related provisions are largely in respect of statutory obligations due to staff departures and retirements. 
The timing of the cash outflows in respect of the balance accrued as at the financial statement date will occur over an 
indeterminate period.  

Written put options 
In connection with two business acquisitions we established a provision for written put options in respect of non-
controlling interests. In December 2019, $50.8 million cash was paid to acquire the remaining non-controlling interest in 
Voxpro Limited, resulting in $2.2 million gain being recognized in Other operating income. No cash outflows for the 
remaining written put option outstanding at December 31, 2019, are expected prior to the initial exercisability in 2021. During 
the year ended December 31, 2019 there was a $10.0 million (2018 – $12.6 million – Voxpro Limited) reversal of the 
established provision related to the acquisition of Xavient Digital LLC, which is recorded in Other operating income in the 
consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income. 

Other  
We received from an escrow account created in connection with the Xavient acquisition $10.0 million of cash to be held 
in trust and disbursed to fund expenses incurred in connection with a claim made inter alia against Xavient Digital LLC     
Note 18(b). There is material uncertainty surrounding the settlement of this claim and as such we have established a 
provision in respect of the amounts owing back to the sellers. 

We had established a provision for contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Xavient Digital LLC, of which 
$5.2 million was paid out during the year. There was a $1.3 million reversal of the established provision, which is 
recorded in other operating income in the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income. 
 

16 long-term debt 

(a) Details of long-term debt 
As at December 31 (millions)   Note     2019    2018 

Credit facility  (b)  $ 335.5   $ 312.5  
Deferred debt transaction costs      (3.7)   (4.9) 
      331.8    307.6  
Lease liabilities   (d)   188.7    0.4  

Long-term debt     $ 520.5   $ 308.0  

Current      $ 42.8   $ 6.0  
Non-current      477.7    302.0  

Long-term debt     $ 520.5   $ 308.0  
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(b) Credit facility 
As at December 31 (millions) 2019  2018 

 
Revolving 
component  

Term loan 
component 1  Total  

Revolving 
component  

Term loan 
component  Total 

Available $ 121.0   $ N/A   $ 121.0   $ 150.0   $ N/A   $ 150.0  
Outstanding  229.0    106.5    335.5    200.0    112.5    312.5  

 $ 350.0   $ 106.5   $ 456.5   $ 350.0   $ 112.5   $ 462.5  
 

1 We have entered into a receive-floating interest rate, pay-fixed interest rate exchange agreement that effectively converts our interest obligations on 
the debt to a fixed rate of 2.64% plus applicable margins. 

 
As at December 31, 2019, we had a $456.5 million bank credit facility (December 31, 2018 – $462.5 million), secured by 
our assets, expiring on December 20, 2022, with a syndicate of financial institutions. The credit facility is comprised of a 
revolving $350.0 million (December 31, 2018 – $350.0 million) component and a $106.5 million (December 31, 2018 – 
$112.5 million) term loan component. The credit facility is non-recourse to TELUS Corporation. As at December 31, 
2019, $335.5 million was outstanding with a weighted average interest rate of 3.25% (December 31, 2018 – 4.22%). 

The credit facility bears interest at prime rate, U.S. Dollar Base Rate, a bankers’ acceptance rate or London 
interbank offered rate (LIBOR) (as such terms are used or defined in the credit facility), plus applicable margins. The 
credit facility contains customary representations, warranties and covenants, including two quarter-end financial ratio 

tests: the net debt to EBITDA* – excluding restructuring and other costs, must not exceed 3.25:1.00, and our EBITDA to 
debt service charges (interest and scheduled principal repayment) ratio which must not be less than 1.50:1.00, each as 
defined under the credit facility. If an acquisition with an aggregate cash consideration in excess of $60 million occurs in 
any twelve month period, the maximum permitted net debt to EBITDA ratio may be increased to 4.00:1.00 and shall 
return to 3.25:1.00 after six fiscal quarters. 

As at December 30, 2019, we were in compliance with all financial covenants, financial ratios and all of the terms 
and conditions of our long-term debt agreements. 

The term loan is subject to an amortization schedule requiring that 1.25% of the principal advanced be repaid each 
quarter throughout the term of the agreement, with the balance due at maturity. 

As at December 30, 2019, we had liquidity of $121.0 million available under the revolving component of our credit 
facility (December 31, 2018 - $150.0 million), and $2.2 million (December 31, 2018 - $0.8 million) available under local 
credit facilities in our subsidiaries.  

(c) Lease liabilities 
See Note 2(a) for details of significant changes to IFRS-IASB which have been applied effective January 1, 2019. 

Leases are subject to amortization schedules, which results in the principal being repaid over various periods, 
including reasonably expected renewals. The weighted average interest rate on lease liabilities was approximately 
7.07% as at December 31, 2019  

                                                      
* EBITDA does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS-IASB and is therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by 
other issuers; we define EBITDA as operating revenues less goods and services purchased and employee benefits expense. We have issued guidance 
on, and report, EBITDA because it is a key measure that management uses to evaluate the performance of our business, and it is also utilized in 
measuring compliance with certain debt covenants. 
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(d) Long-term debt maturities 
Anticipated requirements to meet long-term debt repayments, calculated upon such long-term debts owing as at 
December 31, 2019, are as follows: 

Composite long-term debt       

Years ending December 31 (millions) 

    Long-term 
debt, excluding 

leases 

 

Leases 

 

Total  
   

  
2020       6.0      36.9     42.9   
2021       6.0      35.3     41.3  
2022       323.5      28.1      351.6   
2023       —      27.1      27.1   
2024       —      16.5      16.5  
2025-2029      —       32.2      32.2   
Thereafter      —       12.6      12.6   

Future cash outflows in respect of composite long-term debt principal repayments    335.5      188.7      524.2  

Future cash outflows in respect of associated interest and like carrying costs 1    26.7      46.7      73.4   

Undiscounted contractual maturities (Note 4(c))     $  362.2    $  235.4    $  597.6   
 

1 Future cash outflows in respect of associated interest and like carrying costs for amounts drawn under our credit facilities (if any) have been calculated based 
upon the rates in effect at December 31, 2019.  

(e) Subsequent Events 
In connection with the acquisition of Competence Call Center subsequent to December 31, 2019, as discussed 

further in Note 13(c), incremental amounts of $714.0 million were drawn on the facility. Concurrently, the bank credit 
facility was amended, with an expiry date of January 28, 2025, the revolving and amortizing term loan components were 
each increased to $600.0 million and TELUS Corporation (as 12.5% lender) joined the lending syndicate. The quarter-
end net debt to operating cash flow financial ratio test was amended such that the ratio must not exceed: 4.75:1.00 
during fiscal 2020; 4.25:1.00 during fiscal 2021; and 3.50:1.00 subsequently. The quarter-end operating cash flow to debt 
service financial ratio test was unchanged, as was the term loan component remaining subject to an amortization 
schedule which requires that 5% of the principal advanced be repaid each year of the term of the agreement, with the 
balance due at maturity.  

 
 

17 share capital 

(a) Authorized share capital 
Our authorized and issued share capital is as follows: 

 Authorized Issued 

As at December 31 2019 2018  2019 2018 

Preferred Shares        
Convertible Redeemable Preferred A Shares unlimited  unlimited   —   —  
Convertible Redeemable Preferred B Shares unlimited  unlimited   —   —  

Common Shares       
Class A unlimited  unlimited  26,836,110  26,836,110  
Class B unlimited  unlimited  14,500,290  14,500,290  
Class C unlimited  unlimited   93,000   93,000  
Class D unlimited  unlimited   722,021   722,021  

 
The Convertible Redeemable Preferred A Shares are redeemable at Cdn$10,000 per share and are convertible by us 
into Class A Common Shares having the same fair value at the time of conversion. The Convertible Redeemable 
Preferred B Shares are redeemable at Cdn$1,000 per share and are convertible by us into Class A Common Shares 
having the same fair value at the time of conversion. 

Class A Common Shares are entitled to 1.0001 vote per Class A Common Share; Class B Common Shares are 
entitled to one vote per Class B Common Share; Class C common shares are entitled to 1.0002 vote per Class C 
Common Share; and Class D Common Shares are non-voting. The Class A Common Shares are convertible, at any 
time, at the option of the holder and without payment of additional consideration, into Class C Common Shares on a one-
for-one basis. Each class of Common Shares have an unlimited dividend entitlement without a corresponding dividend 
on another class of Common Shares. 



TELUS CONFIDENTIAL 
 

notes to consolidated financial statements (US$)                                                  

 

 

32 | December 31, 2019  

With respect to priority in the distribution of assets in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, whether 
voluntary or involuntary, or any other distribution of our assets among our shareholders for the purpose of winding up our 
affairs, preferences are as follows:  
· Convertible Redeemable Preferred A Shares in priority to all classes of Common Shares and on par with the 

Convertible Redeemable Preferred B Shares;  
· Convertible Redeemable Preferred B Shares in priority to all classes of Common Shares and on par with the 

Convertible Redeemable Preferred A Shares;  
· Class A Common Shares, Class B Common Shares, Class C Common Shares, Class D Common Shares rank pari-

passu 
On December 31, 2019, Management purchased 18,852 Class C Shares from TELUS Communications Inc. 
       As at December 31, 2019, there were 373 (December 31, 2018 – 44,063) Class C shares, owned by TELUS 
Corporation, reserved for issuance for the share option plan (see Note 9(b)).  

As at December 31, 2019, TELUS International is holding 108,303 Class D shares issued to Xavient Information 
Systems Holdings LLC in escrow (see Notes 15 and 18).  

On February 6, 2018, as part of the close of the Xavient acquisition, 541,516 Class D Common Shares were 
issued with a fair value of $15 million (see Note 13(b)).  

Also on February 6, 2018, 929,110 Class A Common Shares, worth $25.7 million, were issued to TELUS 
Corporation, offsetting an existing intercompany advance, and 500,290 Class B Common Shares were issued to 
Baring Private Equity Asia for cash proceeds of $13.9 million.  

On February 12, 2018, 180,505 Class D Common Shares were issued to a company controlled by a member of 
our Senior Leadership Team for cash proceeds totaling $5 million. These shares were subsequently repurchased 
by TELUS on November 29, 2019. 

On January 29, 2020, concurrent with the acquisition of Competence Call Center (Note 13(c)), we issued 
3,260,580.2 Class A Common Shares and 50,000 Class C Common Shares to our controlling shareholder for 
$126.1 million and 1,782,620.1 Class B Common Shares to our non-controlling shareholder, Baring Private Equity, 
for cash proceeds of $67.9 million. The proceeds from these share issuances were used to finance the acquisition 
(See Note 13(c)). In addition we issued 1,249,791 shares to a third party for proceeds of 69.8 million Euro. 

(b) Per share amounts 
Basic net income per Common Share is calculated by dividing net income attributable to Common Shares by the total 
weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per Common Share is 
calculated to give effect to share option awards and restricted share units.  

The following table presents reconciliations of the denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations. Net 
income was equal to diluted net income for all periods presented. 
 

Years ended December 31       2019 2018 

Basic total weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding      42,151,421   41,931,848  
Effect of dilutive securities        
 Share option awards      139,801  89,310  

Diluted total weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding      42,291,222  42,021,159  
 
 

18 contingent liabilities 

(a) Indemnification obligations  
In the normal course of operations, we provide indemnification in conjunction with certain transactions. The terms of 
these indemnification obligations range in duration. These indemnifications would require us to compensate the 
indemnified parties for costs incurred as a result of failure to comply with contractual obligations or litigation claims or 
statutory sanctions or damages that may be suffered by an indemnified party. In some cases, there is no maximum limit 
on these indemnification obligations. The overall maximum amount of an indemnification obligation will depend on future 
events and conditions and therefore cannot be reasonably estimated. Where appropriate, an indemnification obligation is 
recorded as a liability. Other than obligations recorded as liabilities at the time of such transactions, historically we have 
not made significant payments under these indemnifications. 

As at December 31, 2019, we had no liability recorded in respect of indemnification obligations 
(December 31, 2018 - $NIL). 
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(b) Claims and lawsuits 
A class action was filed in the United States District Court-Southern District of California against TransUnion and us. 
Rental Screening Solutions Inc. alleged that the plaintiff’s privacy rights were violated due to the recording of certain 
cellular phone conversations without the plaintiff’s knowledge or consent. A Court supported mediation was held on 
March 23, 2018, during which the parties agreed to settle the class action. The settlement received final Court approval 
on May 9, 2019 and the settlement payments were made in August 2019. 

On December 12, 2018, a claim was filed against Xavient Digital LLC and the prior owners of Xavient by a former 
customer of Xavient. Five of the nine claims against Xavient Digital LLC were successfully defeated during a hearing in 
June 2019 and October 2019.  Subsequently, the defendants submitted several forms of written discovery to the Plaintiff. 
In addition, Defendants moved for summary judgment to defeat the remaining claims which will be with a trial date set for 
April 2020. Management believes that the ultimate resolution of this claim and legal proceeding is unlikely to have a 
material effect on our financial statements. The amount of any loss is not estimable, is protected by indemnity and funds 
released from escrow and in the custody of TELUS International. No provision for litigation has been recorded as of 
December 31, 2019, in connection with this claim. 

19 related party transactions 

(a) Transactions with TELUS Corporation 
 

General 
TELUS Corporation produces consolidated financial statements available for public use and is the ultimate parent 
and controlling party of TELUS International (Cda) Inc. 

Recurring transactions 
TELUS Corporation and its subsidiaries receive contact centre, integrated business process and information 
technology outsourcing services from, and provide services (including people, network, finance, communications, 
and regulatory) to us.  

Certain number of our employees also participate in TELUS Corporation share-based compensation plans. 
TELUS Corporation charges these amounts to us at cost, net of hedging effects where applicable. 

We also participate in defined benefit pension plans that share risks between TELUS Corporation and its 
subsidiaries.  
 

As at, or year ended December 31 (millions) 2019  2018 

 

TELUS 
Corporation 

(parent)  

Subsidiaries of 
TELUS 

Corporation  Total  

TELUS 
Corporation 

(parent)  

Subsidiaries of 
TELUS 

Corporation  Total 

Transactions with TELUS Corporation 
and subsidiaries            

Revenues from services provided to $  —   $  267.7   $ 267.7   $  —   $  203.2   $  203.2  
Goods and services purchased (from)   —     (4.9)   (4.9)   —     (5.4)   (5.4) 

  —     262.8    262.8    —     197.8    197.8  

Receipts from related parties  (0.2)    (251.3)   (251.5)                —   (199.3)   (199.3) 
Payments to related parties  27.3    —     27.3              19.4   —    19.4  
Payments made by related parties on our behalf  (26.1)   (9.5)   (35.6)            (15.0)   (12.1)   (27.1) 
Issuance of Common A Shares  —     —    —     25.7    —    25.7  
Foreign currency adjustments  0.1    —    0.1           0.7    (0.3)               0.4 

Change in balance  1.1    2.0    3.1     30.8   (13.9)             16.9 

Accounts with TELUS Corporation 
and subsidiaries            

Balance, beginning of period  1.9       (0.8)  1.1              (28.9)   13.1      (15.8) 

Balance, end of period $ 3.0   $ 1.2   $ 4.2   $           1.9  $ (0.8)  $ 1.1  

Accounts with TELUS Corporation 
and subsidiaries      

 
     

Due from $ 3.0   $ 27.2   $ 30.2   $ 3.1   $ 18.3   $ 21.4  
Due to  —     (26.0)   (26.0)        (1.2)   (19.1)   (20.3) 

 $ 3.0   $ 1.2    $ 4.2     $          1.9  $ (0.8)  $ 1.1  

 

In the consolidated statement of financial position, amounts due from affiliates and amounts due to affiliates are 
generally due 30 days from billing and are cash-settled on a gross basis. 
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On January 29, 2020, concurrent with the acquisition of Competence Call Center (Note 13(c)), we issued 
3,260,580.2 Class A Common Shares and 50,000 Class C Common The proceeds from these share issuances 
were used to finance the acquisition (See Note 13(c)).  

On February 6, 2018, 929,110 Class A Common Shares, with a fair value of $25.7 million, were issued to TELUS 
Corporation, applied against an existing intercompany advance. 

(b) Transactions with Baring Private Equity Asia 
 

General 
Baring Private Equity Asia exercises significant influence on TELUS International (Cda) Inc.  

Recurring transactions 
As at, and during the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no balances due to, due from, or recurring 
transactions with Baring Private Equity Asia. 

Non-recurring transaction 
On January 29, 2020, concurrent with the acquisition of Competence Call Center (Note 13(c)), we issued 

1,782,620.1 Class B Common Shares to our non-controlling shareholder, Baring Private Equity, for cash proceeds 
of $67.9 million. The proceeds from these share issuances were used to finance the acquisition (See Note 13(c)).  
During the year, Baring Private Equity Asia reimbursed us $0.3 million in external advisory fees we incurred in 
connection with an acquisition project that was eventually assumed by Baring.  

On February 6, 2018, 500,290 Class B Common Shares were issued to Baring Private Equity Asia for cash 
proceeds totalling $13.9 million. 

20 additional financial information 

(a) Statements of income and other comprehensive income 
 

We have two customers which accounts for more than 10% of our operating revenues for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 (2018 – two); TELUS Corporation and its affiliates account for approximately 25% of our 
revenue (2018 – 24%); and one arm’s-length party accounts for approximately 11% (2018 – one arm’s-length party 
accounted for approximately 11%). 

(b) Statements of financial position 
 

As at December 31 (millions)   Note   2019 2018 

Accounts receivable       
Customer accounts receivable 4(b)  $ 109.8   $ 82.3  
Accrued receivables – customer     57.0    53.0  
Allowance for doubtful accounts 4(b)   (1.8)   (2.9) 

    165.0    132.4  
Accrued receivables – current     11.6    4.7  

   $ 176.6   $ 137.1  

Other long-term assets      
Accrued receivables – non-current   $ 25.8   $ 14.9  
Deferred expenses    1.0    0.8  

   $ 26.8   $ 15.7  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities       
Accrued liabilities   $ 34.7   $ 42.7  
Payroll and other employee related liabilities    58.3    45.4  
Restricted stock units liability    9.5    8.1  

    102.5    96.2  
Trade accounts payable    20.3    9.2  
Other    29.4    10.3  

   $ 152.2   $ 115.7  
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(c) Statements of cash flows – operating activities and investing activities 
 

Years ended December 31 (millions)     Note   2019 2018 

Net change in non-cash operating working capital          
Accounts receivable       $ (38.0)  $ (33.1) 
Due to and from affiliated companies, net        (3.1)   8.8  
Prepaid expenses        (4.0)   1.1  
Other long-term assets        (11.1)   (0.6) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities        25.0    3.7  
Income and other taxes receivable and payable, net        0.4    (3.4) 
Advance billings and customer deposits        (9.5)   9.6  
Provisions        11.9    —  
Other long-term liabilities       0.2     —   

       $ (28.2)  $ (13.9) 

Cash payments for capital assets          
Capital asset additions          
 Capital expenditures          
 Property, plant and equipment      12  $ (126.2)  $ (42.3) 
 Intangible assets      13   (4.8)   (8.2) 

        (131.0)   (50.5) 
     Additions arising from leases      12   68.2   —    

          

Change in associated non-cash investing working capital        10.1    3.0  

       $ (52.7)  $ (47.5) 

(d) Changes from financing activities 

  
 

 
 

  Statements of cash flows  
Non-cash 
changes   

(millions) 

As 
previously 
reported 

 IFRS 16, 
Leases 

transitional 
amount     

(Note 2(a)) 

 

As 
adjusted  

Issued or 
received  

Redemptions, 
repayments or 

payments  Other  
End of 
period 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019  
 

 
 

         

Long-term debt              

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. credit 
facility $ 312.5  

 
$ —  

 
$ 312.5   $ 72.0   $ (49.0)  $ —   $ 335.5  

Lease liabilities  0.4    154.3    154.7    —    (47.0)   81.0    188.7  

Deferred debt transaction costs  (4.9)   —    (4.9)   —    —    1.2    (3.7) 

 $ 308.0   $ 154.3   $ 462.3   $ 72.0   $ (96.0)  $ 82.2   $ 520.5  

Short-term borrowings $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 0.6   $      (0.6)  $ —   $ —  

 

     Statements of cash flows  
Non-cash 
changes   

(millions)   
Beginning 
of period  

Issued or 
received  

Redemptions, 
repayments or 

payments  Other  
End of 
period 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018            

Long-term debt            

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. credit facility   $ 275.6   $ 75.0   $ (38.1)  $ —   $ 312.5  

Deferred debt transaction costs    (6.1)   —    (0.5)   1.7    (4.9) 

Voxpro Limited long-term debt    0.8    —    —    (0.4)   0.4  
   $ 270.3   $ 75.0   $ (38.6)  $ 1.3   $ 308.0  

Short-term borrowings            

Xavient promissory note   $ —   $ 10.0   $ (10.0)  $ —   $ —  

Additions from acquisition     —    —    (4.6)   4.6    —  

   $ —   $ 10.0   $ (14.6)  $ 4.6   $ —  

Intercompany advances            
Received from TELUS Corporation   $ 26.2   $ —   $ —   $ (26.2)  $ —  



TELUS CONFIDENTIAL 
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(e) Geographical information 

Years ended December 31 (millions)       2019 2018 

Revenues by geographic area        
Asia     $ 328.6   $ 268.3  
Europe      222.8    213.1  
North America      273.0    193.0  
Central America      209.8    172.8  

     $ 1,034.2   $ 847.2  

Net long-lived assets1 by geographic area        
Asia     $ 119.1   $ 46.3  
Europe      99.9    48.1  
North America      512.0    498.0  
Central America      78.1    48.8  

     $ 809.1   $ 641.2  

1 Includes Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible assets and Goodwill.  

 































































































 

 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of TELUS International (Cda) Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of

December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income, changes in owner's equity, and cash flows, for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the

financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its

operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

 

Basis for Opinion

 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial

statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)

and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of

the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor

were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and

performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating

the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 

Critical Audit Matter

 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to

be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our

especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial

statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on

the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

 

Valuation of Intangible Assets Acquired – Refer to Note 13(c) to the financial statements

 

Critical Audit Matter Description

 

The Company completed business combinations of Competence Call Center (“CCC”) and the data annotation business of Lionbridge Technologies, Inc.

(“Lionbridge AI”) and recognized the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values, including intangible assets for customer

relationships and a crowdsource asset. The fair value measurement of these intangible assets required management to make significant estimates and

assumptions in forecasting future cash flows.

 

 F-1  



 

 

While there are many estimates and assumptions that management makes to determine the fair value of the customer relationships acquired for both CCC and

Lionbridge AI and the crowdsource asset acquired for Lionbridge AI, the estimates and assumptions with the highest degree of subjectivity are the forecasts of

future revenue arising from existing customers and discount rates used in valuing the customer relationships, and the approximate time to replace the

crowdsourced providers used in valuing the crowdsource asset (“time-to-replace assumption”). Performing audit procedures to evaluate these estimates and

assumptions required a high degree of auditor judgement and an increased extent of audit effort, including the involvement of fair value specialists.

 

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

 

Our audit procedures related to the forecasts of future revenue, discount rates and time-to-replace assumption used to determine the fair value of intangible

assets acquired included the following, among others:

 

Evaluated the effectiveness of controls over the determination of the fair value of customer relationships and the crowdsource asset at the time of

acquisition, including management’s controls over key assumptions used in the valuations.

 

Evaluated the reasonableness of management’s forecasts of future revenue by:

 

o Inspecting contracts with customers to substantiate the existence of legally enforceable contracts in place, as well as inspecting and assessing

management’s business plans to grow revenue with these customers,

 

o Assessing the reasonableness of management’s forecasts of future revenue by comparing the projections to historical results and external

sources, including industry trends and peer companies’ historical data.

 

With the assistance of fair value specialists, evaluated the reasonableness of the discount rates by testing the source information underlying the

determination of the discount rates and by developing a range of independent rates based on industry data and comparing them to the discount rates

used by management.

 

With the assistance of fair value specialists, assessed the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and performed an independent assessment of

the time-to-replace assumption used in valuing the crowdsource asset, including recalculating the approximate value of the crowdsource workforce in

place and performing a sensitivity analysis to substantiate the value of the lost opportunity.

 

 

/s/ Deloitte LLP

 

Chartered Professional Accountants

Licensed Public Accountants

 

Toronto, Canada

February 22, 2021

 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
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TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

 

Consolidated Statements of Income and Other Comprehensive Income

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions except per share amounts)  Note  2020   2019   2018  

REVENUE            

Revenue arising from contracts with customers    $ 1,581.6  $ 1,019.6  $ 834.6 

OPERATING EXPENSES               

Goods and services purchased     299.0   182.9   174.9 

Employee benefits expense  5   979.5   630.4   522.5 

Depreciation  12   99.4   73.1   31.3 

Amortization of intangible assets  13(a)   82.8   19.1   18.2 

     1,460.7   905.5   746.9 

OPERATING INCOME     120.9   114.1   87.7 

               

OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSES               

Changes in business combination-related provisions  15   (73.5)   (14.6)   (12.6)

Interest expense  6   45.4   36.3   23.2 

Foreign exchange (gain) loss  6   (1.5)   (2.6)   8.1 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES     150.5   95.0   69.0 

Income taxes  7   47.6   26.0   21.9 

NET INCOME    $ 102.9  $ 69.0  $ 47.1 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  8             

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to income               

Change in unrealized fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  4(h)   (49.9)   0.1   (0.7)

Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations     124.1   (3.3)   (9.9)

     74.2   (3.2)   (10.6)

Item that will not be subsequently reclassified to income               

Employee defined benefit plan re-measurements     (0.2)   (2.7)   0.5 

     74.0   (5.9)   (10.1)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    $ 176.9  $ 63.1  $ 37.0 

EARNINGS PER SHARE  1(a),17(b)             

Basic    $ 0.46  $ 0.36  $ 0.25 

Diluted    $ 0.46  $ 0.36  $ 0.25 

               

TOTAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES

OUTSTANDING  1(a),17(b)             

Basic     224.2   189.7   188.7 

Diluted     225.5   190.3   189.1 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

 

As at December 31 (millions)  Note  2020   2019  

ASSETS           

Current assets           

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 152.5  $ 79.5 

Accounts receivable  20(b)   303.3   176.6 

Due from affiliated companies  19(a)   49.1   30.2 

Income and other taxes receivable     17.8   10.9 

Prepaid expenses     23.7   27.9 

Current derivative assets  4(g)   1.8   3.3 

     548.2   328.4 

Non-current assets           

Property, plant and equipment, net  12   362.1   301.0 

Intangible assets, net  13   1,294.3   89.7 

Goodwill  13   1,500.0   418.4 

Deferred income taxes  7(b)   6.5   4.7 

Other long-term assets  20(b)   33.7   26.8 

     3,196.6   840.6 

Total assets    $ 3,744.8  $ 1,169.0 

           

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS’ EQUITY           

Current liabilities           

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  20(b)  $ 254.7  $ 152.2 

Due to affiliated companies  19(a)   31.0   26.0 

Income and other taxes payable     101.0   40.6 

Advance billings and customer deposits     7.6   4.0 

Provisions  15   17.4   10.3 

Current maturities of long-term debt  16   92.3   42.8 

Current portion of derivative liabilities  4(g)   1.1   — 

     505.1   275.9 

Non-current liabilities           

Provisions  15   19.7   160.5 

Long-term debt  16   1,673.4   477.7 

Derivative liabilities  4(g)   57.2   3.2 

Deferred income taxes  7(b)   366.2   1.7 

Other long-term liabilities     12.3   4.2 

     2,128.8   647.3 

Total liabilities     2,633.9   923.2 

           

Owners’ equity  17   1,110.9   245.8 

Total liabilities and owners’ equity    $ 3,744.8  $ 1,169.0 

Contingent Liabilities  18         

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 

On behalf of the Board:

 

/s/ Josh Blair  /s/ Olin Anton

Josh Blair  Olin Anton

Chair, Board of Directors  Director

 

 F-4  



 

 

TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Owners’ Equity

 

    Share Capital      Accumulated     

    Common Shares   Retained   other     

(millions except number of shares)  Note  

Number of shares

(Note 1(a))   

Share

capital   

earnings

(deficit)   

comprehensive

income (loss)   Total  

Balance as at January 1, 2018     180,000,000  $ 223.9  $ (155.4)  $ 31.3  $ 99.8 

Net income     —   —   47.1   —   47.1 

Other comprehensive income     —   —   —   (10.1)   (10.1)

Class A common shares—Issued  17   4,180,995   25.7   —   —   25.7 

Class B common shares—Issued  17   2,251,305   13.9   —   —   13.9 

Class D common shares—Issued  17   3,249,094   20.0   —   —   20.0 

Share option awards     —   0.3   —   —   0.3 

Balance as at December 31, 2018     189,681,394  $ 283.8  $ (108.3)  $ 21.2  $ 196.7 

Balance as at January 1, 2019                       

As previously reported     189,681,394  $ 283.8  $ (108.3)  $ 21.2  $ 196.7 

IFRS 16, Leases transitional amount  2(a)   —   —   (14.7)   0.1   (14.6)

As adjusted     189,681,394   283.8   (123.0)   21.3   182.1 

Net income     —   —   69.0   —   69.0 

Other comprehensive loss     —   —   —   (5.9)   (5.9)

Share option awards     —   0.6   —   —   0.6 

Balance as at December 31, 2019    189,681,394  $ 284.4  $ (54.0)  $ 15.4  $ 245.8 

Balance as at January 1, 2020     189,681,394  $ 284.4  $ (54.0)  $ 15.4  $ 245.8 

Net income     —   —   102.9   —   102.9 

Other comprehensive income     —   —   —   74.0   74.0 

Excess of fair value of consideration

paid over the carrying value of

business acquired  13(c)   —   —   (16.4)   —   (16.4)

Class A common shares—Issued  17   27,659,481   348.8   —   —   348.8 

Class B common shares—Issued  17   16,892,881   214.8   —   —   214.8 

Class C common shares—Issued  17   3,760,469   50.7   —   —   50.7 

Class E common shares—Issued  17   6,520,517   90.0   —   —   90.0 

Share option awards     —   0.3   —   —   0.3 

Balance as at December 31, 2020     244,514,742  $ 989.0  $ 32.5  $ 89.4  $ 1,110.9 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  Note   2020   2019   2018  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES                 

Net income      $ 102.9  $ 69.0  $ 47.1 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:                 

Depreciation and amortization       182.2   92.2   49.5 

Interest expense   6    45.4   36.3   23.2 

Income taxes   7    47.6   26.0   21.9 

Share-based compensation expense, net of payments made   9    15.0   1.8   4.1 

Changes in business combination-related provisions   15    (73.3)   (13.5)   (12.6)

Change in market value of derivatives and other adjustments       31.6   0.7   4.3 

Cash provided by operating activities before net change in non-cash working

capital, interest paid, and income taxes paid       351.4   212.5   137.5 

Net change in non-cash operating working capital   20(c)    1.1   (28.2)   (13.9)

Interest paid       (32.7)   (14.7)   (15.3)

Income taxes paid, net       (56.8)   (28.0)   (14.8)

Cash provided by operating activities       263.0   141.6   93.5 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES                 

Cash payments for capital assets   20(c)    (59.2)   (52.7)   (47.5)

Cash payments for acquisitions, net   13(c)    (1,741.9)   —   (115.4)

Payment to acquire non-controlling interest in subsidiary   15    (70.0)   (50.8)   — 

Cash used by investing activities       (1,871.1)   (103.5)   (162.9)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES   20(d)              

Shares issued, net of financing costs   17    655.6   —   18.9 

Repayment of short-term borrowings, net       —   —   (4.6)

Repayment of long-term debt   16    (819.0)   (96.0)   (38.6)

Long-term debt issued   16    1,854.0   72.0   75.0 

Cash provided (used) by financing activities       1,690.6   (24.0)   50.7 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents       (9.5)   (0.2)   (1.1)

CASH POSITION                 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       73.0   13.9   (19.8)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year       79.5   65.6   85.4 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year      $ 152.5  $ 79.5  $ 65.6 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TELUS International (Cda) Inc. is a global provider of customer

experience and digital business services.

 

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. was incorporated under the

Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on January 2, 2016, and is a

subsidiary of TELUS Corporation. TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

maintains its registered office at 510 West Georgia Street, Vancouver,

British Columbia.

 

The terms we, us, our or ourselves are used to refer to TELUS

International (Cda) Inc. and, where the context of the narrative permits or

requires, its subsidiaries.

 

Additionally, the term TELUS Corporation is a reference to

TELUS Corporation, and where the context of the narrative permits or

requires, its subsidiaries, excluding TELUS International (Cda) Inc.
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TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 

 

 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

 

(a) Basis of presentation

 

Our consolidated financial statements are expressed in United States dollars. The generally accepted accounting principles that we use are

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IFRS-IASB”).

 

Generally accepted accounting principles require that we disclose the accounting policies we have selected in those instances where we have been

obligated to choose from among various generally accepted accounting principle-compliant accounting policies. In certain other instances, including where no

selection among policies is allowed, we are also required to disclose how we have applied certain accounting policies. In our assessment, all of our required

accounting policy disclosures are not equally significant for us, as set out in the accompanying table; their relative significance to us will evolve over time as

we do.
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In addition, in connection with TELUS International (Cda) Inc.’s initial public offering on February 3, 2021 and related 4.5-for-one share subdivision,

we have retrospectively adjusted all per share and number of share amounts presented in these consolidated financial statements (see Note 17).

 

  

Accounting policy requiring a more

significant choice among policies

and/or a more significant application

of judgment  

Accounting policy  Yes  No  

General application      

(a) Basis of presentation    X  

(b) Consolidation    X  

(c) Use of estimates and judgments  X    

(d) Financial instruments—recognition and measurement    X  

(e) Hedge accounting    X  

Results of operations focused      

(f) Revenue recognition  X    

(g) Depreciation, amortization and impairment  X    

(h) Translation of foreign currencies    X  

(i) Income and other taxes  X    

(j) Share-based compensation  X    

(k) Employee future benefit plans    X  

Financial position focused      

(l) Cash and cash equivalents    X  

(m) Property, plant and equipment; intangible assets  X    

(n) Leases    X  

 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized by our Board of Directors for issue on February 22, 2021.

 

(b) Consolidation

 

Our consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of all of our subsidiaries. The principal ones are: TELUS International

(U.S.) Corp.; CallPoint New Europe EAD; CallPoint New Europe S.R.L.; Transactel International Services Limited; Transactel S.A.; Transactel El

Salvador S.A. DE C.V.; TELUS International Philippines Inc.; Voxpro Limited; Xavient Digital LLC; TELUS International Germany GmbH; and LBT

Intermediate Holdings, Inc.

 

Our financing arrangements and those of our subsidiaries do not impose restrictions on inter-corporate dividends, but external dividends are restricted

based upon total net debt to earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) ratios, all as defined by our financing

arrangements.

 

On a continuing basis, we review our corporate organization and effect changes as appropriate so as to enhance the value of TELUS International

(Cda) Inc. This process can, and does, affect which of our subsidiaries are considered principal subsidiaries at any particular point in time.
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(c) Use of estimates and judgments

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates

(including about the future effects of the COVID-19 pandemic), assumptions and judgments that affect: the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date

of the financial statements; the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements; and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 

Estimates

 

Examples of the significant estimates and assumptions that we make and their relative significance and degree of difficulty are as follows:

 

 

Judgments

 

Examples of our significant judgments, apart from those involving estimation, include the following:

 

• Assessments about whether line items are sufficiently material to warrant separate presentation in the primary financial statements and, if not,

whether they are sufficiently material to warrant separate presentation in the financial statement notes. In the normal course, we make changes to

our assessments regarding presentation materiality so that they reflect current economic conditions. Due consideration is given to the view that it

is reasonable to expect differing opinions of what is, and is not, material.
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• In respect of revenue-generating transactions, generally we must make judgments that affect the timing of the recognition of revenue as it relates

to assessing when we have satisfied our performance obligations to our customers, either at a point in time or over a period of time.

 

• The preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make judgments

that affect the financial statement disclosure of information regularly reviewed by our chief operating decision maker used to make resource

allocation decisions and to assess performance, as further discussed in Note 21. A significant judgment we make is that our cash flows are

sufficiently indistinguishable given our global operating model, resulting in a single operating and reporting segment.

 

• Determination of the functional currency of each subsidiary involves significant judgment. The determination of functional currency affects the

carrying value of non-current assets included in the statement of financial position and, as a consequence, the amortization of those assets, as well

as the exchange gains and losses recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of equity.

 

• The decision to depreciate and amortize any property, plant, equipment and intangible assets that are subject to amortization on a straight-line

basis, as we believe that this method reflects the consumption of resources related to the economic lifespan of those assets better than an

accelerated method and is more representative of the economic substance of the underlying use of those assets.

 

• In connection with the annual impairment testing of goodwill, there are instances where we must exercise judgment in the determination of our

cash generating unit. A significant judgment that we make is that each geographic area in which we operate is insufficiently distinct, making it

impractical to objectively distinguish the cash flows of each region. As such, each region is not an individual cash generating unit.

 

• In respect of claims and lawsuits, as discussed further in Note 18(b), the determination of whether an item is a contingent liability or whether an

outflow of resources is probable and thus needs to be accounted for as a provision.

 

(d) Financial instruments—recognition and measurement

 

In respect of the recognition and measurement of financial instruments, we have adopted the following policies:

 

• Derivatives that are part of an established and documented cash flow hedging relationship are accounted for as held for hedging. We believe that

classification as held for hedging results in a better matching of the change in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument with the risk

exposure being hedged.
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• Derivatives that are not part of a documented cash flow hedging relationship are accounted for as held for trading and thus are measured at fair

value through net income.

 

• Transaction costs, other than in respect of items held for trading, are added to the initial fair value of the acquired financial asset or financial

liability. We have selected this method as we believe that it results in a better matching of the transaction costs with the periods in which we

benefit from the transaction costs.

 

(e) Hedge accounting

 

Hedge accounting

 

The purpose of hedge accounting, in respect of our designated hedging relationships, is to ensure that counterbalancing gains and losses are recognized

in the same periods. We have chosen to apply hedge accounting as we believe that it is more representative of the economic substance of the underlying

transactions.

 

In order to apply hedge accounting, a high correlation (which indicates effectiveness) is required in the offsetting changes in the risk-associated values

of the financial instruments (the hedging items) used to establish the designated hedging relationships and all, or a part, of the asset, liability or transaction

having an identified risk exposure that we have taken steps to modify (the hedged items). We assess the anticipated effectiveness of designated hedging

relationships at inception and their actual effectiveness for each reporting period thereafter. We consider a designated hedging relationship to be effective if the

following critical terms match between the hedging item and the hedged item: the notional amount of the hedging item and the principal amount of the hedged

item; maturity dates; payment dates; and interest rate index (if, and as, applicable). Any ineffectiveness, such as would result from a difference between the

notional amount of the hedging item and the principal amount of the hedged item, or from a previously effective designated hedging relationship becoming

ineffective, is reflected in the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income as Interest expense if in respect of long-term debt, as Goods

and services purchased if in respect of future purchase commitments, or as Employee benefits expense if in respect of share-based compensation.

 

Hedging assets and liabilities

 

In the application of hedge accounting, an amount (the hedge value) is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of the fair

value of the hedging items. The net difference, if any, between the amounts recognized in the determination of net income and the amounts necessary to reflect

the fair value of the designated cash flow hedging items recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position is recognized as a component of Other

comprehensive income, as set out in Note 8.

 

In the application of hedge accounting to the finance costs arising from interest paid on our long-term debt, the amount recognized in the

determination of net income is the amount that counterbalances the difference between interest calculated at a variable interest rate, and the fixed interest rate as

per our credit facility (Note 16(b)).
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(f) Revenue recognition

 

General

 

Our solutions involve delivery of multiple services and products that occur at different points in time and/or over different periods of time. As

appropriate, these arrangements contain multiple performance obligations and the transaction price is measured and allocated among the performance

obligations based upon their relative stand-alone selling price. Our relevant revenue recognition policies are then applied to the performance obligations.

 

Multiple contracts with a single customer are normally accounted for as separate arrangements. In instances where multiple contracts are entered into

with a customer in a short period of time, the contracts are reviewed as a group to ensure that, as with multiple performance obligation arrangements, their

relative stand-alone selling prices are appropriate.

 

Our revenues are recorded net of any value-added and/or sales taxes billed to the customer concurrent with a revenue-generating transaction.

 

When we receive no identifiable, separable benefit for consideration given to a customer (e.g. discounts and rebates), the consideration is recorded as a

reduction of revenue rather than as an expense.

 

We recognize revenues for each accounting period based on services provided in that period. Revenue is recognized based on fees incurred per-

productive hour or per transaction. Billings are invoiced to customers on a regular basis. Advance billings are recorded when billing occurs prior to provision of

the associated services; such advance billings are recognized as revenue in the period in which the services are provided.

 

(g) Depreciation, Amortization and Impairment

 

Depreciation and amortization

 

Property, plant, and equipment, including right of use assets, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as determined by

a continuing program of asset life studies. Depreciation includes amortization of right-of-use lease assets and amortization of leasehold improvements.

Leasehold improvements are normally amortized over the lesser of their expected average service life or the term of the lease. Intangible assets with finite lives

(intangible assets subject to amortization) are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which are reviewed at least annually and

adjusted as appropriate. As referred to in (c), the use of a straight-line basis of depreciation and amortization is a significant judgment for us.
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Estimated useful lives for the majority of our property, plant and equipment and right of use lease assets subject to depreciation are as follows:

 

   

Estimated

useful lives  

Computer hardware and network assets   2 to 10 years 

Buildings and leasehold improvements   5 to 20 years 

Furniture and equipment   3 to 7 years 

Right-of-use lease assets   3 to 20 years 

 

Estimated useful lives for the majority of our intangible assets subject to amortization are as follows:

 

   

Estimated

useful lives  

Customer contracts and related customer relationships   4 to 15 years 

Software   3 to 7 years 

Brand   3 years 

Standard operating procedures   5 years 

Crowdsource assets   8 years 

 

Impairment—general

 

Impairment testing compares the carrying values of the assets or cash generating units being tested with their recoverable amounts (the recoverable

amount being the greater of an asset’s value in use or its fair value less costs to sell); as referred to in (c), this is a significant estimate for us. Impairment losses

are immediately recognized, to the extent that the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Should the recoverable amounts for impaired

assets subsequently increase, the impairment losses previously recognized (other than in respect of goodwill) may be reversed to the extent that the reversal is

not a result of “unwinding the discount” and that the resulting carrying values do not exceed the carrying values that would have been the result if no

impairment losses had been previously recognized.

 

Impairment—property, plant and equipment; intangible assets subject to amortization

 

The continuing program of asset life studies considers such items as the timing of technological obsolescence, competitive pressures and future

infrastructure utilization plans; these considerations could also indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. If the carrying value of an

asset were not considered recoverable, an impairment loss would be recorded.

 

Impairment—goodwill

 

The carrying value of goodwill is periodically tested for impairment. The frequency of the impairment testing is generally the reciprocal of the

stability of the relevant events and circumstances, but goodwill must, at a minimum, be tested annually; we have selected October 1 as our annual test date.

 

We assess our goodwill by comparing the recoverable amounts of our business to its carrying value. To the extent that the carrying value exceeds its

recoverable amount, the excess amount would be recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of goodwill and any remainder would be recorded as a reduction

in the carrying value of the assets on a pro-rated basis.
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(h) Translation of foreign currencies

 

Trade transactions completed in foreign currencies are translated into United States dollars at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into United States dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the

statement of financial position date, with any resulting gain or loss recorded in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income as a

component of Interest expense and foreign exchange, as set out in Note 6.

 

We have foreign subsidiaries that do not have the United States dollar as their functional currency. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the

translation of these foreign subsidiaries’ accounts into United States dollars are reported as a component of other comprehensive income, as set out in Note 8.

 

(i) Income and other taxes

 

We follow the liability method of accounting for income taxes; as referred to in (c), this is a significant estimate for us. Under this method, current

income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable for the current year. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary

differences between the tax and accounting bases of assets and liabilities, and also for the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to future years for tax

purposes that are more likely than not to be realized. The amounts recognized in respect of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are based upon the

expected timing of the reversal of temporary differences or usage of tax losses and application of the substantively enacted tax rates at the time of reversal or

usage.

 

We account for any changes in substantively enacted income tax rates affecting deferred income tax assets and liabilities in full in the period in which

the changes are substantively enacted. We account for changes in the estimates of tax balances for prior years as estimate revisions in the period in which the

changes in estimates arise; we have selected this approach as its emphasis on the statement of financial position is more consistent with the liability method of

accounting for income taxes.

 

Our operations are complex and the related domestic and foreign tax interpretations, regulations, legislation and jurisprudence are continually

changing. As a result, there are usually some tax matters in question that result in uncertain tax positions. We recognize the income tax benefit of an uncertain

tax position when it is more likely than not that the ultimate determination of the tax treatment of the position will result in that benefit being realized; however,

this does not mean that tax authorities cannot challenge these positions. We accrue an amount for interest charges on current tax liabilities that have not been

funded, which would include interest and penalties arising from uncertain tax positions. We include such charges in the consolidated statement of income and

other comprehensive income as a component of income tax expense.
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(j) Share-based compensation

 

General

 

Share-based compensation awards, in the form of phantom restricted share units, equity share options and phantom share options, have historically

been provided to certain of our employees. We recognize a compensation expense in respect of these plans that is based on the fair value of the awards.

Generally, the compensation expense of the award is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting of the award subject to continued service with us

through the vesting date. A compensation expense is recognized for awards containing performance conditions only to the extent that it is probable that those

performance conditions will be met. Adjustments are made to reflect expected and actual forfeitures during the vesting period due to failure to satisfy service

conditions or performance conditions.

 

Subsequent to the Share Class Reclassification Transactions (see Note 17), we have two classes of shares outstanding: multiple voting shares and

subordinate voting shares (collectively “Shares”). Common shares issued for equity-settled awards are subordinate voting shares.

 

Restricted share units

 

Restricted share units are accounted for as liability instruments. We accrue a liability equal to the product of the number of vesting restricted share

units multiplied by the fair market value of the corresponding common shares at the end of the reporting period. As the Company’s common shares were not

publicly traded as at December 31, 2020, we estimated the fair value of our common shares, as discussed in “Share Valuations” below. The expense for

restricted share units that do not ultimately vest is reversed against the expense that was previously recorded in their respect.

 

Share option awards

 

We recognize and measure compensation expense for equity-settled share option awards based on the grant date fair value, which is determined using

the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Fair value is not subsequently re-measured unless the conditions on which the award was granted are modified.

 

Proceeds arising from the exercise of equity-settled share option awards are credited to share capital, as are the recognized grant-date fair values of the

exercised share option awards.

 

Phantom share option awards, which are cash-settled, are accounted for as liability instruments. We recognize and measure compensation expense for

cash-settled option awards based on the fair value at the end of each reporting period, which is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

 

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requires the input of assumptions, some of which are highly subjective, including the fair value of the

underlying common shares, the expected volatility of the price of our common shares, risk-free interest rates, the expected term of the option and the expected

dividend yield of our shares. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. If factors change and different

assumptions are used, our share-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future.
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• Fair Value of Our Shares. As the Company’s common shares were not publicly traded prior to our initial public offering (“IPO”) on February 3,

2021, we estimated the fair value of our common shares, as discussed in “Share valuations” below. After our IPO (see Note 17), fair value is

determined based on quoted prices on a recognized stock exchange.

 

• Expected Volatility. As we had not been a public company and did not have a trading history for our subordinate voting shares prior to our IPO,

the expected share price volatility for our common shares was estimated by taking the average historical price volatility for industry peers

observed over a period equivalent to the expected term of the share option grants. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using

the same or similar public companies until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own share price becomes

available, or unless circumstances change such that the identified companies are no longer similar to us, in which case more suitable companies

whose share prices are publicly available would be used in the calculation.

 

• Risk-free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of Government of Canada marketable bonds with maturities similar to the

expected term of the options for each option group.

 

• Expected Term. The expected term represents the period that our share-based awards are expected to be outstanding. As we do not have sufficient

historical experience for determining the expected term of the share option awards granted, we base our expected term for awards issued on the

simplified method, which represents the average period from vesting to the expiration of the share option.

 

• Expected Dividend Yield. We have never declared or paid any cash dividends to shareholders and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in

the foreseeable future. Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zero.
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Share valuations

 

Given the absence of a public trading market for our common shares prior to our IPO, the fair value of our common shares were historically

determined based on third-party valuations, based on information provided by management as well as external market and competitor information available to

the experts. The valuation considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair value of our common shares at each

grant date. These factors include:

 

• our operating and financial performance;

 

• current business conditions and projections;

 

• the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event for the common shares underlying these share options, such as an initial public offering or sale of our

company, given prevailing market conditions; and

 

• the market performance of comparable publicly traded companies.

 

The valuation is developed using a weighted blend of the income and market approaches. The income approach estimates the fair value of a company

based on the present value of such company’s future estimated cash flows and the residual value of such company beyond the forecast period. These future

values are discounted to their present values to reflect the risks inherent in such company achieving these estimated cash flows. Significant inputs of the income

approach (in addition to our estimated future cash flows themselves) include the long-term growth rate assumed in the residual value, discount rate and

normalized long-term operating margin. The terminal value was calculated to estimate our value beyond the forecast period by applying valuation metrics to

the final year of our forecasted revenue and discounting that value to the present value using the same weighted average cost of capital applied to the forecasted

periods.

 

(k) Employee future benefit plans

 

Defined benefit plans

 

We participate in defined benefit pension plans that share risks between TELUS Corporation and its subsidiaries as well as unfunded, non-contributory

retirement plans of TELUS International (Cda) Inc. and its subsidiaries. TELUS Corporation’s policy is to charge us our participant-based net defined benefit

pension cost, as measured in accordance with IAS 19, Employee Benefits.

 

Employee benefits

 

Contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the consolidated statements of income in the period in which services are rendered by the

covered employees. For defined benefit plans, the cost of pensions and other retirement benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the

accrued benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimates of salary escalation and the retirement ages of employees. In the determination of

net income, net interest for each plan, which is the product of the plan’s surplus (deficit) multiplied by the discount rate, is included as a component of Interest

expense and foreign exchange, as set out in Note 6.
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The Company records annual amounts relating to its defined benefit plan based on calculations that incorporate various actuarial and other

assumptions, including discount rates, mortality, compensation increase and turnover rates. When the defined benefit plan’s key assumptions fluctuate relative

to their immediately preceding year-end values, actuarial gains (losses) arising from such significant fluctuations are recognized in other comprehensive

income.

 

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

 

Cash and cash equivalents includes short-term investments in money market funds and other highly liquid, low-risk instruments with maturities of less

than three months. Cash and cash equivalents are presented net of outstanding items, including cheques written but not cleared by the related banks as at the

statement of financial position date. Cash and cash equivalents are classified as a liability in the statement of financial position when the total amount of all

cheques written but not cleared by the related banks exceeds the amount of cash and cash equivalents. When cash and cash equivalents are classified as a

liability, they may also include overdraft amounts drawn on our bilateral bank facilities, which revolve daily.

 

(m) Property, plant and equipment; intangible assets

 

General

 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are recorded at historical cost, which for self-constructed property, plant and equipment includes

materials, direct labour and applicable overhead costs. For internally developed internal-use software, the historical cost recorded includes materials, direct

labour and direct labour-related costs. Where property, plant and equipment construction projects are of a sufficient size and duration, an amount is capitalized

for the cost of funds used to finance construction. The rate for calculating the capitalized financing cost is based on our weighted average cost of borrowing

experienced during the reporting period.

 

When we sell property, plant and/or equipment, the net book value is netted against the sale proceeds and the difference is included in the consolidated

statement of income and other comprehensive income as operating income.

 

(n) Leases

 

Prior to January 1, 2019, leases were classified as finance or operating, depending upon terms and conditions of the contract. Where we were the

lessee, asset values recorded under finance leases were amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of expected use. Obligations recorded under finance

leases were reduced by lease payments net of imputed interest.

 

On January 1, 2019, we adopted IFRS 16, Leases which superseded IAS 17, Leases (Note 2(a)). We assess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease

under the new standards. Any identified leases are recorded as right-of-use assets and included in property, plant and equipment, net on our statement of

financial position (Note 12).
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(o)           Business combinations

 

We use the acquisition method to account for business combinations, under which we allocate the excess of the purchase price of business acquisitions

over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired to goodwill. The purchase price is determined as the fair value of assets transferred, liabilities assumed, or

equity instruments issued on the date of exchange, which may include contingent considerations that are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent changes to the fair value of any contingent considerations are recognized through profit or loss. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

 

One of the most significant estimates relate to the allocation of the total consideration to each of the assets and liabilities acquired. For intangible

assets acquired, the fair value is generally derived from a valuation analysis prepared by management or third-party experts as needed, based on appropriate

valuation techniques using a forecast of the total expected future net cash flows and closely linked to the assumptions made by management regarding the

future performance of the assets concerned and the discount rate applied. Where other markets or market participants are readily observable, these are

considered in the determination of fair value.

 

If the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities can only be calculated on a provisional basis, the business combination is recognized

initially using provisional values. Any adjustments resulting from the completion of the measurement process are recognized within twelve months of the date

of acquisition.

 

Business transfers from related parties are accounted for as common control transactions using the predecessor accounting method wherein no assets

or liabilities acquired are restated to their fair values and the results of operations include the transferred businesses’ results only from the date of our

acquisition of them. No goodwill is recognized on such transactions, and any excess purchase price is recorded as an adjustment to owners’ equity.

 

2. Accounting policy developments

 

(a) Initial application and adoption of standards, interpretations and amendments to standards and interpretations in the reporting period

 

In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board released IFRS 16, Leases, to be applied for years beginning on or after January 1, 2019

and superseded IAS 17, Leases. The standard removed the lessees’ classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases and, for IFRS-IASB,

introduced a single lessee accounting model.

 

We have applied the standard retrospectively, with the cumulative effect of the initial application of the new standard recognized at the date of initial

application, January 1, 2019, subject to permitted and elected practical expedients; such method of application does not result in the retrospective adjustment of

amounts reported for periods prior to fiscal 2019 and as such, our fiscal 2018 amounts presented do not reflect the effects of changes to this accounting policy.

The nature of the transition method selected is such that the lease population as at January 1, 2019, and the discount rates determined contemporaneously, is the

basis for the cumulative effects recorded as of that date.
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Implementation of IFRS 16

 

As a transitional practical expedient permitted by the new standard, we have not reassessed whether contracts are, or contained, leases as at January 1,

2019, applying the criteria of the new standard; as at January 1, 2019, only contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17, Leases, and

IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, are a part of the transition to the new standard. Only contracts entered into (or changed) after

December 31, 2018, will be assessed for being, or containing, leases applying the criteria of the new standard.

 

IFRS 16, Leases, has the following impact on the fiscal 2019 opening amounts:

 

As at January 1, 2019 (millions)  

Excluding

effects of

IFRS 16   IFRS 16 effects  

As reported

under IFRS 16  

Non-current assets             

Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 115.2  $ 138.4  $ 253.6 

Deferred income taxes  $ 2.6  $ 1.3  $ 3.9 

Current liabilities             

Current maturities of long-term debt  $ 6.0  $ 26.7  $ 32.7 

Non-current liabilities             

Long-term debt  $ 302.0  $ 127.6  $ 429.6 

Owners’ equity             

Retained earnings  $ (108.3)  $ (14.7)  $ (123.0)

Accumulated other comprehensive income  $ 21.2  $ 0.1  $ 21.3 

 

Amendments to IFRS 3, Business Combinations

 

In October 2018, the International Accounting Standards Board amended IFRS 3, Business Combinations, which clarified whether an acquisition

transaction resulted in the acquisition of an asset or the acquisition of a business. The amendments are effective for acquisition transactions on or after

January 1, 2020, which is the date that we have adopted this new accounting standard. The amended standard has a narrower definition of a business, which

could result in the recognition of fewer business combinations than under the previous standard; the implication of this is that amounts which may have been

recognized as goodwill in a business combination under the previous standard may be recognized as allocations to net identifiable assets acquired under the

amended standard (with an associated effect in an entity’s results of operations that would differ from the effect of goodwill having been recognized). The

effects of the amended standard on our financial performance and disclosure will be dependent on the facts and circumstances of any future acquisition

transactions.
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(b) Standards, interpretations and amendments to standards not yet effective and not yet applied

 

In August 2020, the International Accounting Standards Board issued Interest Rate Benchmark Reform—Phase 2, which amends IFRS 9, Financial

Instruments, IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts and

IFRS 16, Leases. The amendments are effective for periods on or after January 1, 2021, although earlier application is permitted. Interest rate benchmarks such

as interbank offer rates (IBORs) play an important role in global financial markets as they index a wide variety of financial products, including derivative

financial instruments. Market developments have impacted the reliability of some existing benchmarks and, in this context, the Financial Stability Board has

published a report setting out recommendations to reform such benchmarks. The Interest Rate Benchmark Reform—Phase 2 amendments focus on the effects

of the interest rate benchmark reform on a company’s financial statements that arise when an interest rate benchmark used to calculate interest is replaced with

an alternative benchmark rate; most significantly, there will be no requirement to derecognize or adjust the amount of financial instruments for changes

required by the reform, but will instead update the effective interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate. The effects of these

amendments on our financial performance and disclosure will be dependent upon the facts and circumstances of future changes in the derivative financial

instruments we use, if any, and any future changes in interest rate benchmarks, if any, referenced by such derivative financial instruments we use.

 

3. Capital structure financial policies

 

Our objective when managing capital is to maintain a flexible capital structure that optimizes the cost and availability of capital at acceptable risk

levels.

 

In the management of capital and in its definition, we include common equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income), long-term debt

(including long-term credit facilities and any hedging assets or liabilities associated with long-term debt items, net of amounts recognized in accumulated other

comprehensive income) and cash and cash equivalents. We manage capital by monitoring the financial covenants prescribed in our credit facility (Note 16(b)).

 

We manage our capital structure and make adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of our business. In

order to maintain or adjust our capital structure, we may issue new shares, issue new debt and/or issue new debt to replace existing debt with different

characteristics, or pay down our debt balance.

 

Subsequent to year end and in connection with our IPO on February 3, 2021, we issued 20,997,375 subordinate voting shares to new investors at

$25.00 per share for net proceeds of $490.0 million (net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other transaction costs), which were used to repay a

portion of outstanding borrowings under our credit agreement (see Notes 16(b) and 17(a)).
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4. Financial instruments

 

(a) Risks—overview

 

Our financial instruments, and the nature of certain risks to which they may be subject, are as set out in the following table.

 

     Risks  

            Market risks  

Financial instrument  

Accounting

classification   Credit    Liquidity   Currency  

Interest

rate   

Other

price  

Measured at amortized cost                   

Accounts receivable  AC(1)   X      X      

Due from/to affiliated companies  AC(1)   X      X      

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  AC(1)       X  X      

Provisions (including restructuring)  AC(1)       X  X    X 

Long-term debt  AC(1)       X    X    

Measured at fair value                   

Cash and cash equivalents  FVTPL(2)   X      X X    

Foreign exchange derivatives(3)  FVTPL/FVOCI(2)  X   X  X      

Interest rate derivatives(3)  FVTPL/FVOCI(2)  X   X  X X    

 
 

(1) For accounting recognition and measurement purposes, classified as amortized cost (“AC”).

 

(2) For accounting recognition and measurement purposes, classified as fair value through net income (“FVTPL”). Unrealized changes in the fair values

of financial instruments are included in net income unless the instrument is part of a cash flow hedging relationship. The effective portion of

unrealized changes in the fair values of financial instruments held for hedging are included in other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

 

(3) Use of derivative financial instruments is subject to a policy which requires that no derivative transaction is to be entered into for the purpose of

establishing a speculative or leveraged position (the corollary being that all derivative transactions are to be entered into for risk management purposes

only) and sets criteria for the credit worthiness of the transaction counterparties.

 

(b) Credit risk

 

Excluding credit risk, if any, arising from interest rate swaps and currency swaps settled on a gross basis, the best representation of our maximum

exposure (excluding income tax effects) to credit risk, which is a worst-case scenario and does not reflect results we expect, is as set out in the following table:

 

As at December 31 (millions)  2020   2019  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 152.5  $ 79.5 

Accounts receivable   303.3   176.6 

Due from affiliated companies   49.1   30.2 

Derivative assets   1.8   3.3 

  $ 506.7  $ 289.6 
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Cash and cash equivalents

 

Credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents is managed by ensuring that these financial assets are placed with: governments; major financial

institutions that have been accorded strong investment grade ratings by a primary rating agency; and/or other creditworthy counterparties. An ongoing review is

performed to evaluate changes in the status of counterparties.

 

Accounts receivable

 

Credit risk associated with accounts receivable is managed through a program of credit evaluations of customers and limiting the amount of credit

extended when deemed necessary.

 

The following table presents an analysis of the age of customer accounts receivable. Any late payment charges are levied at a negotiated rate on

outstanding non-current customer account balances.

 

As at December 31 (millions)  Note   2020   2019  

Customer accounts receivable             

Less than 30 days past billing date      $ 121.3  $ 97.4 

30 - 60 days past billing date       27.5   3.0 

61 - 90 days past billing date       7.2   2.3 

More than 90 days past billing date       1.6   5.3 

      $ 157.6  $ 108.0 

Customer accounts receivable   20(b)  $ 162.8  $ 109.8 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   20(b)   (5.2)   (1.8)

Customer receivable, Net      $ 157.6  $ 108.0 

 

We maintain allowances for lifetime expected credit losses related to doubtful accounts. Current economic conditions (including forward-looking

macroeconomic data), historical information (including credit agency reports, if available), reasons for the accounts being past due and line of business from

which the customer accounts receivable arose are all considered when determining whether to make allowances for past-due accounts. The same factors are

considered when determining whether to write off amounts charged to the allowance for doubtful accounts against the customer accounts receivable. The

doubtful accounts expense is calculated on a specific-identification basis for customer accounts receivable over a specific balance threshold and on a

statistically derived allowance basis for the remainder. No customer accounts receivable balances are written off directly to bad debt expense.

 

The following table presents a summary of the activity related to our allowance for doubtful accounts.

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  2020   2019  

Balance, beginning of year  $ 1.8  $ 2.9 

Additions   6.5   0.6 

Recovery   (3.1)   (1.7)

Balance, end of year  $ 5.2  $ 1.8 
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Derivative assets (and derivative liabilities)

 

Counterparties to our foreign exchange and share-based compensation derivatives are major financial institutions that have been accorded investment

grade ratings by a primary credit rating agency. The total dollar amount of credit exposure under contracts with any one financial institution is limited and

counterparties’ credit ratings are monitored. We do not give or receive collateral on swap agreements and hedging items due to our credit rating and those of

our counterparties. While we are exposed to the risk of potential credit losses due to the possible non-performance of our counterparties, we consider this risk

remote. Our derivative liabilities do not have credit risk-related contingent features.

 

(c) Liquidity risk

 

As a component of our capital structure financial policies, discussed further in Note 3, we manage liquidity risk by:

 

• maintaining bilateral bank facilities and a syndicated credit facility (Note 16(b));

 

• continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows; and

 

• managing maturity profiles of financial assets and financial liabilities.

 

Our debt maturities in future years are as disclosed in Note 16(d).

 

We closely match the contractual maturities of our derivative financial liabilities with those of the risk exposures they are being used to manage.

 

The expected maturities of our undiscounted financial liabilities, excluding long-term debt, do not differ significantly from the contractual maturities,

other than as noted below. With respect to long-term debt maturities, we repaid a portion of the revolving credit facility on February 5, 2021, using the net

proceeds from our IPO. The contractual maturities of our undiscounted financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020, including interest thereon (where

applicable), are as set out in the following tables:

 

   Non-derivative   Derivative     

         Composite long-term debt   

Currency swap

agreement amounts

to be exchanged        

Year (millions)  

Non-

interest

bearing

financial

liabilities   

Due to

affiliated

companies

(Note 19(a))   

Long-term

debt,

excluding

leases (1)

(Note 16)   

Leases

(Notes 2(a),

14)   (Receive)   Pay   

Interest

rate swap

agreement   Total  

2021   $ 380.7  $ 31.0  $ 87.4  $ 62.6  $ (95.4)  $ 93.1  $ 2.5  $ 561.9 

2022    398.2   —   307.9   51.5   (25.6)   25.1   2.3   759.4 

2023    —   —   66.0   43.6   (25.3)   25.0   —   109.3 

2024    —   —   65.2   28.4   (25.0)   24.8   —   93.4 

2025    —   —   1,215.4   17.9   (318.6)   365.5   —   1,280.2 

Thereafter    —   —   —   49.8   —   —   —   49.8 

Total   $ 778.9  $ 31.0  $ 1,741.9  $ 253.8  $ (489.9)  $ 533.5  $ 4.8  $ 2,854.0 

            Total (Note 16(d))  $ 1,995.7                 

 
 

(1) Future cash outflows in respect of associated interest and like carrying costs for amounts drawn under our credit facilities (if any) have been calculated

based upon the rates in effect at December 31, 2020.
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(d)            Currency risk

 

Our primary operating currency is the United States dollar. The euro, Philippine peso and the Canadian dollar are the foreign currencies to which we

currently have the largest exposure.

 

Our foreign exchange risk management includes the use of foreign currency forward contracts to fix the exchange rates on short-term Philippine peso

denominated transactions and commitments, as well as swaps which are used to manage the currency risk associated with European euro denominated inflows

being used against United States dollar denominated debt.

 

(e) Interest rate risk

 

Changes in market interest rates will cause fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows of short-term investments, short-term obligations and

long-term debt.

 

Our cash equivalents generally have short maturities and fixed interest rates and as a result, their fair value will fluctuate with changes in market

interest rates; absent monetization prior to maturity, the related future cash flows will not change due to changes in market interest rates.

 

As short-term obligations arising from bilateral bank facilities, which typically have variable interest rates, are rarely outstanding for periods that

exceed one calendar week, interest rate risk on these facilities are not significant.

 

Amounts drawn on our long-term credit facility (Note 16(b)) will be affected by changes in market interest rates in a manner similar to debts with

short maturities in that the fair value is not materially affected by changes in market interest rates, but the associated cash flows representing interest payments

are.

 

We manage our exposure to changes in market interest rates with the use of interest rate swaps to fix the interest rates on the variable rate portion of

our credit facility.

 

(f) Market risk

 

Net income and other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, could have varied if the United States dollar:

Canadian dollar exchange rate, United States dollar: Philippine Peso exchange rate, United States dollar: European euro exchange rate, market interest rates,

and the TELUS Corporation and TELUS International (Cda) Inc. common share prices varied by reasonably possible amounts from their actual statement of

financial position date amounts.
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The sensitivity analysis of our exposure to currency risk at the reporting date has been determined based upon a hypothetical change taking place at

the relevant statement of financial position date. The Canadian dollar, European euro and Philippine peso denominated balances as at the statement of financial

position dates have been used in the calculations.

 

The sensitivity analysis of our exposure to interest rate risk at the reporting date has been determined using the hypothetical change taking place at the

beginning of the relevant fiscal year and being held constant through to the statement of financial position date. The relevant statement of financial position

date principal has been used in the calculations.

 

The sensitivity analysis of our exposure to other price risks arising from share-based compensation at the reporting date has been determined based

upon a hypothetical change taking place at the relevant statement of financial position date. The relevant notional number of common shares at the statement of

financial position date has been used in the calculations.

 

  Net income   

Other

comprehensive

income   

Comprehensive

income  

Years Ended December 31

(increase (decrease) in millions) 2020   2019   2018   2020   2019   2018   2020   2019   2018  

Reasonably possible changes in

market risks(1)                                     

10% change in US$: Cdn.$

exchange rate                                     

US$ appreciates  $ (2.4)  $ (0.4)  $ (0.1)  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (2.4)  $ (0.4)  $ (0.1)

US$ depreciates  $ 2.4  $ 0.4  $ 0.1  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 2.4  $ 0.4  $ 0.1 

10% change in US$: Euro

exchange rate                                     

US$ appreciates  $ —  $ 2.7  $ (1.8)  $ 10.1  $ —  $ 7.1  $ 10.1  $ (2.7)  $ 5.3 

US$ depreciates  $ —  $ (2.7)  $ 1.8  $ (10.1)  $ —  $ (7.1)  $ (10.1)  $ 2.7  $ (5.3)

10% change in US$: Peso

exchange rate                                     

US$ appreciates  $ (0.9)  $ (0.3)  $ 1.6  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (0.9)  $ (0.3)  $ 1.6 

US$ depreciates  $ 0.9  $ 0.3  $ (1.6)  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 0.9  $ 0.3  $ (1.6)

25 basis point change in

market interest rate                                     

Rate increases  $ (3.9)  $ (0.8)  $ (0.8)  $ 0.5  $ 0.7  $ 1.0  $ (3.4)  $ (0.1)  $ 0.2 

Rate decreases  $ 3.9  $ 0.8  $ 0.8  $ (0.5)  $ (0.7)  $ (1.0)  $ 3.4  $ 0.1  $ (0.2)

25%(2) change in common

share price(3)                                     

Price increases  $ (3.9)  $ (2.4)  $ (2.6)  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ (3.9)  $ (2.4)  $ (2.6)

Price decreases  $ 3.9  $ 2.4  $ 2.6  $ —  $ —  $ —   3.9  $ 2.4  $ 2.6 

 

 
 

(1) These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in net income and/or other comprehensive income generally cannot be

extrapolated because the relationship of the change in assumption to the change in net income and/or other comprehensive income may not be linear.

In this table, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the amount of net income and/or other comprehensive income is calculated without

changing any other factors; in reality, changes in one factor may result in changes in another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities. The

sensitivity analysis assumes that we would realize the changes in exchange rates; in reality, the competitive marketplace in which we operate would

have an effect on this assumption. No consideration has been made for a difference in the notional number of common shares associated with share-

based compensation awards made during the reporting period that may have arisen due to a difference in the common share price.
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(2) To facilitate ongoing comparison of sensitivities, a constant variance of approximate magnitude has been used.

 

(3) The hypothetical effects of changes in the price of our common shares and those of TELUS Corporation are restricted to those which would arise from

our share-based compensation awards that are accounted for as liability instruments.

 

(g) Fair values

 

General

 

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and certain provisions approximate their fair values due to the

immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values are determined directly by reference to quoted market prices in active markets.

 

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments we use to manage our exposure to currency risks are estimated based upon quoted market prices

in active markets for the same or similar financial instruments or on the current rates offered to us for financial instruments of the same maturity, as well as

discounted future cash flows determined using current rates for similar financial instruments subject to similar risks and maturities (such fair value estimates

being largely based on the European euro: US$ and Philippine peso: US$ forward exchange rates as at the statement of financial position dates).

 

Derivative

 

The derivative financial instruments that we measure at fair value on a recurring basis subsequent to initial recognition are as set out in the following

table; all such items use significant other observable inputs (Level 2) for measuring fair value at the reporting date.

 

    2020   2019   

As at December 31 (millions)  Designation 

Maximum

maturity

date   

Notional

amount   

Fair

value

and

carrying

value   

Price or

rate   

Maximum

maturity

date   

Notional

amount   

Fair

value

and

carrying

value   

Price or

rate  

Current assets(1)                           

Derivatives used to manage                                  

Currency risks arising from

Philippine peso denominated

purchases  HFT(2)  2021  $ 68.0  $ 1.8   

US$:1.00

PHP:48.23   2020  $ 28.0  $ 0.8  

US$:1.00

PHP:52.16 

Currency risks arising from net

investment in foreign

operation  HFH(3)  —  $ —  $ —   —    2020  $ 363.2  $ 2.5  

US$:1.00

EUR:0.89  

                                  

Current liabilities(1)                                  

Derivatives used to manage                                  

European euro denominated

business acquisition  HFH(3)  2025  $ 1.6  $ 1.1   

US$:1.00

EUR:0.85    —  $ —  $ —  —  

                                  

Non-current liabilities(1)                                  

Derivatives used to manage                                  

Currency risks arising from net

investment in foreign

operation  HFH(3)  2025  $ 402.7  $ 52.4   

US$:1.00

EUR:0.85    2020  $ —  $ —  —  

Interest rate risk associated with

non-fixed rate credit facility

amounts drawn  HFH(3)  2022  $ 100.5  $ 4.8   2.64%  2022  $ 106.5  $ 3.2  2.64%

 
 

(1) Notional amounts of derivative financial assets and liabilities are not set off.

 

(2) Foreign currency hedges are designated as held for trading (“HFT”) upon initial recognition; hedge accounting is not applied.

 

(3) Designated as held for hedging (“HFH”) upon initial recognition (cash flow hedging item); hedge accounting is applied. Unless otherwise noted,

hedge ratio is 1:1 and is established by assessing the degree of matching between the notional amounts of hedging items and the notional amounts of

the associated hedged items.
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Non-derivative

 

The fair value amounts for cash and cash equivalents approximate carrying amounts due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. Our long-

term debt, which is measured at amortized cost, approximates the fair value thereof due to the short-term nature of the applicable rates of interest charged.

 

(h) Recognition of derivative gains and losses

 

The following table sets out the gains and losses, excluding income tax effects, arising from derivative instruments that are classified as cash flow

hedging items and their location within the Consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income.

 

Credit risk associated with such derivative instruments, as discussed further in (b), would be the primary source of hedge ineffectiveness. There was

no ineffective portion of derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedging items for the periods presented.

 

  

Amount of gain (loss)

recognized in other

comprehensive income

(effective portion)   

Gain (loss) reclassified from other

comprehensive income to income

(effective portion)

             Amount  

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  2020   2019   2018   Location  2020   2019   2018  

Derivatives used to manage interest rate

risk                           

Associated with non-fixed rate credit

facility amounts drawn  $ (1.5)  $ (2.7)  $ (0.9)  Interest expense  $ 2.1  $ 0.4  $ (0.3)

  $ (1.5)  $ (2.7)  $ (0.9)    $ 2.1  $ 0.4  $ (0.3)

Derivatives used to manage currency

risks                           

Arising from Euro-denominated

business acquisition  $ —  $ 2.4  $ —  

Foreign

exchange  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Arising from net investment in foreign

operation  $ (49.5)  $ —  $ —  

Foreign

exchange  $ —  $ —  $ — 

  $ (51.0)  $ (0.3)  $ (0.9)    $ 2.1  $ 0.4  $ (0.3)

 

The following table sets out the gains and losses (excluding income tax effects) arising from derivative instruments that are classified as held for

trading and that are not designated as being in a hedging relationship, and their location within the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive

income.

 

       

Gain (Loss) recognized

in income on derivatives  

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  Location  Note   2020   2019   2018  

Derivatives used to manage currency risks  Foreign exchange   6   $ 1.0  $ 0.3  $ (0.8)
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5. Employee benefits expense

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  Note   2020   2019   2018  

Employee benefits expense                 

Wages and salaries      $ 935.3  $ 609.5  $ 510.1 

Benefits       8.1   5.2   2.7 

Share-based compensation   9    29.4   13.2   5.8 

Pensions—defined contribution   10    3.5   2.2   0.8 

Restructuring costs   11    3.2   0.3   3.1 

      $ 979.5  $ 630.4  $ 522.5 

 

6. Interest expense and foreign exchange

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  Note   2020   2019   2018  

Interest expense                 

Interest on long-term debt, excluding lease liabilities      $ 26.0  $ 13.9  $ 13.4 

Interest on lease liabilities       13.9   13.2   — 

Interest on short-term borrowings and other       3.6   0.8   1.9 

Interest accretion on provisions   15    1.9   8.4   7.9 

      $ 45.4  $ 36.3  $ 23.2 

Foreign exchange                 

Derivatives used to manage currency risks   4(h)  $ (1.0)  $ (0.3)  $ 0.8 

Foreign exchange (gain) loss       (0.5)   (2.3)   7.3 

      $ (1.5)  $ (2.6)  $ 8.1 

 

7. Income taxes

 

(a) Expense composition and rate reconciliation

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  2020   2019   2018  

Current income tax expense             

For current reporting year  $ 57.3  $ 25.9  $ 19.8 

Adjustments recognized in the current period for income tax of prior periods   (9.8)   2.1   1.3 

   47.5   28.0   21.1 

Deferred income tax expense (recovery)             

Arising from the origination and reversal of temporary differences   (2.6)   3.1   (0.1)

Adjustments recognized in the current period for income tax of prior periods   2.7   (5.1)   0.9 

   0.1   (2.0)   0.8 

  $ 47.6  $ 26.0  $ 21.9 

 

Our income tax expense and effective income tax rate differs from that calculated by applying the applicable statutory rates for the following reasons:

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  2020   2019   2018  

Income taxes computed at applicable statutory rates  $ 36.5   24.2% $ 26.8   28.2% $ 20.3   29.4%

Non-tax deductible items   9.6   6.4   1.8   1.9   2.4   3.4 

Withholding and other taxes   7.7   5.1   6.8   7.1   5.1   7.3 

Foreign tax differential   (7.6)   (5.0)   (16.3)   (17.2)   (15.3)   (22.2)

Adjustments recognized in the current period for

income tax of prior periods   (7.1)   (4.7)   (3.0)   (3.1)   2.2   3.2 

Foreign accrual property income   6.0   4.0   9.1   9.5   7.9   11.5 

Losses not recognized   3.0   2.0   2.0   2.1   0.7   1.1 

Other   (0.5)   (0.4)   (1.2)   (1.2)   (1.4)   (1.9)

Income tax expense per consolidated statements of

income and other comprehensive income  $ 47.6   31.6% $ 26.0   27.3% $ 21.9   31.8%
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(b) Temporary differences

 

We must make significant estimates in respect of the composition of our deferred income taxes. Our operations are complex and the related income tax

interpretations, regulations, legislation and jurisprudence are continually changing. As a result, there are usually some income tax matters in question.

 

Temporary differences comprising the net deferred income tax asset and the amounts of deferred income taxes recognized in the consolidated

statement of income and other comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of changes in owners’ equity are estimated as follows:

 

(millions)  Note   

Property,

plant and

equipment

and

intangible

assets subject

to

amortization   

Net pension

and share-

based

compensation

amounts   

Debt and

equity issue

costs   

Provisions

and other   

Non-capital

loss carried

forward   Leases   

Net deferred

income tax

asset

(liability)  

As at January 1, 2019      $ (42.5)  $ 2.0  $ 0.3  $ 39.9   —   —  $ (0.3)

IFRS 16, Leases

transitional amount   2(a)   —   —   —   —   —   1.3   1.3 

As Adjusted       (42.5)   2.0   0.3   39.9   —   1.3   1.0 

Deferred income tax (expense)

recovery recognized in 

Net income       1.0   0.6   (0.4)   (1.9)   2.7   —   2.0 

As at December 31, 2019      $ (41.5)  $ 2.6  $ (0.1)  $ 38.0  $ 2.7  $ 1.3  $ 3.0 

Acquired during the year and other       (365.6)   —   —   1.0   —   0.9   (363.7)

Deferred income tax (expense)

recovery recognized in 

Net income       31.4   3.0   (0.9)   (34.1)   0.6   (0.1)   (0.1)

Other comprehensive income       —   —   —   1.1   —   —   1.1 

As at December 31, 2020      $ (375.7)  $ 5.6  $ (1.0)  $ 6.0  $ 3.3  $ 2.1  $ (359.7)

Presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position

as:                                 

Deferred income tax asset                              $ 4.7 

Deferred income tax liability                               (1.7)

As at December 31, 2019                              $ 3.0 

Deferred income tax asset                              $ 6.5 

Deferred income tax liability                               (366.2)

As at December 31, 2020                              $ (359.7)

 

Temporary differences arise from the carrying value of the investments in subsidiaries exceeding their tax base, for which no deferred income tax

liabilities have been recognized because the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal of the difference and it is probable that it will not reverse in the

foreseeable future. In our specific instance, this is relevant to our investments in our non-Canadian subsidiaries. We are not required to recognize such deferred

income tax liabilities, as we are in a position to control the timing and manner of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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(c) Other

 

For the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company has cumulative tax losses of $15.2 million,

$15.7 million and $5.3 million, respectively, for which no deferred tax asset is recognized. Of the $15.2 million balance as at December 31, 2020, $9.0 million

can be carried forward indefinitely and $6.2 million expires by 2025. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized the benefit of $5.5 million of

non-capital losses.

 

8. Other comprehensive income

 

  

Items that may subsequently be

reclassified to income   

Item never

reclassified

to income     

(millions)  

Change in

unrealized fair

value of

derivatives   

Cumulative

foreign

currency

translation

adjustment   

Employee

defined benefit

plan re-

measurements   

Accumulated

other

comprehensive

income  

Accumulated balance as at January 1, 2018  $ (0.1)  $ 31.4  $ —  $ 31.3 

Other comprehensive income (loss)                 

Amount arising   (0.9)   (9.9)   0.5   (10.3)

Income taxes   0.2   —   —   0.2 

Net   (0.7)   (9.9)   0.5   (10.1)

Accumulated balance as at December 31, 2018  $ (0.8)  $ 21.5  $ 0.5  $ 21.2 

Opening balance adjustment for IFRS 16   —   0.1   —   0.1 

As adjusted   (0.8)   21.6   0.5   21.3 

Other comprehensive income (loss)                 

Amount arising   0.1   (3.3)   (2.7)   (5.9)

Net   0.1   (3.3)   (2.7)   (5.9)

Accumulated balance as at December 31, 2019  $ (0.7)  $ 18.3  $ (2.2)  $ 15.4 

Other comprehensive income (loss)
                

Amount arising   (51.0)   124.1   (0.2)   72.9 

Income taxes   1.1   —   —   1.1 

Net   (49.9)   124.1   (0.2)   74.0 

Accumulated balance as at December 31, 2020  $ (50.6)  $ 142.4  $ (2.4)  $ 89.4 

 

9. Share-based compensation

 

Subsequent to the Share Class Reclassification Transactions (see Note 17), we have two classes of shares outstanding: multiple voting shares and

subordinate voting shares (collectively “Shares”). Common shares issued for equity-settled awards are subordinate voting shares. The number of shares

authorized, the number of shares outstanding, the number of shares reserved, per share amounts and share-based compensation information in this note have

been restated to reflect the impact of the Share Class Reclassification Transactions.

 

(a) Restricted share units

 

General

 

We use two classes of restricted share units as a form of retention and incentive compensation: one class is nominally equal in value to one TELUS

International (Cda) Inc. common share, the second class is nominally equal in value to one TELUS Corporation common share. All of our restricted share units

are cash-settled by ourselves and are accounted for as liabilities. The vesting method of restricted share units, which is determined on or before the date of

grant, is cliff vesting. For the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the income tax benefit arising from restricted share

unit share-based compensation was $7.3 million, $2.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
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TELUS International (Cda) Inc. phantom restricted share units

 

Each phantom restricted share unit is nominally equal in value to one TELUS International (Cda) Inc. common share. The restricted share units

generally become payable when vesting is completed and typically vests over a period of 30 months (the requisite service period). As the TELUS International

(Cda) Inc. common shares are not currently a dividend-paying share, the grant-date fair value of restricted share units equals the fair market value of the

corresponding TELUS International (Cda) Inc. common shares at the grant date.

 

The following table presents a summary of the activity related to TELUS International (Cda) Inc. phantom restricted share units.

 

  US$ denominated (1)   Canadian $ denominated (1)  

  

Number of

restricted

share units      

Number of

restricted

share units     

  Non-vested   Vested   

Grant-date

fair value   Non-vested   Vested   

Grant-date

fair value  

Outstanding, January 1, 2018   419,260   —  $ 5.52   —   145,345  $ 4.75 

Granted   356,337   —  $ 6.30   —   —  $ — 

Forfeited   (39,627)   —  $ 5.75   —   —  $ — 

Outstanding, December 31, 2018   735,970   —  $ 5.88   —   145,345  $ 4.75 

Granted   465,430   —  $ 6.18   —   —  $ — 

Forfeited   (72,472)   —  $ 5.91   —   —  $ — 

Vested   (365,760)   365,760  $ 5.52   —   —  $ — 

Settled in cash   —   (365,760)  $ 5.52   —   (145,345)  $ 4.75 

Outstanding, December 31, 2019   763,168   —  $ 6.23   —   —  $ — 

Granted   357,966   —  $ 11.11   —   —  $ — 

Forfeited   (55,836)   —  $ 6.21   —   —  $ — 

Vested   (348,435)   348,435  $ 6.30   —   —  $ — 

Settled in cash   —   (348,435)  $ 6.30   —   —  $ — 

Outstanding, December 31, 2020   716,863   —  $ 8.55   —   —  $ — 

 

(1) Amounts reflect retrospective application of a 4.5-for-one share subdivision, which occurred in connection with TELUS International (Cda) Inc.’s sale

of shares to the public on February 3, 2021 (see Note 17).

 

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. phantom performance share units

 

Each phantom performance share unit is nominally equal in value to one TELUS International (Cda) Inc. common share. The performance share units

generally become payable when vesting is completed and typically vest over a period of 30 months (the requisite service period). These units generally have a

variable payout (0%-100%) depending upon our financial performance and quality-of-service performance conditions. As the TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

common shares are not currently a dividend-paying share, the grant-date fair value of performance share units equals the fair market value of the corresponding

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. common shares at the grant date.
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The following table presents a summary of the activity related to TELUS International (Cda) Inc. phantom performance share units.

 

  2020 (1)   2019 (1)   2018 (1)  

  

Number of restricted

share units      

Number of restricted

share units      

Number of restricted

share units     

Years Ended 

December 31  Non-vested   Vested   

Grant-date

fair value   Non-vested   Vested   

Grant-date

fair value   Non-vested   Vested   

Grant-date

fair value  

Outstanding, beginning of 

year   1,338,565   —  $ 6.96   1,720,345   —  $ 5.61   1,223,887   —  $ 5.41 

Granted   —   —  $ —   426,433   —  $ 8.46   496,458   —  $ 6.14 

Forfeited   (37,826)   —  $ 8.46   (11,250)   —  $ 6.18   —   —  $ — 

Vested   (633,960)   633,960  $ 6.23   (796,963)   796,963  $ 4.87   —   —  $ — 

Settled in cash   —   (633,960)  $ 6.23   —   (796,963)  $ 4.87   —   —  $ — 

Outstanding, end of year   666,779   —  $ 7.23   1,338,565   —  $ 6.96   1,720,345   —  $ 5.61 

 

(1) Amounts reflect retrospective application of a 4.5-for-one share subdivision, which occurred in connection with TELUS International (Cda) Inc.’s sale

of shares to the public on February 3, 2021 (see Note 17).

 

Phantom TELUS Corporation restricted share units

 

Each restricted share unit is nominally equal in value to one TELUS Corporation common share and is nominally entitled to the dividends that would

arise thereon if it were an issued and outstanding TELUS Corporation common share. The notional dividends are recorded as additional issuances of restricted

share units during the life of the restricted share unit. Due to the notional dividend mechanism, the grant-date fair value of restricted share units equals the fair

market value of the corresponding TELUS Corporation common shares at the grant date. The restricted share units generally become payable when vesting is

completed and typically vest over a period of 30 months (the requisite service period). These restricted share units generally have a variable payout (0%-100%)

depending upon our financial performance and non-market quality-of-service performance conditions. The grant-date fair value of our restricted share units

affected by the financial performance and non-market quality-of-service performance conditions equals the fair market value of the corresponding TELUS

Corporation common shares at the grant date.

 

On February 13, 2020, TELUS Corporation announced a subdivision of their common shares on a two-for-one basis to be effective March 17, 2020.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to TELUS Corporation restricted share units, to the number of shares authorized, to the number of shares outstanding,

to the number of shares reserved and to the per share amounts and share-based compensation information in the consolidated financial statements, have been

retrospectively restated to reflect the impact of the subdivision.
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The following table presents a summary of the activity related to TELUS Corporation restricted share units.

 

  2020   2019   2018  

  

Phantom TELUS

Corporation restricted

share units      

Phantom TELUS

Corporation restricted

share units      

Phantom TELUS

Corporation restricted

share units     

Years Ended December 31

Canadian $ denominated  Non-vested   Vested   

Weighted

average

grant-date

fair value   Non-vested   Vested   

Weighted

average

grant-date

fair value   Non-vested   Vested   

Weighted

average

grant-date

fair value  

Outstanding, beginning of year  253,622   —  $ 23.78   263,128   —  $ 16.45   283,106   —  $ 21.84 

Granted   13,217   —  $ 24.97   94,342   —  $ 21.38   83,040   —  $ 22.55 

Issued in lieu of dividends   10,156   —  $ 15.42   9,214   —  $ 26.99   —   —  $ — 

Vested   (113,737)   113,737  $ 25.49   (113,062)   113,062  $ 21.25   (98,048)   98,048  $ 19.84 

Settled in cash   —   (113,737)  $ 25.49   —   (113,062)  $ 21.25   —   (98,048) $ 19.84 

Forfeited   (6,509)   —  $ 23.59   —   —   —   (4,970)   —  $ 20.49 

Outstanding, end of year   156,749   —  $ 24.17   253,622   —  $ 23.78   263,128   —  $ 16.45 

 

(b)           Share option awards

 

We use equity share option awards (equity-settled) and phantom share option awards (cash-settled and share-settled) as a form of retention and

incentive compensation. Employees may receive equity share option awards to purchase TELUS International (Cda) Inc. common shares at a price equal to, or

a multiple of, the fair market value at the time of grant. Share option awards may be exercised over specific periods not to exceed ten years from the time of

grant, however the awards generally may not be exercised and settled prior to the completion of an initial public offering, or other liquidity event, by TELUS

International (Cda) Inc. The initial public offering on February 3, 2021 did not accelerate the vesting or exercisability of equity share option or phantom share

option awards. We apply the fair value method of accounting for share-based compensation awards.

 

Equity share option awards generally have a three-year vesting period (the requisite service period). The vesting method of equity share option awards,

which is determined on or before the date of grant, is cliff-vesting. Some equity share option awards have a variable payout (0%-100%) depending upon our

financial performance and non-market quality-of-service performance conditions.

 

Phantom share option awards are accounted for as liability instruments and the associated liability is 50% cash-settled and 50% share-settled. Phantom

share option awards generally vest 30 months following award and reflect notional exercise prices equal to the fair market value at the date of grant, but are not

exercisable until an initial public offering or liquidity event occurs except for cash-settled phantom options granted in 2019, which are exercisable 50% on

vesting and 50% twelve months thereafter. Phantom share options reflect notional exercise prices equal to, or a multiple of, the fair market value at the date of

grant and have a variable payout (0%-100%) depending upon our financial performance and non-market quality-of-service performance conditions.
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The risk-free interest rate used in determining the fair value of the share option awards is based on a Government of Canada yield curve that is current

at the time of grant. The expected lives of the share option awards are based on management’s best estimate of certain non-vesting conditions being achieved.

Similarly, expected volatility considers the historical volatility in the observable prices of our peers’ shares. The dividend yield is the annualized dividend

current at the time of grant divided by the share option award exercise price. Dividends are not paid on unexercised share option awards and are not subject to

vesting.

 

The following table presents a summary of the activity related to our share option awards.

 

  US $ denominated   Canadian $ denominated  

  

Number of share

option units      

Number of share

option units     

  Non-vested   Vested   

Weighted

average

exercise

price   Non-vested   Vested   

Weighted

average

exercise

price  

Outstanding, January 1, 20181   3,363,543   —  $ 6.69   —   242,244  $ 4.75 

Granted   500,764   —  $ 6.18   —   —  $ — 

Outstanding, December 31, 2018   3,864,307   —  $ 6.63   —   242,244  $ 4.75 

Granted   612,351   —  $ 8.46   —   —  $ — 

Outstanding, December 31, 2019   4,476,658   —  $ 6.91   —   242,244  $ 4.75 

Vested   (3,822,025)   3,822,025  $ 6.21   —   —  $ — 

Exercised   —   (554,602)  $ 6.21   —   —  $ — 

Outstanding, December 31, 2020   654,633   3,267,423  $ 6.942   —   242,244  $ 4.753

Exercisable, December 31, 2020   —   3,267,423  $ 6.58 
 

  

 

  242,244  $ 4.75 

 

(1) Amounts reflect retrospective application of a 4.5-for-one share subdivision, which occurred in connection with TELUS International (Cda) Inc.’s sale

of shares to the public on February 3, 2021 (see Note 17).

 

(2) For options outstanding at the end of the period, the exercise prices ranged from $3.54 to $8.95. The weighted-average remaining expected life was

6.4 years.

 

(3) For options outstanding at the end of the period, the exercise price is $4.75. The weighted-average remaining expected life was 5.6 years.

 

10. Employee future benefits

 

Defined contribution pension plans

 

We have a number of registered retirement and defined contribution plans providing pension and other retirement and post-employment benefits to our

employees in the form of certain statutory and other schemes. Employees in most of our foreign subsidiaries are covered by government mandated, defined

contribution plans. Employees become eligible to participate in these plans on the first day of the month after their employment date. The Company may make

discretionary contributions under the plans.

 

We offer two defined contribution pension plans, which are contributory, and these are the pension plans that we sponsor and are available to our

employees. Employees, annually, can generally choose to contribute to the plans at a rate of between 3% and 6% of their pensionable earnings. During the

years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we matched 100% of the contributions of employees up to 5% of their pensionable earnings and 80% of employee

contributions greater than that to a maximum contribution total of 5.8%. Membership in a defined contribution pension plan is generally voluntary until an

employee’s third-year service anniversary. In the event that annual contributions exceed allowable maximums, excess amounts are in certain cases contributed

to a non-registered, supplementary defined contribution pension plan. Our total defined contribution pension plan costs, recognized in comprehensive income

for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $1.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
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Defined benefit pension plans

 

We also have a small number of Canadian-sited employees who participate in defined benefit plans, and such plans share risks between TELUS

Corporation and its subsidiaries (see Note 19(a)). Disclosure about these defined benefit plans, as a whole, is made in the publicly-available TELUS

Corporation consolidated financial statements.

 

In addition to the aforementioned plans, we have non-registered, non-contributory supplementary retirement benefit plans, which have the effect of

maintaining the earned pension benefit once the allowable maximums in the registered plans are attained. As is common with non-registered plans of this

nature, these plans are typically funded only as benefits are paid. Our total retirement benefit plan pension plan costs, recognized in comprehensive income for

the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, were $3.1 million, $1.9 million and $0.8 million, respectively. As at

December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had recorded an obligation of $14.7 million, $8.8 million and $3.7 million, respectively,

in respect of these plans in Provisions in the consolidated statement of financial position.

 

11. Restructuring and other costs

 

(a) Details of restructuring and other costs

 

We incur charges primarily related to business acquisition transaction and integration expense, which could vary from year to year depending on the

volume, nature and complexity of the transaction in each fiscal year. We also, from time to time, incur costs associated with streamlining out operations.

 

Restructuring and other costs are presented in the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income as set out in the following table:

 

  Restructuring (b)   Other (c)   Total  

Years Ended December 31 (millions) 2020   2019   2018   2020   2019   2018   2020   2019   2018  

Goods and services purchased  $ —  $ 3.0  $ 0.1  $ 55.5  $ 2.8  $ 0.5  $ 55.5  $ 5.8  $ 0.6 

Employee benefits expense   3.2   0.3   3.1   —   —   —   3.2   0.3   3.1 

  $ 3.2  $ 3.3  $ 3.2  $ 55.5  $ 2.8  $ 0.5  $ 58.7  $ 6.1  $ 3.7 

 

(b) Restructuring costs

 

Restructuring costs pertain both to employee-related restructuring activities as well as incremental efficiency initiatives, including rationalization of

real estate, which is recognized in Goods and services purchased on the statement of comprehensive income. In 2020, restructuring activities focused largely on

employee-related activities, which were intended to improve our long-term operating productivity and competitiveness.
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(c) Other

 

Other includes business acquisition transaction costs and integration expenditures that would have been considered neither restructuring costs nor part of

the fair value of the net assets acquired have been included here.

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we incurred transaction costs, including advisor and legal fees in connection with the acquisition of Lionbridge

AI and Competence Call Center (CCC) (Note 13(c)).

 

12. Property, plant and equipment

 

     Owned Assets   

Right-of-

use lease

assets

(Note 2a)     

(millions)  Note   

Computer

hardware

and

network

assets   

Buildings and

leasehold

improvements   

Furniture

and

equipment   

Assets

under

construction   Total   Buildings   Total  

At cost                         

As at January 1, 2019, adjusted      $ 37.2  $ 69.0  $ 106.9  $ 23.0  $ 236.1  $ 138.4  $ 374.5 

Additions       0.9   1.8   8.2   47.1   58.0   68.2   126.2 

Dispositions retirements and other       (15.8)   (12.7)   17.8   (4.6)   (15.3)   (2.3)   (17.6)

Assets under construction put into 

service       10.4   19.9   23.1   (53.4)   —   —   — 

Foreign currency translation adjustments      (0.4)   (0.2)   (0.8)   (0.9)   (2.3)   (1.8)   (4.1)

As at December 31, 2019      $ 32.3  $ 77.8  $ 155.2  $ 11.2  $ 276.5  $ 202.5  $ 479.0 

Additions       1.3   4.6   20.1   36.2   62.2   27.5   89.7 

Additions from Acquisition   13(c)   6.3   9.4   23.9   1.9   41.5   35.1   76.6 

Dispositions retirements and other       (0.4)   (7.7)   (13.6)   (3.0)   (24.7)   (10.3)   (35.0)

Assets under construction put into 

service       6.2   8.9   16.8   (31.9)   —   —   — 

Foreign currency translation adjustments      0.3   2.1   4.2   0.2   6.8   9.2   16.0 

As at December 31, 2020      $ 46.0  $ 95.1  $ 206.6  $ 14.6  $ 362.3  $ 264.0  $ 626.3 

Accumulated depreciation                                 

As at January 1, 2019      $ 18.9  $ 31.4  $ 70.6  $ —  $ 120.9  $ —  $ 120.9 

Depreciation       6.2   10.0   22.0   —   38.2   34.9   73.1 

Dispositions retirements and other       (9.2)   (13.5)   7.1   —   (15.6)   (0.3)   (15.9)

Foreign currency translation adjustments      0.3   (0.1)   (0.2)   —   —   (0.1)   (0.1)

As at December 31, 2019      $ 16.2  $ 27.8  $ 99.5  $ —  $ 143.5  $ 34.5  $ 178.0 

Depreciation       7.2   12.0   32.5   —   51.7   47.7   99.4 

Dispositions retirements and other       (0.2)   (8.1)   (8.3)   —   (16.6)   (0.1)   (16.7)

Foreign currency translation adjustments      —   0.4   1.6   —   2.0   1.5   3.5 

As at December 31, 2020      $ 23.2  $ 32.1  $ 125.3  $ —  $ 180.6  $ 83.6  $ 264.2 

Net Book Value                                 

As at December 31, 2019      $ 16.1  $ 50.0  $ 55.7  $ 11.2  $ 133.0  $ 168.0  $ 301.0 

As at December 31, 2020      $ 22.8  $ 63.0  $ 81.3  $ 14.6  $ 181.7  $ 180.4  $ 362.1 
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13. Intangible assets and goodwill

 

(a) Intangible assets and goodwill

 

    Intangible assets subject to amortization        

(millions)  Note  
Customer

relationships   Software   
Assets under
construction   

 
 
 

Brand   

Standard
operating

procedures
and other   

Crowd
source   

Total
intangible

assets   Goodwill   

Total
intangible
assets and
goodwill  

At cost                                        
As at January 1, 2019     $ 108.6  $ 27.3  $ 6.5  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 142.4  $ 421.2  $ 563.6 
Additions      —   0.6   4.2   —   —   —   4.8   —   4.8 
Dispositions, retirements, and

other      (0.1)   (1.5)   —   —   —   —   (1.6)   —   (1.6)
Assets under construction put

into service      —   7.0   (7.0)   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Foreign currency translation

adjustments      (0.5)   (0.2)   —   —   —   —   (0.7)   (2.8)   (3.5)

As at December 31, 2019     $ 108.0  $ 33.2  $ 3.7   —   —   —  $ 144.9  $ 418.4  $ 563.3 
Additions      —   3.5   7.8   —   0.1   —   11.4   —   11.4 

Additions from Acquisition   13(c)   1,057.3   0.9   —   25.3   10.2   120.0   1,213.7   1,017.0   2,230.7 
Assets under construction put

into service      —   5.4   (5.4)   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Foreign currency translation

adjustments      57.4   5.5   1.4   2.8   1.1   —   68.2   64.6   132.8 
As at December 31, 2020     $ 1,222.7  $ 48.5  $ 7.5  $ 28.1  $ 11.4  $ 120.0  $ 1,438.2  $ 1,500.0  $ 2,938.2 

Accumulated amortization                                        
As at January 1, 2019     $ 16.8  $ 20.8  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 37.6  $ —  $ 37.6 
Amortization      14.9   4.2   —   —   —   —   19.1   —   19.1 
Dispositions, retirements, and

other      —   (1.3)   —   —   —   —   (1.3)   —   (1.3)
Foreign currency translation

adjustments      (0.2)   —   —   —   —   —   (0.2)   —   (0.2)

As at December 31, 2019     $ 31.5  $ 23.7  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 55.2  $ —  $ 55.2 
Amortization      65.6   7.9   —   6.8   2.5   —   82.8   —   82.8 
Foreign currency translation

adjustments      5.4   0.1   —   0.3   0.1   —   5.9   —   5.9 
As at December 31, 2020     $ 102.5  $ 31.7  $ —  $ 7.1  $ 2.6   —  $ 143.9  $ —  $ 143.9 

Net book value                                        
As at December 31, 2019     $ 76.5  $ 9.5  $ 3.7              $ 89.7  $ 418.4  $ 508.1 
As at December 31, 2020     $ 1,120.2  $ 16.8  $ 7.5  $ 21.0  $ 8.8  $ 120.0  $ 1,294.3  $ 1,500.0  $ 2,794.3 

 

(b) Impairment testing of goodwill

 

General

 

As referred to in Note 1(g), the carrying value of goodwill is periodically tested for impairment and, as referred to in Note 1(c), this test represents a

significant estimate for us as well as requiring significant judgments to be made.

 

The recoverable amount of the business has been determined using a value-in-use method. There is a material degree of uncertainty with respect to the

estimate of the recoverable amount, given the necessity of making key economic assumptions about the future.

 

We validate our recoverable amount calculation results through a market-comparable approach and an analytical review of industry facts and facts that

are specific to us. That is, we estimate the recoverable amount using multiples of operating performance of comparable entities and precedent transactions in

that industry.
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Annual impairment testing

 

For purposes of testing goodwill for impairment (as noted in Note 1(c)) each geographic area in which we operate is insufficiently distinct, making it

impractical to objectively distinguish the cash flows of each region and as such, is not considered to be an individual cash generating unit.

 

We did not recognize an impairment charge related to our goodwill in the years ended December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019 and December 31,

2018.

 

Key assumptions

 

The value-in-use calculation uses discounted cash flow projections employ the following key assumptions: future cash flows and growth projections;

associated economic risk assumptions and estimates of the likelihood of achieving key operating metrics and drivers; estimates of future capital expenditures;

and the future weighted average cost of capital. We consider a range of reasonably possible amounts to use for key assumptions and decide upon amounts that

represent management’s best estimates of market amounts. In the normal course, we make changes to key assumptions so that they reflect current economic

conditions and updates of historical information used to develop the key assumptions.

 

The key assumptions for cash flow projections are based upon our approved financial forecasts, which span a period of three years and are discounted,

for December 2020, annual impairment test purposes, at a consolidated post-tax notional rate of 9.7% (2019 - 10.6%; 2018 – 10.2%). For impairment testing

valuations, cash flows subsequent to the three-year projection period are extrapolated, for December 2020, annual impairment test purposes, using perpetual

growth rates of 3.5% (2019 - 2.5%; 2018 - 2.5%); these growth rates do not exceed the long-term average growth rates observed in the markets in which we

operate.

 

We believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the calculation of the recoverable amounts of our cash-generating

unit is based would not cause the cash-generating unit’s carrying value to exceed its recoverable amount. If the future were to adversely differ from

management’s best estimates for the key assumptions and associated cash flows were to be materially adversely affected, we could potentially experience

future material impairment charges in respect of our goodwill.

 

(c) Business acquisitions

 

Competence Call Center

 

On January 31, 2020, we acquired 100% of Competence Call Center, a provider of higher-value-added business services with a focus on customer

relationship management and content moderation. The investment was made with a view to growing and enhancing our service offerings and strategic

relationships and building a strong presence in the Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) regions.

 

The primary factor that contributed to the recognition of goodwill was the earnings capacity of the acquired business in excess of the net tangible and

intangible assets acquired (such excess arising from the acquired workforce and the benefits of acquiring an established business). The amount assigned to

goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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Managed IT Services

 

On April 1, 2020, we acquired Managed IT Services (MITS) business from our controlling shareholder, TELUS Corporation, for equity consideration

of 3,535,470 Class C common shares, with a fair value of $48.8 million (see Note 18(a)). MITS is a leading provider of managed IT services in Canada,

offering a mix of cloud technologies, IT sourcing and managed hosting. TELUS International acquired the MITS assets with a view of enhancing its Digital

services portfolio, which continues to be a growing service offering in the marketplace.

 

This transaction was accounted for as a common control transaction using the predecessor accounting method prospectively applied wherein no assets

or liabilities acquired are restated to their fair values and the results of operations include the transferred businesses’ results only from the date of our

acquisition of them. As no assets and liabilities acquired were restated to their fair values, the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid by TELUS

International (Cda) Inc. over the carrying values of the assets and liabilities received has been charged to retained earnings.

 

Lionbridge AI

 

On December 31, 2020, we completed the acquisition of Lionbridge AI for a purchase price of $939.5 million, subject to customary post-closing

adjustments. Lionbridge AI is a market-leading global provider of crowd-based training data and annotation platform solutions used in the development of

artificial intelligence (AI) algorithms to power machine learning. TELUS International is acquiring Lionbridge AI to further enhance its digital solutions

offerings.

 

The primary factor that contributed to the recognition of goodwill was the earnings capacity of the acquired business in excess of the net tangible and

intangible assets acquired (such excess arising from the acquired workforce and the benefits of acquiring an established business). The amount assigned to

goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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Acquisition-date fair values

 

The acquisition-date fair values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed during the year ended December 31, 2020 are as set out in the

following table:

 

As at acquisition-date fair values (millions)  

Competence

Call Center   

Managed

IT Services   Lionbridge AI   Combined  

Assets                 

Current assets                 

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 67.9  $ —  $ 2.7  $ 70.6 

Accounts receivable1   48.7   2.4   40.4   91.5 

Other   1.4   2.9   6.0   10.3 

  $ 118.0  $ 5.3  $ 49.1  $ 172.4 

Non-current assets                 

Property, plant and equipment                 

Owned assets  $ 15.9  $ 25.4  $ 0.2  $ 41.5 

Right-of-use lease assets   32.6   —   2.5   35.1 

Intangible assets subject to amortization   569.92   0.8   643.03   1,213.7 

Deferred income taxes   —   1.3   —   1.3 

Other   1.7   2.2   —   3.9 

  $ 620.1  $ 29.7  $ 645.7  $ 1,295.5 

Total identifiable assets acquired  $ 738.1  $ 35.0  $ 694.8  $ 1,467.9 

Liabilities                 

Current liabilities                 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 32.0  $ 1.1  $ 22.4  $ 55.5 

Income and other taxes payable   47.7   —   11.1   58.8 

Advance billings and customer deposits   —   0.8   0.7   1.5 

Current maturities of long-term debt   8.1   —   0.7   8.8 

  $ 87.8  $ 1.9  $ 34.9  $ 124.6 

Non-current liabilities                 

Long-term debt  $ 163.4  $ —  $ 1.8  $ 165.2 

Other long-term liabilities   —   0.7   0.4   1.1 

Deferred income taxes   162.6   —   186.5   349.1 

  $ 326.0  $ 0.7  $ 188.7  $ 515.4 

Total liabilities assumed  $ 413.8  $ 2.6  $ 223.6  $ 640.0 

Net identifiable assets acquired  $ 324.3  $ 32.4  $ 471.2  $ 827.9 

Goodwill   548.7   —   468.3   1,017.0 

Net assets acquired  $ 873.0  $ 32.4  $ 939.5  $ 1,844.9 

Acquisition effected by way of:                 

Cash consideration  $ 873.0  $ —  $ 939.5  $ 1,812.5 

Share consideration   —   48.8   —   48.8 

Excess of fair value of consideration paid over the carrying value

of business acquired   —   (16.4)   —   (16.4)

  $ 873.0  $ 32.4  $ 939.5  $ 1,844.9 

 
 

(1) The fair value of accounts receivable is equal to the gross contractual amounts receivable and reflects the best estimates at the acquisition dates of the

contractual cash flows expected to be collected.

 

(2) Customer relationships are generally expected to be amortized over periods of 10 years; standard operating procedures are expected to be amortized

over periods of 5 years; brands are expected to be amortized over periods of 3 years, and software is expected to be amortized over periods of 3 to 5

years.

 

(3) Customer relationships are generally expected to be amortized over periods of 15 years and crowdsource assets are expected to be amortized over

periods of 8 years.
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Pro forma disclosures

 

The following pro forma supplemental information represents certain results of operations as if the business acquisitions noted above had been

completed at the beginning of the fiscal 2020 year.

 

Year Ended December 31, 2020 (millions

except per share amounts)  As reported(1)   

Competence

Call Center   Managed IT Services   

Lionbridge

AI(3)   Pro forma(2)  

Revenue arising from contracts with customers  $ 1,581.6  $ 32.7  $ 33.4  $ 239.1  $ 1,886.8 

Net income (loss)  $ 102.9  $ (1.7)  $ 3.3  $ (31.0)  $ 73.5 

Earnings (loss) per share                     

   Basic  $ 0.46  $ (0.01)  $ 0.02  $ (0.14)  $ 0.33 

   Diluted  $ 0.46  $ (0.01)  $ 0.02  $ (0.14)  $ 0.33 

 
 

(1) Revenue arising from contracts with customers and net income for the year ended December 31, 2020, include: $395.4 million and $76.5 million,

respectively, in respect of Competence Call Center. Revenues and net income for the year ended December 31, 2020, include: $76.9 million and $3.1

million, respectively, in respect of MITS. The acquisition of Lionbridge AI had no impact on our revenues or net income for the year ended

December 31, 2020, as the transaction occurred on December 31, 2020.

 

(2) Pro forma amounts for the year ended December 31, 2020 reflect results of the transferred business. The actual results of the transferred business have

been included in our Consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income effective from the date of acquisition.

 

(3) Financial information for Lionbridge AI for the year ended December 31, 2020 represents results for a period prior to our acquisition of the

Lionbridge AI business, which was completed on December 31, 2020.  The financial information for Lionbridge AI is preliminary and has been

derived from financial information provided by the seller of Lionbridge AI under a transition services agreement.  Additionally, the preliminary

financial information for Lionbridge AI provided by the seller reflects shared cost allocations attributed to Lionbridge AI by the seller that may not be

reflective of actual costs for Lionbridge AI as part of TELUS International.

 

The pro forma supplemental information is based on estimates and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable. The pro forma supplemental

information is not necessarily indicative of our consolidated financial results in future periods or the actual results that would have been realized had the

business acquisitions been completed at the beginning of the periods presented. The pro forma supplemental information includes incremental intangible asset

amortization, financing and other charges as a result of the acquisitions, net of the related tax effects.
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14. Leases

 

See Note 2(a) for details of significant changes to IFRS-IASB which have been applied effective January 1, 2019.

 

We have the right-of-use buildings under leases. We use these real estate leases for office purposes.

 

Judgments about lease terms are determinative of the measurement of right-of-use lease assets and their associated lease liabilities. Our judgment of

lease terms for leased real estate includes periods covered by options to extend the lease terms, as we are reasonably certain to extend such leases.

 

Maturity analyses of lease liabilities are set out in Note 4(c) and Note 16(d); the period interest expense in respect thereof is set out in Note 6. The

additions to, the depreciation charges for, and the carrying amount of, right-of-use lease assets are set out in Note 12. The payments are set out in Note 20(d).

 

We do not currently have any low-value or short-term leases, however, should they arise, we would not elect the practical expedient of excluding these

leases from lease accounting.

 

15. Provisions

 

(millions)  Note  

Employee

related   

Written 

put

options   Other   Total  

As at January 1, 2019    $ 7.3  $ 202.7  $ 6.5  $ 216.5 

Additions     6.7   0.1   10.2   17.0 

Use     (0.6)   (50.1)   (5.2)   (55.9)

Reversal     —   (12.2)   (1.3)   (13.5)

Additions from acquisition  13(c)   —   8.3   0.1   8.4 

Interest effect     0.1   (1.8)   —   (1.7)

Foreign currency translation adjustments     7.3   202.7   6.5   216.5 

As at December 31, 2019    $ 13.5  $ 147.0  $ 10.3  $ 170.8 

Current    $ —  $ —  $ 10.3  $ 10.3 

Non-current     13.5   147.0   —   160.5 

As at December 31, 2019    $ 13.5  $ 147.0  $ 10.3  $ 170.8 

Additions    $ 9.3  $ —  $ 58.1  $ 67.4 

Use     (1.8)   (75.6)   (40.7)   (118.1)

Reversal     (1.0)   (73.3)   (10.3)   (84.6)

Interest effect     —   1.9   —   1.9 

Foreign currency translation adjustments     (0.3)   —   —   (0.3)

As at December 31, 2020    $ 19.7  $ —  $ 17.4  $ 37.1 

Current    $ —  $ —  $ 17.4  $ 17.4 

Non-current     19.7   —   —   19.7 

As at December 31, 2020    $ 19.7  $ —  $ 17.4  $ 37.1 

 

Employee-related

 

The employee-related provisions are largely in respect of statutory obligations due to staff departures and retirements. The timing of the cash outflows

in respect of the balance accrued as at the financial statement date will occur over an indeterminate period.
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Written put options

 

In connection the acquisitions of Voxpro and Xavient, we established a provision for written put options in respect of non-controlling interests.

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we settled the put option to acquire the remaining non-controlling interest in Voxpro Limited, which

triggered a $2.2 million gain being recognized in Changes in business combination-related provisions in the consolidated statements of income and other

comprehensive income. In addition, there was a $10.0 million reversal of the established provision to acquire the remaining non-controlling interest in Xavient

as a result of revaluation of the liability due to a change in the underlying estimates for the provision, which was recorded in Changes in business combination-

related provisions in the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income.

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we settled the option to acquire the remaining non-controlling interest in Xavient, of which $5.0 million is

held in escrow, which has been reclassified to accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position. This resulted in a

$73.3 million reversal of the established provision, which is recorded in Changes in business combination-related provisions in the consolidated statements of

income and other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2020.

 

Other

 

Upon acquisition of Xavient, we had established a provision for contingent consideration, of which $5.2 million was paid out during the year ended

December 31, 2019, triggering a $1.3 million reversal of the established provision, which is recorded in Changes in business combination-related provisions in

the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2019, we received $10.0 million cash

from an escrow account created in connection with the acquisition of Xavient, to be held in trust and disbursed to fund expenses incurred in connection with a

claim made inter alia against Xavient Digital LLC Note 18(b). As there was material uncertainty surrounding the conclusion of this claim, a provision was

established for the $10.0 million received in trust. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the claim was settled (see Note 18) and as such, the related

provision was reversed in the consolidated statement of financial position. There was no impact to the consolidated statements of income and other

comprehensive income as a result of the settlement.

 

Further, during the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded $25.8 million of restructuring and integration-related costs in connection with our

acquisition of CCC and $17.7 million related to our acquisition of Lionbridge AI for legal, transaction support and other fees. Furthermore, we incurred $8.6

million of expenses in support of our response to the COVID-19, which included the accommodation costs for our team members that continued to remain on

site for the earlier part of the pandemic, and to transition to remote enablement model.

 

 F-44  



 

 

16. Long-term debt

 

(a) Details of long-term debt

 

As at December 31 (millions)  Note  2020   2019  

Credit facility  (b)  $ 1,568.0  $ 335.5 

Deferred debt transaction costs     (10.9)   (3.7)

    $ 1,557.1   331.8 

Lease liabilities  (c)   208.6   188.7 

Long-term debt    $ 1,765.7  $ 520.5 

Current    $ 92.3  $ 42.8 

Non-current     1,673.4   477.7 

Long-term debt    $ 1,765.7  $ 520.5 

 

(b) Credit facility

 

  2020   2019  

As at December 31

(millions)  

Revolving

component   

Term loan

component(1)   Total   

Revolving

component   

Term loan

component(1)   Total  

Available  $ 132.0   N/A  $ 132.0  $ 121.0   N/A  $ 121.0 

Outstanding                         

Due to TELUS Corporation  $ 65.1   75.0   140.1   —   —   — 

Due to Other   652.9   775.0   1,427.9   229.0   106.5   335.5 

  $ 850.0  $ 850.0  $ 1,700.0  $ 350.0  $ 106.5  $ 456.5 

 
 

(1) We have entered into a receive-floating interest rate, pay-fixed interest rate exchange agreement that effectively converts our interest obligations on the

debt to a fixed rate of 2.64% plus applicable margins (see Note 4(g) – Derivative).

 

As at December 31, 2020, we had a $1,700.0 million bank credit facility (December 31, 2019 – $456.5 million), secured by our assets, with a

syndicate of financial institutions, expiring on January 28, 2025. The credit facility is secured by our assets, with a syndicate of financial institutions and joined

in 2020 by TELUS Corporation (as 8.9% lender at an aggregate level). The incremental increase in the credit facility is in connection with the acquisition of

Competence Call Center and Lionbridge AI (Note 13(b)) and is non-recourse to TELUS Corporation. As at December 31, 2020, excluding amount due to

TELUS Corporation, $1,427.9 million was outstanding with a weighted average interest rate of 2.9% (December 31, 2019 – 3.25%).

 

The credit facility bears interest at prime rate, U.S. Dollar Base Rate, a bankers’ acceptance rate or London interbank offered rate (LIBOR) (as such

terms are used or defined in the credit facility), plus applicable margins. The credit facility contains customary representations, warranties and covenants,

including net debt to EBITDA ratio of 5.25:1.00 for each quarter in 2020 and 2021, with a step down to 4.50:1.00 for each quarter in 2022, and a further step

down to 3.75:1.00 for each quarter thereafter, and cash flow to debt service ratio of 1.50:1.00. If an acquisition with an aggregate cash consideration in excess

of $60 million occurs in any twelve-month period, the maximum permitted net debt to EBITDA ratio may be increased to 4.50:1.00 and shall return to

3.75:1.00 after eight fiscal quarters.

 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, we were in compliance with all financial covenants, financial ratios and all of the terms and conditions of our

long-term debt agreements.
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The term loan is subject to an amortization schedule requiring that 1.25% of the principal advanced be repaid each quarter throughout the term of the

agreement, with the balance due at maturity. As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had liquidity of $132.0 million available under the

revolving component of our credit facility (December 31, 2019 - $121.0 million), and nil (December 31, 2019 - $2.2 million) available under local credit

facilities in our subsidiaries.

 

In connection with our IPO on February 3, 2021, we received net proceeds of approximately $490.0 million. On February 5, 2021, we used the net

proceeds from the offering to repay a portion of the outstanding balance under the revolving component of our credit facility.

 

(c) Lease liabilities

 

See Note 2(a) for details of significant changes to IFRS-IASB which have been applied effective January 1, 2020.

 

Leases are subject to amortization schedules, which results in the principal being repaid over various periods, including reasonably expected renewals.

The weighted average interest rate on lease liabilities was approximately 6.63% as at December 31, 2020.

 

(d) Long-term debt maturities

 

Anticipated requirements to meet long-term debt repayments, calculated upon such long-term debts owing as at December 31, 2020, are as follows:

 

Composite long-term debt denominated in U.S dollars   European euros   Other currencies    

Years ending December 31 (millions)  

Long-term 

debt,

excluding 

leases   Leases   Total   Leases   Leases   Total  

2021  $ 42.5  $ 14.9  $ 57.4  $ 13.4  $ 22.1  $ 92.9 

2022   267.5   14.4   281.9   11.7   16.1   309.7 

2023   30.0   13.1   43.1   7.9   15.7   66.7 

2024   30.0   5.4   35.4   5.5   12.5   53.4 

2025   1,198.0   4.2   1,202.2   2.9   7.0   1,212.1 

Thereafter   —   6.2   6.2   20.1   15.5   41.8 

Future cash outflows in respect of 

composite long-term debt 

principal repayments   1,568.0   58.2   1,626.2   61.5   88.9   1,776.6 

Future cash outflows in respect of

associated interest and like 

carrying costs 1   173.9   12.4   186.3   13.0   19.8   219.1 

Undiscounted contractual maturities

(Note 4(c))  $ 1,741.9  $ 70.6  $ 1,812.5  $ 74.5  $ 108.7  $ 1,995.7 

 

 
 

(1) Future cash outflows in respect of associated interest and like carrying costs for amounts drawn under our credit facilities (if any) have been calculated

based upon the rates in effect at December 31, 2020.
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17. Share capital

 

In connection with our IPO subsequent to December 31, 2020, our outstanding Class A, Class C and Class D common shares held by TELUS were

exchanged for Class B common shares and we redesignated our Class B common shares, which are only held by TELUS and Baring, as multiple voting shares.

Each other holder of Class C common shares and Class D common shares exchanged their shares for Class E common shares and we redesignated our Class E

common shares as subordinate voting shares. The rights of the holders of our multiple voting shares and subordinate voting shares are substantially identical,

except with respect to voting and conversion. The subordinate voting shares will have one vote per share and the multiple voting shares will have 10 votes per

share.

 

Subsequent to such redesignations, we also effected a 4.5-for-1 split of each of our outstanding multiple voting shares and subordinate voting shares.

A portion of the multiple voting shares held by TELUS and Baring was converted to subordinate voting shares and sold in a concurrent secondary offering with

our IPO. In addition, we eliminated all of our previously outstanding series of Class A, Class C and Class D common shares and our authorized Class A and

Class B preferred shares.

 

We refer to these share split and share class redesignations and consolidation transactions as the ‘‘Share Class Reclassification Transactions”.

 

In all instances, unless otherwise indicated, the number of shares authorized, the number of shares outstanding, the number of Shares reserved, per

share amounts and share-based compensation information in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been restated to reflect the

impact of the share exchanges and redesignations.

 

(a) Authorized share capital

 

Our authorized and issued share capital is as follows:

 

  Authorized  Issued  

As at December 31  2020  2019  2018  2020   2019   2018  

Preferred Shares                   

Convertible Redeemable Preferred A

Shares  unlimited  unlimited  unlimited   —   —   — 

Convertible Redeemable Preferred B

Shares  unlimited  unlimited  unlimited   —   —   — 

Common Shares                   

Class A  unlimited  unlimited  unlimited   148,421,976   120,762,495   120,762,495 

Class B  unlimited  unlimited  unlimited   82,144,186   65,251,305   65,251,305 

Class C  unlimited  unlimited  unlimited   4,178,969   418,500   418,500 

Class D  unlimited  unlimited  unlimited   3,249,094   3,249,094   3,249,094 

Class E  unlimited  unlimited  unlimited   6,520,517   —   — 

 

Prior to the Share Class Reclassification Transactions, the Convertible Redeemable Preferred A Shares are redeemable at Cdn$10,000 per share and

are convertible by us into Class A common shares having the same fair value at the time of conversion. The Convertible Redeemable Preferred B Shares are

redeemable at Cdn$1,000 per share and are convertible by us into Class A common shares having the same fair value at the time of conversion.
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Prior to the share Class Reclassification Transactions, Class A common shares are entitled to 1.0001 vote per Class A common share; Class B common

shares are entitled to one vote per Class B common share; Class C common shares are entitled to 1.0002 vote per Class C common share; and Class D and

Class E common shares are non-voting. The Class A common shares are convertible, at any time, at the option of the holder and without payment of additional

consideration, into Class C common shares on a one-for-one basis. Each class of common shares have an unlimited dividend entitlement without a

corresponding dividend on another class of common shares.

 

With respect to priority in the distribution of assets in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any

other distribution of our assets among our shareholders for the purpose of winding up our affairs, preferences are as follows:

 

Convertible Redeemable Preferred A Shares in priority to all classes of common shares and on par with the Convertible Redeemable Preferred B Shares;

 

Convertible Redeemable Preferred B Shares in priority to all classes of common shares and on par with the Convertible Redeemable Preferred A Shares;

 

Class A common shares, B common shares, C common shares, D common shares and E common shares rank pari-passu.

 

As at December 31, 2020, there were 3,754,066 (December 31, 2019 – 1,678) Class C shares, owned by TELUS Corporation, reserved for issuance for

the share option plan (Note 9(b)).

 

As at December 31, 2019, TELUS International is holding 487,363 Class D Shares issued to Xavient Information Systems Holdings LLC in escrow

(Notes 15 and 18). These were returned to the sellers in connection with the settlement of the litigation in 2020.

 

On February 6, 2018, as part of the close of the Xavient acquisition, 2,436,822 Class D common shares were issued with a fair value of $15.0 million

(see Note 13(c)).

 

Also on February 6, 2018, 4,180,995 Class A common shares, worth $25.7 million, were issued to TELUS Corporation, offsetting an existing

intercompany advance, and 2,251,305 Class B common shares were issued to Baring Private Equity Asia for cash proceeds of $13.9 million. The proceeds

from this issuance were used to finance the purchase of Xavient.

 

On February 12, 2018, 812,272 Class D common shares were issued to a company controlled by a member of our Senior Leadership Team for cash

proceeds totaling $5.0 million. These shares were subsequently repurchased by TELUS on November 29, 2019.

 

On January 29, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of Competence Call Center (Note 13(c)), we issued 14,672,610 Class A common shares and

225,000 Class C common shares to our controlling shareholder for $126.1 million and 8,021,790 Class B common shares to non-controlling shareholder,

Baring Private Equity Asia, for $67.9 million. The proceeds from these share issuances were used to finance the acquisition of Competence Call Center on

January 31, 2020 (Note 13(c)). In addition, we issued 6,520,518 Class E common shares to a third party for proceeds of $90.0 million. The per share value paid

in connection with the issuances of Class A, B, and C common shares to our controlling shareholder and Baring Private Equity Asia in connection with the

Competence Call Center business acquisition of $8.46 per share was less than the per share value of $13.8 per share paid by the new shareholders of Class E

common shares.
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The issuance of Class A, B and C common shares to our controlling shareholder and Baring Private Equity Asia at a per share price that was lower

than was paid by the new shareholders of Class E common shares resulted in dilution to the Company’s other shareholders whom collectively own

approximately 4% of the Company’s outstanding common shares. The price per share for the Class A, B and C common shares issued to our controlling

shareholder and Baring Private Equity Asia was based on an estimate of fair market value as of September 30, 2019 and was lower than what was paid by the

new shareholders of Class E common shares. The price per Class E common share paid by the new shareholders was based on arm’s length contractual

negotiations. The price per share for the Class A, B and C common shares did not compensate our controlling shareholder or Baring Private Equity Asia for

identifying Competence Call Center as an acquisition target, providing a source of financing for the Competence Call Center acquisition or for any consulting

or other service. The issuances of Class A, B, and C common shares to our controlling shareholder and Baring Private Equity Asia and the Class E common

shares to the new shareholders have been recognized in our consolidated financial statements at their exchange value representing the amounts received in cash

for such classes of common shares in connection with the CCC acquisition.

 

Class E common shares are non-voting shares and are subordinated to the Convertible Redeemable Preferred A and B Shares in respect of dividends.

Class E common shares rank pari passu with the Class A, B, C and D common shares in respect of dividends and they are also entitled to rank on par with the

Class A, B, C and D common shares on a liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

 

On April 1, 2020, we issued 3,535,470 Class C common shares for proceeds of $48.8 million to our controlling shareholder as consideration for a

Common control transaction (Note 13(c)). We also issued 5,434,780 Class A common shares to our controlling shareholder for proceeds of $75.0 million to

finance the buy-out of the non-controlling interest in Xavient Digital in April 2020. Concurrently, we provided Baring Private Equity Asia with an option to

purchase up to 4,816,138 Class B common shares at an exercise price of $13.80 per share. Baring has elected to exercise the option for aggregate consideration

for $66.5 million. The option was settled on October 19, 2020.

 

On December 29, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of Lionbridge AI (Note 13(c)), we issued 7,552,089 Class A common shares to TELUS for

$149.6 million in cash and 4,054,954 Class B common shares to Baring Private Equity Asia for $80.4 million in cash to finance the acquisition. The per share

value paid in exchange for the issuances of Class A and B common shares to our controlling shareholder and Baring Private Equity Asia, respectively, in

connection with the Lionbridge AI acquisition was $19.82 per share based on an estimate of fair market value as of September 30, 2020. The subsequent

estimated fair market value of our common shares as of December 31, 2020 was $22.36. The price per share for the Class A and B common shares did not

compensate our controlling shareholder or Baring for identifying Lionbridge AI as an acquisition target, providing a source of financing for the acquisition or

for any consulting or other service.
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On February 3, 2021, in connection with our IPO, we issued 20,997,375 subordinate voting shares to new investors at $25.00 per share. After

deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses, we received net proceeds of approximately $490.0 million. On

February 5, 2021, we used the net proceeds to repay outstanding borrowings under our credit agreement (see Note 16(b)). Our controlling shareholder TELUS

Corporation and non-controlling shareholder Baring Private Equity Asia participated in a secondary offering under which they converted a portion of their

holdings of multiple voting shares into subordinate voting shares that were sold to new investors (see also Note 19(a) and 19(b)).

 

(b)           Per share amounts

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the total weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated to give effect to share option awards and restricted share units.

 

The following table presents reconciliations of the denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations. Net income was equal to diluted net

income for all periods presented.

 

Years Ended December 31  2020   2019   2018  

Basic total weighted average number of common shares outstanding   224,156,034   189,681,394   188,693,316 

Effect of dilutive securities - share option awards   1,366,938   629,104   401,897 

Diluted total weighted average number of common shares outstanding   225,522,972   190,310,498   189,095,213 

 

18. Contingent liabilities

 

(a) Indemnification obligations

 

In the normal course of operations, we provide indemnification in conjunction with certain transactions. The terms of these indemnification

obligations range in duration. These indemnifications would require us to compensate the indemnified parties for costs incurred as a result of failure to comply

with contractual obligations or litigation claims or statutory sanctions or damages that may be suffered by an indemnified party. In some cases, there is no

maximum limit on these indemnification obligations. The overall maximum amount of an indemnification obligation will depend on future events and

conditions and therefore cannot be reasonably estimated. Where appropriate, an indemnification obligation is recorded as a liability. Other than obligations

recorded as liabilities at the time of such transactions, historically we have not made significant payments under these indemnifications.

 

As at December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, we had no liability recorded in respect of indemnification obligations.

 

(b) Claims and lawsuits

 

We are party to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. The ultimate outcome of these matters is inherently

uncertain. Therefore, if one or more of these matters were resolved against us for amounts in excess of management's estimates of loss, or if any outcome

becomes more likely than not and estimable, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

 

 F-50  



 

 

On December 12, 2018, a claim was filed against Xavient Digital LLC and the prior owners of Xavient by a former customer of Xavient. Defendants

counter claimed against plaintiffs. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the parties reached a mutual agreement to resolve all claims in exchange for a

payment to plaintiff in the amount of $3.0 million. The settlement payment and all costs and attorneys' fees related to the litigation were protected by indemnity

and funds released from escrow (see Note 15). In addition, all outstanding invoices for fees and costs related to the litigation were accounted for and paid out of

the escrow account.

 

19. Related party transactions

 

(a) Transactions with TELUS Corporation

 

General

 

TELUS Corporation produces consolidated financial statements available for public use and is the ultimate parent and controlling party of TELUS

International (Cda) Inc.

 

Recurring transactions

 

TELUS Corporation and its subsidiaries receive customer care, integrated business process outsourcing and information technology outsourcing

services from us, and provide services (including people, network, finance, communications, and regulatory) to us.

 

Certain of our employees also participate in TELUS Corporation share-based compensation plans. TELUS Corporation charges these amounts to us at

cost, net of hedging effects where applicable.

 

We also participate in defined benefit pension plans that share risks between TELUS Corporation and its subsidiaries.

 

  2020   2019   2018  

As at, or Year Ended December 31 

(millions)  

TELUS

Corporation

(parent)   

Subsidiaries

of TELUS

Corporation  Total   

TELUS

Corporation

(parent)   

Subsidiaries

of TELUS

Corporation  Total   

TELUS

Corporation

(parent)   

Subsidiaries

of TELUS

Corporation  Total  

Transactions with TELUS 

Corporation and subsidiaries                                     

Revenues from services provided to  $ —  $ 310.2  $ 310.2  $ —  $ 267.7  $ 267.7  $ —  $ 203.2  $ 203.2 

Goods and services purchased (from)   —   (29.2)  (29.2)  —   (4.9)  (4.9)   —   (5.4)  (5.4)

   —   281.0   281.0   —   262.8   262.8   —   197.8   197.8 

Receipts from related parties   (0.2)  (283.8)  (284.0)  (0.2)  (251.3)  (251.5)   —   (199.3)  (199.3)

Payments to related parties   38.0   —   38.0   27.3   —   27.3   19.4   —   19.4 

Payments made by related parties on 

our behalf   (13.8)  (5.1)  (18.9)  (26.1)  (9.5)  (35.6)   (15.0)   (12.1)  (27.1)

Issuance of Common A Shares   —   —   —   —   —   —   25.7   —   25.7 

Foreign currency adjustments   —   (2.2)  (2.2)  0.1   —   0.1   0.7   (0.3)  0.4 

Change in balance   24.0   (10.1)  13.9   1.1   2.0   3.1   30.8   (13.9)  16.9 

Accounts with TELUS Corporation

and subsidiaries                                     

Balance, beginning of year   3.0   1.2   4.2   1.9   (0.8)  1.1   (28.9)   13.1   (15.8)

Balance, end of year  $ 27.0  $ (8.9) $ 18.1  $ 3.0  $ 1.2  $ 4.2  $ 1.9  $ (0.8) $ 1.1 

Accounts with TELUS Corporation 

and subsidiaries                                     

Due from  $ 27.0  $ 22.1  $ 49.1  $ 3.0  $ 27.2  $ 30.2  $ 3.1  $ 18.3  $ 21.4 

Due to   —   (31.0)  (31.0)  —   (26.0)  (26.0)   (1.2)   (19.1)  (20.3)

  $ 27.0  $ (8.9) $ 18.1  $ 3.0  $ 1.2  $ 4.2  $ 1.9  $ (0.8) $ 1.1 
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In the consolidated statement of financial position, amounts due from affiliates and amounts due to affiliates are generally due 30 days from billing

and are cash-settled on a gross basis.

 

Subsequent to year end, in January 2021, we renewed our master service agreement with TELUS Corporation, which provides for a term of ten years

beginning in January 2021 and a minimum annual spend of $200.0 million, subject to adjustment in accordance with its terms.

 

Other transactions

 

On February 6, 2018, 4,180,995 Class A common shares, with a fair value of $25.7 million, were issued to TELUS Corporation, in connection with

the acquisition of Xavient.

 

On January 29, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of Competence Call Center (Note 13(c)), we issued 14,672,610 Class A common shares and

225,000 Class C common shares to our controlling shareholder for $126.1 million (Note 17(a)). The proceeds from these share issuances were used to finance

the acquisition.

 

Effective January 31, 2020, TELUS Corporation participates as a lender in the credit facility syndicate (see Note 16(b)) with a balance of $132.0

million outstanding as at December 31, 2020.

 

On April 1, 2020, we issued 3,535,470 Class C common shares for proceeds of $48.8 million to our controlling shareholder as consideration for the

acquisition of MITS, a common control transaction (See Note 13(d)). We also issued 5,434,780 Class A common shares to our controlling shareholder for

proceeds of $75.0 million to finance the buy-out of the non-controlling interest in Xavient Digital in April 2020.

 

On December 29, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of Lionbridge AI (Note 13(c)), we issued 7,552,089 Class A common shares to TELUS for

$149.6 million (Note 17(a)). The proceeds from these share issuances were used to finance the acquisition.

 

On February 3, 2021, in connection with the Company’s IPO, TELUS Corporation converted 6,484,296 of our multiple voting shares to subordinate voting

shares that were sold to new investors in a secondary offering.

 

(b) Transactions with Baring Private Equity Asia

 

General

 

Baring Private Equity Asia exercises significant influence on TELUS International (Cda) Inc.

 

Recurring transactions

 

As at, and during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no balances due to or due from, or recurring transactions with, Baring

Private Equity Asia.
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Other transactions

 

On February 6, 2018, 2,251,305 Class B common shares were issued to Baring Private Equity Asia for cash proceeds totaling $13.9 million.

 

On January 29, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of Competence Call Center (Note 13(c)), we issued 8,021,790 Class B common shares to

Baring Private Equity Asia, for $67.9 million (Note 17(a)). The proceeds from these share issuances were used to finance the acquisition.

 

On September 29, 2020 Baring has elected to exercise its option to purchase 4,816,138 Class B common shares for aggregate consideration of $66.5

million.

 

On December 29, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of Lionbridge AI (Note 13(c)), we issued 4,054,954 Class B common shares to Baring

Private Equity Asia for $80.4 million (Note 17(a)). The proceeds from these share issuances were used to finance the acquisition.

 

On February 3, 2021, in connection with the Company’s IPO, Baring Private Equity Asia converted 15,068,329 of our multiple voting shares to

subordinate voting shares that were sold to new investors in a secondary offering.

 

(c) Senior Leadership Team

 

Our Senior Leadership Team shares authority and responsibility for overseeing, planning, directing and controlling our activities. Total compensation

expense for the Senior Leadership Team, and the composition thereof, is as follows:

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  2020   2019   2018  

Short-term benefits  $ 3.9  $ 3.2  $ 3.0 

Post-employment pension(1) and other benefits  $ 1.0  $ 0.6  $ 0.5 

Share-based compensation  $ 5.1  $ 6.0  $ 3.8 

 
 

(1) Some of our Senior Leadership Team members are members of our Pension Plan for Management and Professional Employees of TELUS

Corporation and certain other non-registered, non-contributory supplementary defined benefit pension plans.

 

As disclosed in Note 9, we made initial awards of share-based compensation in 2020, 2019 and 2018, including, as set out below, to our Senior

Leadership Team. As most of these awards are graded-vesting and have multi-year requisite service periods, the related expense will be recognized ratably over

a period of years and thus only a portion of the initial awards is included in the amounts in the table above.

 

• In 2020, there were no awards of TELUS phantom restricted share units and TELUS International Phantom restricted share units. There were also

no awards of equity and cash-settled options granted during the year.

 

• In 2019, we awarded 83,818 TELUS phantom restricted share units and 277,020 TELUS International Phantom restricted share units with a grant-

date-fair-value of $21.38 and $8.46, respectively. In 2019, we also granted 460,917 equity and cash-settled options with an exercise price of

$8.46.
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• In 2018, we awarded 65,828 TELUS Phantom restricted share units and 317,938 TELUS International Phantom restricted share units with a

grant-date-fair-value of $22.63 and $6.18, respectively. In 2018, we also granted 460,930 equity and cash-settled options with an exercise price of

$6.18

 

Employment agreements with members of the Senior Leadership Team typically provide for severance payments if an executive’s employment is

terminated without cause: generally, 18 months of base salary and performance bonus, benefits and accrual of pension service in lieu of notice. In the event of a

change in control, Executive Leadership Team members are not entitled to treatment any different than that given to our other employees with respect to non-

vested share-based compensation.

 

20. Additional financial information

 

(a) Statements of income and other comprehensive income

 

We have two customers which account for more than 10% of our operating revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. In the

years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, TELUS Corporation and its affiliates accounted for 20%, 26%, and 24%, respectively, of our operating

revenue. One arm’s-length party accounted for approximately 16%, 12%, and 14% of our operating revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and

2018, respectively.

 

(b) Statements of financial position

 

As at December 31 (millions)  Note   2020   2019  

Accounts receivable             

Customer accounts receivable   4(b)  $ 162.8  $ 109.8 

Accrued receivables—customer       125.2   57.0 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   4(b)   (5.2)   (1.8)

       282.8   165.0 

Accrued receivables—current       20.5   11.6 

      $ 303.3  $ 176.6 

Other long-term assets             

Accrued receivables—non-current      $ 31.7  $ 25.8 

Deferred expenses       2.0   1.0 

      $ 33.7  $ 26.8 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities             

Accrued liabilities      $ 63.9  $ 34.7 

Payroll and other employee-related liabilities       102.5   58.3 

Restricted share units liability       12.5   9.5 

       178.9   102.5 

Trade accounts payable       18.8   20.3 

Other       57.0   29.4 

      $ 254.7  $ 152.2 
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(c) Statements of cash flows—operating activities and investing activities

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  Note   2020   2019   2018  

Net change in non-cash operating working capital                 

Accounts receivable      $ (29.4)  $ (38.0)  $ (33.1)

Due to and from affiliated companies, net       (13.9)   (3.1)   8.8 

Prepaid expenses       8.4   (4.0)   1.1 

Other long-term assets       (3.0)   (11.1)   (0.6)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities       28.8   25.0   3.7 

Income and other taxes receivable and payable, net       4.2   0.4   (3.4)

Advance billings and customer deposits       2.9   (9.5)   9.6 

Provisions       7.8   11.9   — 

Other long-term liabilities       (4.7)   0.2   — 

      $ 1.1  $ (28.2)  $ (13.9)

Cash payments for capital assets                 

Capital asset additions                 

Capital expenditures                 

Property, plant and equipment   12  $ (89.7)  $ (126.2)  $ (42.3)

Intangible assets   13   (11.4)   (4.8)   (8.2)

       (101.1)   (131.0)   (50.5)

Additions arising from leases   12   27.5   68.2   — 

Change in associated non-cash investing working capital       14.4   10.1   3.0 

      $ (59.2)  $ (52.7)  $ (47.5)

 

(d) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

 

     

Statements of cash

flows   

Non-cash

changes     

(millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2020  

Beginning

of year   

Issued

or

received   

Redemptions,

repayments

or payments   

Foreign

exchange

movement   Other   

End of

year  

Long-term debt                         

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. credit facility  $ 335.5  $ 1,854.0  $ (621.5)  $ —  $ —  $ 1,568.0 

Other   —   —   (138.9)   —   138.9   — 

Lease liabilities   188.7   —   (58.6)   12.0   66.5   208.6 

Deferred debt transaction costs   (3.7)   —   —   —   (7.2)   (10.9)

  $ 520.5  $ 1,854.0  $ (819.0)  $ 12.0  $ 198.2  $ 1,765.7 

                         

Short-term borrowings  $ —  $ 22.0  $ (22.0)  $ —  $ —  $ — 

 

           

Statements of cash

flows   

Non-cash

changes     

(millions)

Year Ended

December 31, 2019  

As

previously

reported   

IFRS 16,

Leases

transitional

amount

(Note 2(a))   

As

adjusted   

Issued or

received   

Redemptions,

repayments

or payments   Other   

End of

year  

Long-term debt                             

TELUS International

(Cda) Inc. credit

facility  $ 312.5  $ —  $ 312.5  $ 72.0  $ (49.0)  $ —  $ 335.5 

Lease liabilities   0.4   154.3   154.7   —   (47.0)   81.0   188.7 

Deferred debt

transaction costs   (4.9)   —   (4.9)   —   —   1.2   (3.7)

  $ 308.0  $ 154.3  $ 462.3  $ 72.0  $ (96.0)  $ 82.2  $ 520.5 

Short-term borrowings  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 0.6  $ (0.6)  $ —  $ — 
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Statements of cash

flows   

Non-cash

changes     

(millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2018  

Beginning

of year   

Issued or

received   

Redemptions,

repayments

or payments   Other   

End of

year  

Long-term debt                     

TELUS International (Cda) Inc. credit facility  $ 275.6  $ 75.0  $ (38.1)  $ —  $ 312.5 

Deferred debt transaction costs   (6.1)   —   (0.5)   1.7   (4.9)

Voxpro Limited long-term debt   0.8   —   —   (0.4)   0.4 

   270.3   75.0   (38.6)   1.3   308.0 

Short-term borrowings                     

Xavient promissory note  $ —  $ 10.0  $ (10.0)  $ —  $ — 

Additions from acquisition   —   —   (4.6)   4.6   — 

  $ —  $ 10.0  $ (14.6)  $ 4.6  $ — 

Intercompany advances                     

Received from TELUS Corporation  $ 26.2  $ —  $ —  $ (26.2)  $ — 

 

21. Segment reporting

 

Operating segments are components of an entity that engage in business activities from which they earn revenues and incur expenses (including

revenues and expenses related to transactions with the other component(s)), the operations of which can be clearly distinguished and for which the operating

results are regularly reviewed by a chief operating decision-maker to make resource allocation decisions and to assess performance. The Company’s chief

operating decision maker reviews financial information prepared on a consolidated basis for the purposes of making resource allocation decisions and assessing

the performance of the overall organization. Based on an evaluation of all facts and circumstances, the Company has determined that it functions as a single

operating and reporting segment.

 

(a) Geographical information

 

Years Ended December 31 (millions)  2020   2019   2018  

Revenue by geographic area, based on delivery location             

Philippines  $ 286.8  $ 283.5  $ 240.2 

Germany   242.0   —   — 

United States   207.7   242.5   165.5 

Guatemala   151.7   118.4   71.7 

Canada   138.7   16.0   14.9 

El Salvador   111.0   91.4   101.1 

Bulgaria   104.0   89.5   75.5 

Ireland   92.3   94.1   107.5 

Spain   81.5   —   — 

India   46.4   42.4   28.1 

Romania   43.5   38.7   29.5 

Other   76.0   3.1   0.6 

  $ 1,581.6  $ 1,019.6  $ 834.6 
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As at December 31 (millions)  2020   2019  

Net long-lived assets by geographic area         

Canada  $ 2,796.4  $ 509.6 

Philippines   86.5   96.4 

El Salvador   79.5   23.0 

Ireland   44.0   51.9 

Bulgaria   35.8   37.1 

United States   24.1   13.4 

Guatemala   21.9   46.9 

Germany   21.6   — 

India   19.1   17.8 

Other   27.5   13.0 

  $ 3,156.4  $ 809.1 

 

22. Subsequent events

 

On February 3, 2021, we completed an IPO and began public trading under the symbol TIXT on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the New York Stock

Exchange. See subsequent events related to the IPO in Note 4(c) – Financial instruments (liquidity risk), Note 16 – Long-term Debt, Note 17 – Share Capital

and Note 19 – Related Party Transactions.
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